# World Journal of *Cardiology*

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 469-552





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

# World Journal of Cardiology

#### Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 10 October 26, 2023

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

- 469 Candida endocarditis: Update on management considerations Jamil Y, Akinleye A, Mirzaei M, Lempel M, Farhat K, Pan S
- 479 Related mechanisms and research progress in straight back syndrome Kong MW, Pei ZY, Zhang X, Du QJ, Tang Q, Li J, He GX
- 487 Value of cardiac magnetic resonance on the risk stratification of cardiomyopathies Vidal-Perez R, Brandão M, Zaher W, Casado-Arroyo R, Bouzas-Mosquera A, Fontes-Carvalho R, Vazquez-Rodriguez JM

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Study**

Integrated analysis of comorbidity, pregnant outcomes, and amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses with 500 persistent left superior vena cava

Yang X, Su XH, Zeng Z, Fan Y, Wu Y, Guo LL, Xu XY

Establishment of a prediction model for prehospital return of spontaneous circulation in out-of-hospital 508 patients with cardiac arrest

Wang JJ, Zhou Q, Huang ZH, Han Y, Qin CZ, Chen ZQ, Xiao XY, Deng Z

#### SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

518 Cardiovascular complications following medical termination of pregnancy: An updated review Singh T, Mishra AK, Vojjala N, John KJ, George AA, Jha A, Hadley M

#### **META-ANALYSIS**

Do cardiopulmonary resuscitation real-time audiovisual feedback devices improve patient outcomes? A 531 systematic review and meta-analysis

Sood N, Sangari A, Goyal A, Sun C, Horinek M, Hauger JA, Perry L

#### **CASE REPORT**

542 Systemic right ventricle complications in levo-transposition of the great arteries: A case report and review of literature

Almajed MR, Almajed A, Khan N, Obri MS, Ananthasubramaniam K



#### Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 10 October 26, 2023

#### **ABOUT COVER**

Editorial board member of World Journal of Cardiology, Hai-Long Dai, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Professor, Department of Cardiology, Yan'an Affiliated Hospital of Kunming Medical University, Kunming 650051, Yunnan Province, China. dhlkm@qq.com

#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Cardiology (WJC, World J Cardiol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of cardiology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of cardiology and covering a wide range of topics including acute coronary syndromes, aneurysm, angina, arrhythmias, atherosclerosis, atrial fibrillation, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart disease, coronary artery disease, heart failure, hypertension, imaging, infection, myocardial infarction, pathology, peripheral vessels, public health, Raynaud's syndrome, stroke, thrombosis, and valvular disease.

#### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJC is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJC as 1.9; IF without journal self cites: 1.8; 5-year IF: 2.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.33. The WJC's CiteScore for 2022 is 1.9 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2022: Cardiology and cardiovascular medicine is 226/354.

#### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuar, Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Yun-Xianjian Wu.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Cardiology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1949-8462 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
<b>EDITORS-IN-CHIEF</b>	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Ramdas G Pai, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Marco Matteo Ciccone, Pal Pacher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
October 26, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJC

## World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 469-478

DOI: 10.4330/wic.v15.i10.469

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

### Candida endocarditis: Update on management considerations

Yasser Jamil, Akintayo Akinleye, Mojtaba Mirzaei, Matthew Lempel, Kassem Farhat, Samuel Pan

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Teragawa H, Japan

Received: April 17, 2023 Peer-review started: April 17, 2023 First decision: July 18, 2023 Revised: August 23, 2023 Accepted: September 6, 2023 Article in press: September 6, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Yasser Jamil, Akintayo Akinleye, Mojtaba Mirzaei, Kassem Farhat, Department of Internal Medicine, Yale School of Medicine, Waterbury, CT 06708, United States

Matthew Lempel, Department of Rheumatology, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT 06510, United States

Samuel Pan, Department of Infectious Disease, Yale School of Medicine, Waterbury, CT 06708, United States

Corresponding author: Yasser Jamil, MD, Staff Physician, Department of Internal Medicine, Yale School of Medicine, No. 64 Robbins Street, Waterbury, CT 06708, United States. yasser.jamil@yale.edu

#### Abstract

The rise in incidence rates of invasive candidiasis warrants an increase in attention and efforts toward preventing and treating this virulent infection. Cardiac involvement is one of the most feared sequelae and has a poor prognosis. Despite the introduction of several novel antifungal agents over the past quarter century, complications and mortality rates due to Candida endocarditis have remained high. Although fungal endocarditis has a mechanism similar to bacterial endocarditis, no specific diagnostic criteria or algorithm exists to help guide its management. Furthermore, recent data has questioned the current guidelines recommending a combined approach of antifungal agents with surgical valve or indwelling prostheses removal. With the emergence of multidrug-resistant Candida auris, a focus on improved prophylactic measures and management strategies is necessary.

Key Words: Candida; Candida endocarditis; Fungal endocarditis; Invasive fungal infection

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** The incidence of Candida infective endocarditis has observed a noticeable rise. Despite the progress in medical understanding, Candida endocarditis (CE) continues to be linked with a notable increase in in-hospital mortality. This comprehensive review aims to elucidate the existing diagnostic modalities for identifying CE while emphasizing their inherent limitations. Furthermore, we clarify the prevailing standard treatment protocols, encompassing medical and surgical interventions. Additionally, we highlight the role of screening techniques in identifying high-risk patients and explore the discussion of prophylactic measures tailored to specific patient phenotypes.

**Citation:** Jamil Y, Akinleye A, Mirzaei M, Lempel M, Farhat K, Pan S. Candida endocarditis: Update on management considerations. *World J Cardiol* 2023; 15(10): 469-478

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/469.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.469

#### INTRODUCTION

Although our understanding of endocarditis has evolved since its first description by William Osler in the late 19<sup>th</sup> century, it remains a disease of high morbidity and mortality[1,2]. Candida endocarditis (CE) which accounts for only 1%-2% of all endocarditis cases, is associated with a mortality rate as high as 80%[3-6]. Given that CE is particularly rare, formal studies comparing various management approaches and subsequent outcomes are limited. Current guidelines recommend a treatment regimen of antifungal agents combined with surgical interventions, whether valves or indwelling prostheses removal[7,8]. However, individuals suffering from CE often have multiple comorbidities and are at high risk for reinfection, making conducting invasive interventions challenging.

Furthermore, the uptrend in fungemia incidence rates in recent years has led to an increased number of patients at risk for CE[9]. Nonetheless, CE studies have relatively small sample sizes, which make them insufficiently powered to get robust research evidence into use. Therefore, this review explores the current diagnostic techniques and treatment considerations when evaluating and managing patients with CE.

#### BACKGROUND AND EPIDEMIOLOGY

Per definition, community-onset candidemia occurs within 48 h of hospitalization, with most cases identified on the day of admission, whereas nosocomial candidiasis occurs after 48 h of hospitalization[10]. The incidence of invasive candidiasis in the community and nosocomial infections has increased. There has been a noticeable increase in the incidence of community-acquired cases since the 1970s due to the intravenous drug (IVD) use epidemic, the use of impure brown heroin, and poor harm reduction practices, which have been associated with *Candida albicans* (CA)[11]. With the implementation of harm reduction strategies in the 1990s, the causative organisms have shifted to non-albicans Candida (NAC) species. The increased likelihood of the latter among IVD users has led again to the recognition of IVD use as an important risk factor for candidemia[12].

Different factors were found to increase the incidence of nosocomial candidemia, including increased antibiotics use, prolonged fluconazole prophylaxis in immunocompromised patients, use of total parenteral nutrition, and use of long-term catheters and medical devices [13-16]. Additional risk factors include malignancies of the gastrointestinal tract, genitourinary tracts, and the breast associated with CA infection and hematologic malignancy associated with NAC infection. Lastly, immunosuppressive therapies, including chronic steroid therapy, have been found to increase the incidence of CE and mortality risk [17].

Different Candida species can lead to advanced clinical infections, yet the most common agent leading to CE remains CA despite distinct patient characteristics and underlying risk factors[18]. Moreover, *Candida parapsilosis* was linked to infected medical devices such as prosthetic valves and transmitted through direct contact[19-21]. *Candida dubliniensis* and *Candida glabrata* are predominantly found among human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome patients with oral thrush and patients who are immunosuppressed on broad-spectrum antibiotics, respectively [18,22]. Although CA is primarily sensitive to antifungals, there is an emergence of intrinsic resistance of various Candida species to antifungals. Thus, it is essential to conduct antifungal susceptibility to ensure appropriate coverage[23]. *Candida auris* has recently emerged as a pathogen of significant concern worldwide, especially among chronically hospitalized patients. It is intrinsically resistant to multiple currently available antifungal therapies with a high mortality rate, often due to delayed diagnosis and initiation of antifungal therapy[24].

Despite the availability of effective antifungal therapy in most cases, mortality rates related to candidemia remain elevated, ranging from 30%-80%[25]. The latter is likely attributed to patients predisposing factors such as immunocompromised status and malignancies, recent surgery, and prior infective endocarditis (IE). Early diagnosis and administration of appropriate antifungal therapies *via* a multidisciplinary approach may have improved mortality rates over the years[4,23,27-28].

Zaisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### DIAGNOSTIC EVALUATION

Healthcare providers should be vigilant of an underlying CE when managing high-risk febrile patients with predisposing factors such as IVD users, prolonged antibiotic therapy, indwelling central venous catheter, prosthetic heart valve, history of endocarditis, parenteral nutrition, neutropenia, and diabetes mellitus<sup>[29]</sup>. Although the clinical presentation of CE can sometimes be indistinguishable from those of bacterial endocarditis, the loss of visual acuity, presence of cutaneous nodules, and cerebral embolization should raise concerns for a Candida infection[30,31]. Nevertheless, it remains a challenge to establish the diagnosis and differentiate CE from bacterial endocarditis.

In 1994, Durack *et al*[32] proposed the Duke Criteria, which are used to classify each case as definite, possible, or probable, and has been validated in several subsequent studies. Additionally, further trials emphasized Duke Criteria's high diagnostic sensitivity and specificity [33-35]. Furthermore, in 2000, Li et al [36] introduced the modified Duke Criteria, which have become the standard of care. Nevertheless, these criteria were developed to evaluate patients with suspected left-sided native valve IE, as its sensitivity is low in patients with cardiac device infection, prosthetic valves, and rightsided IE[37]. Duke Criteria were primarily implemented in the workup of bacterial endocarditis; however, to date, there are no specific diagnostic criteria for fungal endocarditis.

#### Fungal culture

Isolation of the causative organism is critical in establishing the microbiologic diagnosis and selecting appropriate therapeutic agents. However, Candida traditionally does not grow well in standard bacterial blood culture media, if at all, requiring a longer time for the organism to grow. The sensitivity of detection of Candida in blood cultures is limited to 50%-75% [38,39]. In one case series from France, 14% of 620 IE cases had negative blood cultures, while another study showed that 31% had negative cultures[40]. Hence, this will delay the diagnosis and treatment, which could lead to drastic outcomes. Therefore, modifications to the original Duke Criteria have been suggested to include additional risk factors, such as CRP/ESR elevation, hematuria, central non-feeding venous lines, and peripheral lines, as part of the criteria. These, in turn, led to increased diagnostic sensitivity<sup>[42]</sup>. However, when the modified Duke Criteria was tested in blood culture-negative IE, it performed poorly, possibly due to the lack of serological criteria[43].

#### Immunoassay studies-1, 3-β-D-glucan

In light of earlier addressed issues related to fungal isolation and culture difficulties, which remain the gold standard of diagnostic testing, non-culture-based tests have been developed, and some have found clinical applications. 1, 3-β-Dglucan is a polysaccharide ubiquitous in the fungal cell wall. Its detection in the serum with a cutoff of 60 pg/mL has a sensitivity and specificity of 69.9% and 87.1%, respectively, in a patient with candidemia[31]. It carries several advantages, including improved sensitivity on serial testing, strong specificity, positive likelihood ratio, and most importantly, antifungal agents do not affect 1, 3  $\beta$ -D-glucan serum levels [44,45]. In a patient with *Candida glabrata* IE,  $\beta$ -Dglucan was found to be a helpful tool in assessing treatment response, whereby after treatment, the assay became negative[46]. Hence, this could be used as a screening tool for CE and to monitor clinical response to therapy.

#### Mannan antigen and anti-mannan antibody

Mannan is an essential constituent of the Candida cell wall. Both mannan and anti-mannan antibodies have been found in the serum of patients with candidiasis. A meta-analysis by Mikulska et al[47] showed that combined testing using immunosorbent assays for detecting mannan antigen and anti-mannan antibodies have a sensitivity of 83% and specificity of 86% in patients with invasive candidiasis. However, its usefulness is limited due to rapid clearance from the bloodstream. Furthermore, immunosuppressed patients may not develop adequate antibody response against the mannan antigen, thus resulting in false negative tests[48].

#### Polymerase chain reaction

The development of molecular diagnostic techniques has improved the ability to identify the causative pathogen and decreased the required time for microorganism identification from days to hours. Rice et al[49] found polymerase chain reaction (PCR) to have a threefold increase in sensitivity in detecting causative agents in the setting of IE compared to traditional bacterial Gram-stain and culture. Multiple cases of successful diagnosis of culture-negative fungal endocarditis utilizing this technique have been reported[50,51]. Multiplex PCR systems, such as BioFire®, are now employed routinely in clinical settings and have been shown to offer a rapid and accurate diagnosis of selected Candida species in fungemic patients. Recent advancements have also led to the development of a novel immuno-based microfluidic device that can rapidly detect CA in under 2 h with a capture efficiency of 77.4% ± 4.4% [52]. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry is a technique that analyzes large biomolecules, such as DNA, protein, and sugar, as unique molecular fingerprints to allow rapid and accurate identification of microorganisms to decrease wait time for establishing correct diagnosis and initiation of appropriate therapy [53,54].

#### Limitations

These non-culture-based tests have several disadvantages, which have limited their widespread use. The yield of these tests is time-sensitive, and results might be altered with antifungal administration, which increases the possibility of false negative results. The accuracy of the test and its ability to make an identification depend on the quality of the database from which the test references, which is ever-expanding and improving. Thus, careful interpretation of test results is essential since sometimes the test may detect multiple or unusual organisms, which implies a critical determination of their clinical relevance. The availability of the test remains limited, and the turn-around time is significant, making them



not a first-line diagnostic tool. Finally, these tests are costly, further limiting their widespread use[55,56].

#### **IMAGING MODALITIES**

The use of echocardiography in the diagnosis of endocarditis is well established. Transthoracic echocardiogram (TTE) has a sensitivity of approximately 70% in the diagnosis of native-valve endocarditis (NVE) and about 50% for prosthetic-valve endocarditis (PVE). The sensitivity for each will improve to more than 90% when a transesophageal echocardiogram (TEE) is used, suggesting the superiority of TEE. For fungal endocarditis, echocardiography has shown an overall sensitivity of 77% [6]. Indeed, for patients with candidemia, TTE was shown to detect vegetation in 2.9% of patients compared to 11.5% of patients with TEE[57]. Moreover, TTE had a sensitivity of 88.9% with NVE and 76.5% with PVE in the diagnosis of CE compared to TEE, which had an improved sensitivity of 92% with NVE but a worse sensitivity of 61.1% in the case of PVE, which could be related to the small sample of patients with PVE that underwent TEE[4,6].

Other imaging techniques have been developed that have shown promising applications in diagnosing endocarditis [38]. Positron emission tomography with 2-deoxy-2-(fluorine-18) fluoro-D-glucose integrated with computed tomography (18F-FDG-PET/CT), which identifies increased uptake of labeled glucose by cells in inflamed tissue, has improved sensitivity and specificity of the modified Duke criteria to 82% and 96%, respectively, even better if the NVE cases were excluded, up to 96% and 94% if only PVE and cardiac-device-related IE are considered. Limitations of this technique include potential myocardial and respiratory artifacts that need to be gated out, difficulty distinguishing between inflammatory from infectious lesions, and limited ability to detect small vegetations along the device leads[58]. 18F-FDG-PET/CT was reported to help diagnose CE and improve accuracy. Hence, it is promising in situations where TTE/TEE might not be diagnostic[59].

Single photon emission tomography with technetium 99m-hexamethyl propylene amine oxime (HMPAO)-labeled autologous leukocytes (<sup>99</sup>mTc-HMPAO-labeled SPECT/CT), on the other hand, takes advantage of the natural homing and recruitment of leukocytes to the site of inflammation/ infection to identify potential areas of abnormality. This technique does require additional time to prepare and complete compared to <sup>18</sup>F-FDG-PET/CT. It takes time to obtain, isolate, and prepare autologous leukocytes from the host, and the images are acquired in multiple phases. Other imaging limitations include affectation by metallic artifacts, non-specific bowel activity due to hepatic HMPAO excretion, and its limited ability to detect small vegetations[60]. These techniques are technically challenging and require well-trained radiologists who are familiar with the technique. Therefore, they are not widely available and are usually implemented when other evaluation techniques, such as echocardiograms, are inconclusive. The yield of either study may be affected by antibiotic exposure; thus, finding the optimal time to utilize this imaging modality to achieve the maximal result in the course of patient evaluation remains an important question[61,62]. Nevertheless, these techniques have demonstrated very promising results in the diagnosis of PVE and cardiac device-related IE, with one study showing a sensitivity of 80%, specificity of 91%, negative predictive value of 80%, and positive predictive value of 91% using <sup>18</sup>F-FDG PET/CT and 60%, 100%, 100%, and 85% for <sup>99</sup>mTc-HMPAO-SPECT/CT, that the use of nuclear imaging study when appropriate has been included as a consideration in European IE guidelines[61-63].

#### MANAGEMENT

#### Medical management

Current Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) guidelines recommend treating native or prosthetic valve CE with either a lipid formulation of amphotericin with or without flucytosine or a high dose echinocandin for initial therapy, with step-down therapy to fluconazole for patients who have susceptible isolates, that have demonstrated clinical improvement, and have cleared Candida from their bloodstream. Step-down therapy to oral voriconazole can be used for susceptible isolates that are not susceptible to fluconazole. Valve replacement is recommended if there is no contraindication, followed by continued antifungal treatment for six weeks after surgery. Finally, long-term therapy with fluconazole is recommended for patients who cannot undergo valve replacement[8]. Despite this seemingly straightforward algorithm, this infection has seen little or no improvement in patient outcomes. While this may indicate an inherent defect in our approach to treatment, one must further analyze this sophisticated pathogen and the hosts most likely to become infected.

As Candida is known to form biofilms that result in decreased cell membrane ergosterol content through reduced expression of ergosterol biosynthetic genes while upregulating the expression of genes involved in amino acid and nucleotide metabolism and efflux pumps[64,65], a combination antifungal regimen would theoretically be more effective in the treatment of fungal infection. However, using an *in vitro* model, Pai *et al*[66] compared the activities of flucytosine, micafungin, and voriconazole as either single agents or in combination against several Candida species and found no difference in the reduction of fungal burden between triple *vs* single agent antifungal therapy. Conversely, a 2011 meta-analysis of 64 cases of CE who received fluconazole alone, concurrently, or in sequence with other antifungals without surgical intervention suggested that multiple-agent therapy is preferable. In this study, Smego and Ahmad[67] reported that combination regimens, including fluconazole cured or improved 86% and 68% of patients with native and prosthetic valve infections, respectively. Furthermore, fluconazole administered alone was associated with a 42% rate of relapse or death. At the same time, the best outcomes were found in patients maintained on chronic suppressive fluconazole therapy following an initial amphotericin or echinocandin regimen for a minimum of six months. Although antifungal

agents tend to have significant side effects and drug-drug interaction profiles, prolonged fluconazole use is relatively benign. In a retrospective study of individuals receiving chronic fluconazole for suppression of artificial implant infection, Penk and Pittrow[68] found no significant adverse events. Of note, this study's maximum duration of treatment was 4.5 years, and the maximum daily dose was 750 mg.

A study compared amphotericin B and echinocandin-based therapy directly. While there was a higher percentage of older patients in the echinocandin group and the majority of infections in the amphotericin B group were community-acquired, the rates of utilization of combination antifungal therapy, suppressive antifungal therapy and adjunctive surgery were statistically equivalent. Mortality rates measured in-hospital, at 42 d and 1 year, did not differ between the two groups. Based on this study, the echinocandin group could be a better choice of initial therapy given similar clinical outcomes and a better side effect profile than amphotericin[69].

Combination antifungal therapy of amphotericin B and flucytosine was shown to have similar clinical outcomes compared to an antifungal followed by adjunctive surgical intervention[70]. Different antifungal combinations have been tried, including azoles plus echinocandins, 5-FC-combination therapies, and polyenes plus azoles[71]. Amphotericin B and flucytosine have been found to work synergistically, albeit with nephrotoxic side effects[67]. Furthermore, the combination of amphotericin B and fluconazole demonstrated antagonism[69]. IDSA guidelines recommend echinocandins with or without fluconazole as first-line therapy, which was found to be non-inferior to amphotericin B in managing endocarditis[8,69]. Additional challenges are encountered with NAC species, such as *Candida lusitaniae* and *Candida krusei*, which are intrinsically resistant to polyenes and fluconazole, respectively[72,73].

Significant differences in clinical outcomes have been observed between right and left-sided disease in bacterial and fungal infections[74-6]. In a 2018 retrospective study, Siciliano *et al*[77] found that patients with isolated right-sided CE had a 32% mortality rate *vs* 61% for left-sided disease. Furthermore, individuals with right-sided disease have lower rates of acute heart failure and perivalvular complications. While right-sided CE still portends a poor prognosis, isolated valve involvement should be a characteristic considered when discussing outcomes and treatment options.

#### Surgical management

Literature on the surgical approach in CE is limited to small prospective studies with conflicting evidence and weak recommendations. For instance, 15 case reports from patients with CE showed that a combination of surgical and medical, when carried out early on admission, had lower mortality than single therapy[27]. A meta-analysis of 879 cases of CE found that patients who underwent adjunctive surgery had lower mortality. However, higher mortality was seen in surgical repairs before 1980, fungal monotherapy, and left-sided endocarditis. Although, this did not meet statistical significance[70]. In contrast, an observational cohort study in 2015 failed to show mortality benefits between those undergoing surgical therapy and those receiving medical treatment alone[69]. The European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases recommends earlier surgery in the setting of prosthetic valves as opposed to infection involving native valves[38]. The need for surgical intervention may differ among cases caused by different Candida species. A recent retrospective study showed that surgery was performed earlier in cases of CE caused by *Candida parapsilosis* compared to CA endocarditis[78]. Rivoisy *et al*[79] demonstrated that in patients with prosthetic valve CE, early surgery was not associated with better survival at six months compared to medical management alone with liposomal amphotericin B induction and long-term suppression with fluconazole.

A newer approach with minimally invasive surgical intervention with angioVac has been used in right-sided IE with vegetation debulking. A meta-analysis of AngioVac-assisted vegetation debulking demonstrated procedural and clinical success of 89.2% and 79.1%, respectively. Also, greater than 50% vegetation removal was achieved in 90% and bacteremia clearance of 82.5% with procedure-related complications of 10.1%. However, documentation of this approach for left-sided endocarditis is not yet available[80]. It has been proposed that debulking in CE can lead to the resolution of fungemia similar to bacteremia in bacterial endocarditis[81].

#### **PROPHYLACTIC MEASURES**

Prophylactic measures have been given to selected patients at high risk of complications from candidemia. Several studies have explored high-risk populations, and many were found to have similar underlying genetic alterations leading to candidemia. Some generic modifications include Toll-like receptor signaling influence and certain single nucleotide polymorphisms[82-84]. A meta-analysis by Shorr *et al*[85] showed that prophylactic fluconazole reduced the risk of infection but failed to show improved mortality. The latter was also demonstrated in another randomized controlled trial between 1995-2000 in 26 intensive care units (ICU), where patients with central line catheters were randomized to fluconazole 800 mg *vs* placebo. It also failed to improve primary composite outcomes, including fever resolution, absence of invasive fungal infection, and discontinuation of prophylaxis due to toxicity and the need for additional systemic antifungal medication[86]. On the other hand, prophylaxis might increase the risk of resistance to antifungal drugs, which was described in the SNETRY Antifungal surveillance program that underlined both intrinsic and acquired resistance to fluconazole based on differences in species distribution among the geographic areas, variation in antifungal usage and infection control practice. Other disadvantages include cost and side effects[87]. IDSA guidelines report that prophylaxis with fluconazole (12 mg/kg) loading dose and then 6 mg/kg daily gained weak recommendation when administered to high-risk ICU patients[8]. This points to the need for a new screening modality to identify patients at high risk for severe candidemia and its complications.

Zaishidene® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Central Illustration. AIDS: Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; TEE: Transesophageal echocardiogram; TTE: Transthoracic echocardiography; PCR: Polymerase chain reaction; PET/CT: Positron emission tomography/computed tomography.

#### CONCLUSION

Despite advances in cardiac surgery and antifungal therapy, overall mortality and morbidity due to CE have not improved significantly. Given the increasing incidence of candidemia and the emergence of multi-drug resistant Candida species, there is an urgent need for further development of fungal-specific diagnostic criteria, including novel diagnostic tests, and management guidelines, both therapeutic and surgical. While the modified Duke criteria have been applied to diagnose fungal endocarditis, one of the major criteria requires positive blood cultures, which can be a source of delay in diagnosing CE. As there are limited data regarding some of the newer diagnostic techniques, criteria specific for fungal endocarditis utilizing fungal antigens and PCR technology would lead to earlier diagnosis and treatment (Figure 1).

New techniques, such as minimally invasive suction thrombectomy, can remove and debulk vegetations[88,89] without the risk and complications associated with conventional surgery and may provide alternative solutions. Current and future innovations in diagnostic tests and medical and surgical management of CE will permit earlier recognition of infection, reduce rates of potential complications, and improve long-term outcomes. The most successful strategy will likely require increased attention to the prophylactic reduction of indwelling foreign devices, antibiotic stewardship, and dedicating resources to the IVD use epidemic.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Jamil Y, Lempel M, and Akinleye A wrote the manuscript and contributed to the manuscript review; Jamil Y and Pan S supervised the entire project; All authors have made contributions to the conception and design of this review, engaged in preparing the article or revising it for essential intellectual content, gave final approval of the version to be published, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflict-of-interest statement: There are no conflict of interests.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Yasser Jamil 0009-0008-5853-4538.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: Webster IR P-Editor: Xu ZH



Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Osler W. The Gulstonian Lectures, on Malignant Endocarditis. Br Med J 1885; 1: 467-470 [PMID: 20751186 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.1.1262.467]
- Holland TL, Baddour LM, Bayer AS, Hoen B, Miro JM, Fowler VG Jr. Infective endocarditis. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016; 2: 16059 [PMID: 2 27582414 DOI: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.59]
- 3 Benjamin DK Jr, Miro JM, Hoen B, Steinbach WJ, Fowler VG Jr, Olaison L, Habib G, Abrutyn E, Perfect J, Zass A, Corey GR, Eykyn S, Thuny F, Jiménez-Expósito MJ, Cabell CH; ICE-MD Study Group. Candida endocarditis: contemporary cases from the International Collaboration of Infectious Endocarditis Merged Database (ICE-mD). Scand J Infect Dis 2004; 36: 453-455 [PMID: 15307567 DOI: 10.1080/00365540410020703
- Ellis ME, Al-Abdely H, Sandridge A, Greer W, Ventura W. Fungal endocarditis: evidence in the world literature, 1965-1995. Clin Infect Dis 4 2001; 32: 50-62 [PMID: 11118386 DOI: 10.1086/317550]
- Lefort A, Chartier L, Sendid B, Wolff M, Mainardi JL, Podglajen I, Desnos-Ollivier M, Fontanet A, Bretagne S, Lortholary O; French 5 Mycosis Study Group. Diagnosis, management and outcome of Candida endocarditis. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012; 18: E99-E109 [PMID: 22329526 DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03764.x]
- 6 Pierrotti LC, Baddour LM. Fungal endocarditis, 1995-2000. Chest 2002; 122: 302-310 [PMID: 12114375 DOI: 10.1378/chest.122.1.302]
- Nishimura RA, Otto CM, Bonow RO, Carabello BA, Erwin JP 3rd, Guyton RA, O'Gara PT, Ruiz CE, Skubas NJ, Sorajja P, Sundt TM 3rd, Thomas JD; ACC/AHA Task Force Members. 2014 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Patients With Valvular Heart Disease: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2014; 129: 2440-2492 [PMID: 24589852 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000029]
- Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes DR, Clancy CJ, Marr KA, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Reboli AC, Schuster MG, Vazquez JA, Walsh TJ, Zaoutis 8 TE, Sobel JD. Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Candidiasis: 2016 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis 2016; 62: e1-50 [PMID: 26679628 DOI: 10.1093/cid/civ933]
- 9 Martin GS, Mannino DM, Eaton S, Moss M. The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 1546-1554 [PMID: 12700374 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa022139]
- Sofair AN, Lyon GM, Huie-White S, Reiss E, Harrison LH, Sanza LT, Arthington-Skaggs BA, Fridkin SK. Epidemiology of community-onset 10 candidemia in Connecticut and Maryland. Clin Infect Dis 2006; 43: 32-39 [PMID: 16758415 DOI: 10.1086/504807]
- 11 Bisbe J, Miro JM, Latorre X, Moreno A, Mallolas J, Gatell JM, de la Bellacasa JP, Soriano E. Disseminated candidiasis in addicts who use brown heroin: report of 83 cases and review. Clin Infect Dis 1992; 15: 910-923 [PMID: 1457662 DOI: 10.1093/clind/15.6.910]
- Poowanawittayakom N, Dutta A, Stock S, Touray S, Ellison RT 3rd, Levitz SM. Reemergence of Intravenous Drug Use as Risk Factor for 12 Candidemia, Massachusetts, USA. Emerg Infect Dis 2018; 24: 631-637 [PMID: 29553923 DOI: 10.3201/eid2404.171807]
- Ericson JE, Benjamin DK Jr. Fluconazole prophylaxis for prevention of invasive candidiasis in infants. Curr Opin Pediatr 2014; 26: 151-156 13 [PMID: 24626156 DOI: 10.1097/MOP.0000000000000000]
- Wey SB, Mori M, Pfaller MA, Woolson RF, Wenzel RP. Risk factors for hospital-acquired candidemia. A matched case-control study. Arch 14 Intern Med 1989; 149: 2349-2353 [PMID: 2802900 DOI: 10.1001/archinte.1989.00390100145030]
- Zilberberg MD, Shorr AF, Kollef MH. Secular trends in candidemia-related hospitalization in the United States, 2000-2005. Infect Control 15 Hosp Epidemiol 2008; 29: 978-980 [PMID: 18715153 DOI: 10.1086/591033]
- Labchuk A, Hamwi M, Han A, Khan M, Stone A. Fungal Endocarditis With Severe Vegetations of the Aortic Valve and Septic Emboli 16 Secondary to Total Parenteral Nutrition. Cureus 2022; 14: e32357 [PMID: 36627999 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.32357]
- Ding X, Yan D, Sun W, Zeng Z, Su R, Su J. Epidemiology and risk factors for nosocomial Non-Candida albicans candidemia in adult patients 17 at a tertiary care hospital in North China. Med Mycol 2015; 53: 684-690 [PMID: 26229153 DOI: 10.1093/mmy/myv060]
- Mamtani S, Aljanabi NM, Gupta Rauniyar RP, Acharya A, Malik BH. Candida Endocarditis: A Review of the Pathogenesis, Morphology, 18 Risk Factors, and Management of an Emerging and Serious Condition. Cureus 2020; 12: e6695 [PMID: 32104631 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.6695]
- Sharma S, Samantaray S, Kumar D, Meena DS, Chaudhary R, Jain V, Bohra GK, Garg MK. Prosthetic valve endocarditis due to Candida 19 parapsilosis - a rare case report. Access Microbiol 2023; 5 [PMID: 36911424 DOI: 10.1099/acmi.0.000462.v4]
- Sakakibara K, Nakajima H. A case of Candida parapsilosis bioprosthetic valve endocarditis. Clin Case Rep 2023; 11: e6950 [PMID: 20 36794038 DOI: 10.1002/ccr3.6950]
- 21 Chen CB, Jarrett H, Goldman SM. Candida endocarditis in a transcatheter aortic valve. Eur Heart J 2023; 44: 1477 [PMID: 36779937 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehad070]
- 22 Mohammadi S, Mohammadi J, Forrest GN. Epidemiology of Candida Endocarditis. Curr Fungal Infect Rep 2013; 7: 306-310 [DOI: 10.1007/s12281-013-0158-6
- Calvo B, Melo AS, Perozo-Mena A, Hernandez M, Francisco EC, Hagen F, Meis JF, Colombo AL. First report of Candida auris in America: 23 Clinical and microbiological aspects of 18 episodes of candidemia. J Infect 2016; 73: 369-374 [PMID: 27452195 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2016.07.008]
- Sears D, Schwartz BS. Candida auris: An emerging multidrug-resistant pathogen. Int J Infect Dis 2017; 63: 95-98 [PMID: 28888662 DOI: 24 10.1016/j.ijid.2017.08.017]
- Garbino J, Kolarova L, Rohner P, Lew D, Pichna P, Pittet D. Secular trends of candidemia over 12 years in adult patients at a tertiary care 25 hospital. Medicine (Baltimore) 2002; 81: 425-433 [PMID: 12441899 DOI: 10.1097/00005792-200211000-00003]
- Baddley JW, Benjamin DK Jr, Patel M, Miró J, Athan E, Barsic B, Bouza E, Clara L, Elliott T, Kanafani Z, Klein J, Lerakis S, Levine D, 26 Spelman D, Rubinstein E, Tornos P, Morris AJ, Pappas P, Fowler VG Jr, Chu VH, Cabell C; International Collaboration on Endocarditis-Prospective Cohort Study Group (ICE-PCS). Candida infective endocarditis. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2008; 27: 519-529 [PMID: 18283504 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-008-0466-x]
- Falcone M, Barzaghi N, Carosi G, Grossi P, Minoli L, Ravasio V, Rizzi M, Suter F, Utili R, Viscoli C, Venditti M; Italian Study on 27 Endocarditis (SEI). Candida infective endocarditis: report of 15 cases from a prospective multicenter study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2009; 88: 160-168 [PMID: 19440119 DOI: 10.1097/MD.0b013e3181a693f8]
- Ishikane M, Hayakawa K, Kutsuna S, Takeshita N, Ohmagari N. The impact of infectious disease consultation in candidemia in a tertiary care 28 hospital in Japan over 12 years. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0215996 [PMID: 31022251 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215996]
- 29 Pasha AK, Lee JZ, Low SW, Desai H, Lee KS, Al Mohajer M. Fungal Endocarditis: Update on Diagnosis and Management. Am J Med 2016; **129**: 1037-1043 [PMID: 27267285 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.05.012]



- Johnson MD, Johnson CD. Neurologic presentations of infective endocarditis. Neurol Clin 2010; 28: 311-321 [PMID: 19932388 DOI: 30 10.1016/j.ncl.2009.09.001]
- Varghese GM, Sobel JD. Fungal endocarditis. Curr Infect Dis Rep 2008; 10: 275-279 [PMID: 18765100 DOI: 10.1007/s11908-0045-4] 31
- 32 Durack DT, Lukes AS, Bright DK. New criteria for diagnosis of infective endocarditis: utilization of specific echocardiographic findings. Duke Endocarditis Service. Am J Med 1994; 96: 200-209 [PMID: 8154507 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9343(94)90143-0]
- Cecchi E, Parrini I, Chinaglia A, Pomari F, Brusasco G, Bobbio M, Trinchero R, Brusca A. New diagnostic criteria for infective endocarditis. 33 A study of sensitivity and specificity. Eur Heart J 1997; 18: 1149-1156 [PMID: 9243150 DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.eurheartj.a015411]
- 34 Hoen B, Béguinot I, Rabaud C, Jaussaud R, Selton-Suty C, May T, Canton P. The Duke criteria for diagnosing infective endocarditis are specific: analysis of 100 patients with acute fever of unknown origin. Clin Infect Dis 1996; 23: 298-302 [PMID: 8842267 DOI: 10.1093/clinids/23.2.298]
- 35 Hoen B, Selton-Suty C, Danchin N, Weber M, Villemot JP, Mathieu P, Floquet J, Canton P. Evaluation of the Duke criteria vs the Beth Israel criteria for the diagnosis of infective endocarditis. Clin Infect Dis 1995; 21: 905-909 [PMID: 8645838 DOI: 10.1093/clinids/21.4.905]
- Li JS, Sexton DJ, Mick N, Nettles R, Fowler VG Jr, Ryan T, Bashore T, Corey GR. Proposed modifications to the Duke criteria for the 36 diagnosis of infective endocarditis. Clin Infect Dis 2000; 30: 633-638 [PMID: 10770721 DOI: 10.1086/313753]
- 37 Prendergast BD. Diagnostic criteria and problems in infective endocarditis. Heart 2004; 90: 611-613 [PMID: 15145855 DOI: 10.1136/hrt.2003.029850]
- Cornely OA, Bassetti M, Calandra T, Garbino J, Kullberg BJ, Lortholary O, Meersseman W, Akova M, Arendrup MC, Arikan-Akdagli S, 38 Bille J, Castagnola E, Cuenca-Estrella M, Donnelly JP, Groll AH, Herbrecht R, Hope WW, Jensen HE, Lass-Flörl C, Petrikkos G, Richardson MD, Roilides E, Verweij PE, Viscoli C, Ullmann AJ; ESCMID Fungal Infection Study Group. ESCMID\* guideline for the diagnosis and management of Candida diseases 2012: non-neutropenic adult patients. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012; 18 Suppl 7: 19-37 [PMID: 23137135 DOI: 10.1111/1469-0691.12039
- Cuenca-Estrella M, Verweij PE, Arendrup MC, Arikan-Akdagli S, Bille J, Donnelly JP, Jensen HE, Lass-Flörl C, Richardson MD, Akova M, 39 Bassetti M, Calandra T, Castagnola E, Cornely OA, Garbino J, Groll AH, Herbrecht R, Hope WW, Kullberg BJ, Lortholary O, Meersseman W, Petrikkos G, Roilides E, Viscoli C, Ullmann AJ; ESCMID Fungal Infection Study Group. ESCMID\* guideline for the diagnosis and management of Candida diseases 2012: diagnostic procedures. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012; 18 Suppl 7: 9-18 [PMID: 23137134 DOI: 10.1111/1469-0691.12038]
- 40 Hoen B, Selton-Suty C, Lacassin F, Etienne J, Briançon S, Leport C, Canton P. Infective endocarditis in patients with negative blood cultures: analysis of 88 cases from a one-year nationwide survey in France. Clin Infect Dis 1995; 20: 501-506 [PMID: 7756467 DOI: 10.1093/clinids/20.3.501]
- Fournier PE, Thuny F, Richet H, Lepidi H, Casalta JP, Arzouni JP, Maurin M, Célard M, Mainardi JL, Caus T, Collart F, Habib G, Raoult D. 41 Comprehensive diagnostic strategy for blood culture-negative endocarditis: a prospective study of 819 new cases. Clin Infect Dis 2010; 51: 131-140 [PMID: 20540619 DOI: 10.1086/653675]
- 42 Lamas CC, Eykyn SJ. Suggested modifications to the Duke criteria for the clinical diagnosis of native valve and prosthetic valve endocarditis: analysis of 118 pathologically proven cases. Clin Infect Dis 1997; 25: 713-719 [PMID: 9314466 DOI: 10.1086/513765]
- Lamas CC, Eykyn SJ. Blood culture negative endocarditis: analysis of 63 cases presenting over 25 years. Heart 2003; 89: 258-262 [PMID: 43 12591823 DOI: 10.1136/heart.89.3.258]
- Koo S, Bryar JM, Page JH, Baden LR, Marty FM. Diagnostic performance of the (1-->3)-beta-D-glucan assay for invasive fungal disease. Clin 44 Infect Dis 2009; 49: 1650-1659 [PMID: 19863452 DOI: 10.1086/647942]
- Marr KA, Laverdiere M, Gugel A, Leisenring W. Antifungal therapy decreases sensitivity of the Aspergillus galactomannan enzyme 45 immunoassay. Clin Infect Dis 2005; 40: 1762-1769 [PMID: 15909264 DOI: 10.1086/429921]
- Slim J, Saling C, Szabela M, Brown M, Johnson T, Goldfarb I. (1→3)-β-D-Glucan Assay in Monitoring Response to Anti-Fungal Therapy in 46 Fungal Endocarditis. J Heart Valve Dis 2017; 26: 208-210 [PMID: 28820552]
- 47 Mikulska M, Calandra T, Sanguinetti M, Poulain D, Viscoli C; Third European Conference on Infections in Leukemia Group. The use of mannan antigen and anti-mannan antibodies in the diagnosis of invasive candidiasis: recommendations from the Third European Conference on Infections in Leukemia. Crit Care 2010; 14: R222 [PMID: 21143834 DOI: 10.1186/cc9365]
- Sendid B, Poirot JL, Tabouret M, Bonnin A, Caillot D, Camus D, Poulain D. Combined detection of mannanaemia and antimannan antibodies 48 as a strategy for the diagnosis of systemic infection caused by pathogenic Candida species. J Med Microbiol 2002; 51: 433-442 [PMID: 11990496 DOI: 10.1099/0022-1317-51-5-433]
- Rice PA, Madico GE. Polymerase chain reaction to diagnose infective endocarditis: will it replace blood cultures? Circulation 2005; 111: 49 1352-1354 [PMID: 15781748 DOI: 10.1161/01.Cir.0000160383.67586.7b]
- Grijalva M, Horváth R, Dendis M, Erný J, Benedík J. Molecular diagnosis of culture negative infective endocarditis: clinical validation in a 50 group of surgically treated patients. Heart 2003; 89: 263-268 [PMID: 12591825 DOI: 10.1136/heart.89.3.263]
- Posteraro B, Valentini P, Delogu A, De RG, Boccacci S, Sanguinetti M, Nacci A, Sopo SM, Ranno O, Morace G, Fadda G. Candida albicans 51 endocarditis diagnosed by PCR-based molecular assay in a critically ill pediatric patient. Scand J Infect Dis 2002; 34: 145-147 [PMID: 11928853 DOI: 10.1080/00365540110077173]
- 52 Asghar W, Sher M, Khan NS, Vyas JM, Demirci U. Microfluidic Chip for Detection of Fungal Infections. ACS Omega 2019; 4: 7474-7481 [PMID: 31080939 DOI: 10.1021/acsomega.9b00499]
- Xie TA, Liu YL, Liang C, Huang YY, Li JW, Li ZW, Fan SJ, Chen JT, Xia Y, Li XY, Ouyang S, Ji TX, Guo XG. Accuracy of matrix-assisted 53 LASER desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry for identification of Candida. Biosci Rep 2019; 39 [PMID: 31537628 DOI: 10.1042/bsr20190859]
- Yaman G, Akyar I, Can S. Evaluation of the MALDI TOF-MS method for identification of Candida strains isolated from blood cultures. 54 Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2012; 73: 65-67 [PMID: 22578939 DOI: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2012.01.013]
- Avni T, Leibovici L, Paul M. PCR diagnosis of invasive candidiasis: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Microbiol 2011; 49: 665-670 55 [PMID: 21106797 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01602-10]
- Eghtedar Nejad E, Ghasemi Nejad Almani P, Mohammadi MA, Salari S. Molecular identification of Candida isolates by Real-time PCR-56 high-resolution melting analysis and investigation of the genetic diversity of Candida species. J Clin Lab Anal 2020; 34: e23444 [PMID: 32656934 DOI: 10.1002/jcla.23444]
- 57 Fernández-Cruz A, Cruz Menárguez M, Muñoz P, Pedromingo M, Peláez T, Solís J, Rodríguez-Créixems M, Bouza E; GAME Study Group



(Grupo de Apoyo al Manejo de la Endocarditis). The search for endocarditis in patients with candidemia: a systematic recommendation for echocardiography? A prospective cohort. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2015; 34: 1543-1549 [PMID: 25966975 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-015-2384-z

- 58 Granados U, Fuster D, Pericas JM, Llopis JL, Ninot S, Quintana E, Almela M, Paré C, Tolosana JM, Falces C, Moreno A, Pons F, Lomeña F, Miro JM; Hospital Clinic Endocarditis Study Group. Diagnostic Accuracy of 18F-FDG PET/CT in Infective Endocarditis and Implantable Cardiac Electronic Device Infection: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Nucl Med 2016; 57: 1726-1732 [PMID: 27261514 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.116.173690]
- 59 Salomäki SP, Saraste A, Jalava-Karvinen P, Pirilä L, Hohenthal U. Prosthetic Valve Candida Endocarditis: A Case Report with 18F-FDG-PET/CT as Part of the Diagnostic Workup. Case Rep Cardiol 2020; 2020: 4921380 [PMID: 33294230 DOI: 10.1155/2020/4921380]
- Erba PA, Conti U, Lazzeri E, Sollini M, Doria R, De Tommasi SM, Bandera F, Tascini C, Menichetti F, Dierckx RA, Signore A, Mariani G. 60 Added value of 99mTc-HMPAO-labeled leukocyte SPECT/CT in the characterization and management of patients with infectious endocarditis. J Nucl Med 2012; 53: 1235-1243 [PMID: 22787109 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.111.099424]
- Jasińska A, Teresińska A, Hryniewiecki T. Diagnosis of infective endocarditis with nuclear medicine techniques: use of SPECT/CT with 61 [99mTc]Tc-HMPAO-labelled leukocytes. Folia Cardiologica 2022; 17: 100-108 [DOI: 10.5603/FC.2022.0015]
- Rouzet F, Chequer R, Benali K, Lepage L, Ghodbane W, Duval X, Iung B, Vahanian A, Le Guludec D, Hyafil F. Respective performance of 62 18F-FDG PET and radiolabeled leukocyte scintigraphy for the diagnosis of prosthetic valve endocarditis. J Nucl Med 2014; 55: 1980-1985 [PMID: 25453046 DOI: 10.2967/jnumed.114.141895]
- Calais J, Touati A, Grall N, Laouénan C, Benali K, Mahida B, Vigne J, Hyafil F, Jung B, Duval X, Lepage L, Le Guludec D, Rouzet F. 63 Diagnostic Impact of (18)F-Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography and White Blood Cell SPECT/ Computed Tomography in Patients With Suspected Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device Chronic Infection. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2019; **12**: e007188 [PMID: 31291779 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.117.007188]
- d'Enfert C. Biofilms and their role in the resistance of pathogenic Candida to antifungal agents. Curr Drug Targets 2006; 7: 465-470 [PMID: 64 16611034 DOI: 10.2174/138945006776359458]
- Mukherjee PK, Chandra J. Candida biofilm resistance. Drug Resist Updat 2004; 7: 301-309 [PMID: 15533767 DOI: 65 10.1016/j.drup.2004.09.002
- Pai MP, Samples ML, Mercier RC, Spilde MN. Activities and ultrastructural effects of antifungal combinations against simulated Candida 66 endocardial vegetations. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2008; 52: 2367-2376 [PMID: 18426896 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.01557-07]
- Smego RA Jr, Ahmad H. The role of fluconazole in the treatment of Candida endocarditis: a meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2011; 90: 67 237-249 [PMID: 21694646 DOI: 10.1097/MD.0b013e3182259d38]
- Penk A, Pittrow L. Role of fluconazole in the long-term suppressive therapy of fungal infections in patients with artificial implants. Mycoses 68 1999; **42** Suppl 2: 91-96 [PMID: 10865912 DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0507.1999.tb00021.x]
- 69 Arnold CJ, Johnson M, Bayer AS, Bradley S, Giannitsioti E, Miró JM, Tornos P, Tattevin P, Strahilevitz J, Spelman D, Athan E, Nacinovich F, Fortes CQ, Lamas C, Barsic B, Fernández-Hidalgo N, Muñoz P, Chu VH. Candida infective endocarditis: an observational cohort study with a focus on therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015; 59: 2365-2373 [PMID: 25645855 DOI: 10.1128/AAC.04867-14]
- Steinbach WJ, Perfect JR, Cabell CH, Fowler VG, Corey GR, Li JS, Zaas AK, Benjamin DK Jr. A meta-analysis of medical vs surgical 70 therapy for Candida endocarditis. J Infect 2005; 51: 230-247 [PMID: 16230221 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2004.10.016]
- Fioriti S, Brescini L, Pallotta F, Canovari B, Morroni G, Barchiesi F. Antifungal Combinations against Candida Species: From Bench to 71 Bedside. J Fungi (Basel) 2022; 8 [PMID: 36294642 DOI: 10.3390/jof8101077]
- Stripeli F, Tsolia M, Trapali Ch, Papaevangelou V, Vlachos E, Pasparakis D, Constantopoulos A. Successful medical treatment of Candida 72 endocarditis with liposomal amphotericin B without surgical intervention. Eur J Pediatr 2008; 167: 469-470 [PMID: 17503078 DOI: 10.1007/s00431-007-0498-8]
- Tattevin P, Revest M, Lefort A, Michelet C, Lortholary O. Fungal endocarditis: current challenges. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2014; 44: 290-294 73 [PMID: 25178919 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2014.07.003]
- Kamaledeen A, Young C, Attia RQ. What are the differences in outcomes between right-sided active infective endocarditis with and without 74 left-sided infection? Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2012; 14: 205-208 [PMID: 22159232 DOI: 10.1093/icvts/ivr012]
- Ortiz C, López J, García H, Sevilla T, Revilla A, Vilacosta I, Sarriá C, Olmos C, Ferrera C, García PE, Sáez C, Gómez I, San Román JA. 75 Clinical classification and prognosis of isolated right-sided infective endocarditis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2014; 93: e137 [PMID: 25501052 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000000137]
- Revilla A, López J, Villacorta E, Gómez I, Sevilla T, del Pozo MA, de la Fuente L, Manzano Mdel C, Mota P, Flórez S, Vilacosta I, Sarriá C, 76 Sánchez M, San Román JA. Isolated right-sided valvular endocarditis in non-intravenous drug users. Rev Esp Cardiol 2008; 61: 1253-1259 [PMID: 19080963 DOI: 10.1016/s1885-5857(09)60052-9]
- Siciliano RF, Gualandro DM, Sejas ONE, Ignoto BG, Caramelli B, Mansur AJ, Sampaio RO, Pierrotti LC, Barbosa G, Golebiovski W, 77 Weksler C, Lamas C, Fortes NRQ, Fortes CQ, Tarasoutchi F, Strabelli TMV. Outcomes in patients with fungal endocarditis: A multicenter observational cohort study. Int J Infect Dis 2018; 77: 48-52 [PMID: 30248465 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2018.09.016]
- Jerónimo A, Olmos C, Vilacosta I, Sáez C, López J, Sanz M, Cabezón G, Pérez-Serrano JB, Zulet P, San Román JA. Contemporary 78 comparison of infective endocarditis caused by Candida albicans and Candida parapsilosis: a cohort study. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2022; **41**: 981-987 [PMID: 35568743 DOI: 10.1007/s10096-022-04456-x]
- Rivoisy C, Vena A, Schaeffer L, Charlier C, Fontanet A, Delahaye F, Bouza E, Lortholary O, Munoz P, Lefort A; French Mycoses Study 79 Group and Grupo de Apoyo al Manejo de las Endocarditis en España (GAMES). Prosthetic Valve Candida spp. Endocarditis: New Insights Into Long-term Prognosis-The ESCAPE Study. Clin Infect Dis 2018; 66: 825-832 [PMID: 29077791 DOI: 10.1093/cid/cix913]
- Mhanna M, Beran A, Al-Abdouh A, Jabri A, Sajdeya O, Al-Aaraj A, Alharbi A, Khuder SA, Eltahawy EA. AngioVac for Vegetation 80 Debulking in Right-sided Infective Endocarditis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Curr Probl Cardiol 2022; 47: 101353 [PMID: 35961428 DOI: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2022.101353]
- 81 Morton K, Heindl B, McElwee SK, Litovsky S, Ahmed MI, Clarkson S. Percutaneous debulking of tricuspid valve endocarditis in severe COVID-19 pneumonia after prolonged venovenous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation with right-ventricular support: a case series. Eur Heart J Case Rep 2023; 7: ytac409 [PMID: 36855601 DOI: 10.1093/ehjcr/ytac409]
- Johnson MD, Plantinga TS, van de Vosse E, Velez Edwards DR, Smith PB, Alexander BD, Yang JC, Kremer D, Laird GM, Oosting M, 82 Joosten LA, van der Meer JW, van Dissel JT, Walsh TJ, Perfect JR, Kullberg BJ, Scott WK, Netea MG. Cytokine gene polymorphisms and the outcome of invasive candidiasis: a prospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 54: 502-510 [PMID: 22144535 DOI: 10.1093/cid/cir827]



- Kumar V, Cheng SC, Johnson MD, Smeekens SP, Wojtowicz A, Giamarellos-Bourboulis E, Karjalainen J, Franke L, Withoff S, Plantinga TS, 83 van de Veerdonk FL, van der Meer JWM, Joosten LAB, Bochud PY, Marchetti O, Perfect JR, Xavier R, Kullberg BJ, Wijmenga C, Netea MG. Immunochip SNP array identifies novel genetic variants conferring susceptibility to candidaemia. Nat Commun 2014; 5: 4675 [PMID: 25197941 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms5675]
- Plantinga TS, Johnson MD, Scott WK, van de Vosse E, Velez Edwards DR, Smith PB, Alexander BD, Yang JC, Kremer D, Laird GM, 84 Oosting M, Joosten LA, van der Meer JW, van Dissel JT, Walsh TJ, Perfect JR, Kullberg BJ, Netea MG. Toll-like receptor 1 polymorphisms increase susceptibility to candidemia. J Infect Dis 2012; 205: 934-943 [PMID: 22301633 DOI: 10.1093/infdis/jir867]
- Shorr AF, Chung K, Jackson WL, Waterman PE, Kollef MH. Fluconazole prophylaxis in critically ill surgical patients: a meta-analysis. Crit 85 Care Med 2005; 33: 1928-35; quiz 1936 [PMID: 16148461 DOI: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000178352.14703.49]
- Schuster MG, Edwards JE Jr, Sobel JD, Darouiche RO, Karchmer AW, Hadley S, Slotman G, Panzer H, Biswas P, Rex JH. Empirical 86 fluconazole vs placebo for intensive care unit patients: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2008; 149: 83-90 [PMID: 18626047 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-149-2-200807150-00004]
- Pfaller MA, Diekema DJ, Turnidge JD, Castanheira M, Jones RN. Twenty Years of the SENTRY Antifungal Surveillance Program: Results 87 for Candida Species From 1997-2016. Open Forum Infect Dis 2019; 6: S79-S94 [PMID: 30895218 DOI: 10.1093/ofid/ofy358]
- Makdisi G, Casciani T, Wozniak TC, Roe DW, Hashmi ZA. A successful percutaneous mechanical vegetation debulking used as a bridge to 88 surgery in acute tricuspid valve endocarditis. J Thorac Dis 2016; 8: E137-E139 [PMID: 26904243 DOI: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2016.01.02]
- Talebi S, Tan BEX, Gazali RM, Herzog E. Last resort: successful AngioVac of fungal tricuspid valve vegetation. QJM 2017; 110: 673-674 89 [PMID: 29087526 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/hcx126]



World Journal of WJC Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 479-486

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.479

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

### Related mechanisms and research progress in straight back syndrome

Mo-Wei Kong, Zhen-Ying Pei, Xiong Zhang, Qiu-Juan Du, Qiang Tang, Jun Li, Guo-Xiang He

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Emran TB, Bangladesh

Received: July 15, 2023 Peer-review started: July 15, 2023 First decision: August 31, 2023 Revised: September 9, 2023 Accepted: September 28, 2023 Article in press: September 28, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Mo-Wei Kong, Zhen-Ying Pei, Xiong Zhang, Qiu-Juan Du, Qiang Tang, Jun Li, Guo-Xiang He, Department of Cardiology, Guiqian International General Hospital, Guiyang 550018, Guizhou Province, China

Corresponding author: Mo-Wei Kong, MD, Doctor, Department of Cardiology, Guiqian International General Hospital, No. 1 Dongfeng Avenue, Wudang, Guiyang 550018, Guizhou Province, China. 1600181272@qq.com

#### Abstract

Despite the high prevalence of straight back syndrome (SBS), there is still limited research on this condition, posing challenges for effective diagnosis and treatment. The disease has been known for a long time, but there have been few related studies, which mostly consist of case reports. These studies have not been systematically summarized, making it difficult to meet the current needs of diagnosis and treatment. This article summarized the existing literature and comprehensively reviewed the diagnosis, pathogenesis, treatment, and research status of mitral valve prolapse related to SBS. We specifically emphasized the mechanisms and prognosis of SBS combined with mitral valve prolapse and discussed the latest research progress in this disease.

Key Words: Straight back syndrome; Mitral valve prolapse; Arrhythmia; Review; Diagnosis; Treatment

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Straight back syndrome (SBS), a benign skeletal abnormality of the thorax, is typically accompanied by mitral valve prolapse. Despite its prevalence, there is limited research on this condition, making effective diagnosis and treatment challenging. Recent studies have revealed controversy on SBS and its related mechanisms. This review focused on the mechanisms and current research progress of SBS associated with mitral valve prolapse.

Citation: Kong MW, Pei ZY, Zhang X, Du QJ, Tang Q, Li J, He GX. Related mechanisms and research progress in straight back syndrome. *World J Cardiol* 2023; 15(10): 479-486 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/479.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.479

#### INTRODUCTION

Straight back syndrome (SBS), also known as flat chest syndrome, is characterized by the disappearance of the normal kyphotic curvature of the thoracic spine, which results in a decrease in the anterior-posterior diameter of the chest and restriction of the heart (Figure 1). It was first reported by Rawlings[1] in 1960. Due to the presence of heart murmurs during cardiac examinations, patients are often referred to the cardiology department for evaluation[2]. Mitral valve prolapse (MVP) is a valvular heart disease characterized by soft texture of the mitral valve, which can billow upward and back into the left atrium during heart contraction (prolapse). Prolapse of the mitral valve can lead to mitral regurgitation. If the MVP causes significant enlargement of the atria, arrhythmias may occur. Previously, SBS-associated MVP was considered a "pseudo-heart disease," and patients may have no symptoms or only mild clinical symptoms such as chest tightness and shortness of breath. Even when severe symptoms occur, they are mostly thought to be due to mechanical and structural changes resulting from compression of the large blood vessels in the heart[3]. However, recent studies have found that SBS-associated MVP may be related to the expression of genes, which has attracted wide attention and controversy[2].

In clinical practice, some patients with MVP are often misdiagnosed as having "senile valve disease" or "congenital heart disease" due to the lack of primary disease diagnostic criteria. In the clinic, it is not uncommon for SBS to cause changes in cardiac structure and circulatory function[4]. However, the clinical manifestations can vary widely, often leading to misdiagnosis. Unfortunately, despite being discovered over 60 years ago, research on this subject remains scarce and often centers on case reports. Presently, these studies lack systematic summarization and fail to meet the current diagnostic and treatment reference needs. Therefore, this article comprehensively reviewed the literature on the diagnosis, pathogenesis, treatment, and research status of SBS-related MVP and provided clinical assistance by summarizing the latest and most significant achievements in this field.

#### DIAGNOSIS AND EPIDEMIOLOGY

SBS is a benign thoracic skeletal malformation that is often misdiagnosed as heart disease as it can cause heart murmurs detectable on physical examination[5]. Patients are usually asymptomatic, and the most common symptoms are chest pain and palpitations. However, there is a lack of large-scale epidemiological investigations into the incidence of SBS in the general population. A previous study by Jiang and Li[6] reported that among 114 SBS patients, the vast majority of cases (108) occurred in individuals under 40 years of age, with approximately 60% (66 cases) occurring in those aged between 20-40 years. The prevalence in females was higher than that in males. The incidence rate significantly decreased, and symptoms were milder in patients over 40 years of age, which may be due to reduced lung tissue and chest wall elasticity with increasing age, leading to natural alleviation of the condition[7]. A study in 2022 found that thoracic vertebrae may undergo degenerative changes with increasing age. In the general population, this change may cause excessive thoracic kyphosis, but in patients with SBS, it may relieve symptoms[8].

In 1956, Deleon *et al*[9] first proposed a diagnostic criterion for SBS, which was a ratio of anterior-posterior to transverse thoracic diameter less than 1/3 measured at the T8 level. In 1980, Davies *et al*[10] revised this criterion and proposed a diagnostic criterion for SBS on lateral chest radiographs, where the distance from the midpoint of the T8 vertebral body to the vertical line connecting the anterior borders of T4 and T12 was less than 1.2 cm (Figure 2). SBS typically occurs in young, lean individuals who lack normal thoracic kyphosis, leading to a decreased sagittal diameter of the thorax[11]. Auscultation may reveal splitting of the second heart sound, and a prominent murmur is generally caused by compression of the right ventricular outflow tract by the sternum, which lessens with deep inspiration. X-ray examination is the most important diagnostic method, especially left lateral images, where the spinal thoracic segments appear straight and the sagittal diameter is narrowed. Twigg *et al*[12] measured the ratio of thoracic anterior-posterior to transverse diameter in 24 patients with SBS and 100 normal individuals, revealing a mean ratio of 37.1%, which is lower than the normal value of 40.0%. Furthermore, X-ray features may include a heart-thorax ratio  $\leq$  0.5, protruding pulmonary artery segments, leftward shift of the cardiac silhouette, or signs of a pseudo-enlarged heart. In SBS patients, electrocardiography generally demonstrates normal values. In some patients, due to compression of the heart and positional changes, V1 leads may show a rsR' pattern, avR for the Qr pattern, R/S > 1, or R/S = 1, and some individual patients may exhibit high voltage of the left ventricle, sinus bradycardia, and incomplete right bundle branch block.

In some ultrasonography results of SBS patients, there may be a concomitant finding of MVP. Previous studies have suggested that this may be related to the compression-induced deformation of the mitral valve due to narrowing of the sagittal diameter[13]. However, a study conducted in 2020 indicated that both SBS and MVP may be inherited in an autosomal dominant manner[14]. It is believed that the vertebral malformation occurs during the 8<sup>th</sup> wk of gestation before ossification of the spine, and the penetrance is incomplete, with a higher expression frequency observed in female subjects. It has been reported in the international literature that 17%-23% of MVP patients have scoliosis, while 54%-67%



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.479 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Differentiating between normal individuals and individuals with straight back syndrome with physiological distortion. A: The human spine typically exhibits physiological curvature; B: In individuals diagnosed with straight back syndrome, this curvature is noticeably absent.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.479 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

#### Figure 2 Diagnostic criterion for straight back syndrome on lateral chest radiographs, where the distance from the midpoint of the T8 vertebral body to a vertical line connecting the anterior borders of T4 and T12 is less than 1.2 cm.

of scoliosis patients have concomitant MVP[15]. Based on these studies, it can be inferred that the higher incidence of MVP in SBS is not only a result of physical factors but is also related to genetic factors. National literature has not reported such a high incidence rate, which may be due to inadequate knowledge at the time.

#### SBS WITH COMORBIDITY MECHANISMS

SBS is often associated with several complications, and the underlying mechanisms are still not fully understood. One theory suggests that compression of the thorax could reduce lung capacity and cause hypoxia, leading to various cardiovascular and respiratory problems. Recent studies have shown that compression may also affect the functioning of the autonomic nervous system, leading to abnormal heart rate variability[16]. Additionally, the reduced sagittal diameter of the chest could lead to mechanical distortion of the heart and major vessels, causing abnormal blood flow [17]. In the study by Grillo et al[18], MVP was the most common associated cardiac disease, occurring in approximately 64% of SBS cases. Some studies suggest that the high incidence of MVP and scoliosis in SBS patients may be related to a common genetic background, but further research is needed to clarify this relationship.

#### Mechanisms underlying the co-occurrence of MVP in SBS

In several previous studies, there was consistent evidence of the co-occurrence of SBS and MVP[19], but it was not until



Baishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

2017 that Movahed *et al*[20] demonstrated a statistically significant association between these two conditions. In their study, 77% of SBS patients underwent mitral valve repair or replacement due to severe mitral regurgitation caused by MVP. There are two hypotheses regarding the mechanism of SBS co-occurring with MVP. The first hypothesis, proposed by Chen *et al*[3], suggests that scoliosis and MVP are both manifestations of a more common disease, which is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner with incomplete penetrance. Family studies have found a tendency towards clustering of MVP and scoliosis, indicating that these diseases may have a genetic basis.

Additionally, a number of genome-wide association studies have identified several genetic variations associated with SBS, some of which may affect the susceptibility of MVP and scoliosis. For example, one study found that the *LRP2* gene located at 9q22.32 was associated with the susceptibility of scoliosis and MVP[21], whereas another study found a close relationship between the *EFEMP1* gene located at 5q35.3 and both scoliosis and MVP[22]. Furthermore, recent research has suggested that the MVP comorbidity in SBS may be related to the TGF- $\beta$  signaling pathway, which induces cardiomyocyte apoptosis and promotes fibroblast proliferation[23].

It has also been discovered that SBS and floppy mitral valve disease are both inherited in an autosomal dominant manner with a significant family history, and three possible gene loci (16p12.1-p11.2, 11p15.4, and 13p31.3-p32.1) have been reported[24]. Floppy mitral valve causes enlargement of the mitral valve orifice area, elongation or rupture of the chordae tendineae, and enlargement of the mitral annulus, ultimately leading to MVP. It is believed that these malformations occur during the 8<sup>th</sup> wk of gestation before ossification of the spine, with incomplete penetrance and higher expression frequency in female subjects[4]. These studies suggest that genetic variations and molecular mechanisms may play important roles in the high incidence of MVP and scoliosis in SBS patients. However, the notion of a "more common disease" proposed by Chen *et al*[3] has yet to be proven.

Another hypothesis suggests that physical compression is a primary factor leading to the co-occurrence of MVP in SBS. The thoracic spine of SBS patients loses its normal posterior convex curvature, resulting in a decreased distance between the sternum and spine. This leads to compression of the heart and torsion of the major vessels, ultimately leading to distorted mitral valve morphology due to pressure[25]. The study by Chen *et al*[3] indirectly supported this view using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging to identify a correlation between the site of cardiac compression in SBS patients and the occurrence of arrhythmia. This evidence indicated that some, if not all, of the cardiac alterations seen in SBS are influenced by physical compression factors.

#### Mechanisms underlying the cardiac morphological changes and arrhythmia comorbidity in SBS

The causes of cardiac morphological abnormalities in SBS may include: (1) Differing degrees of cardiac pulsation restriction due to varying degrees of front-to-back narrowing of the thoracic cavity caused by flat thoracic vertebrae; (2) Left atrial compression, which increases pulmonary circulation resistance and reduces returning blood volume; and (3) Long-term frequent rapid arrhythmia causing cardiac enlargement and decreased cardiac function. In the study by Chen *et al*[3] among SBS patients with cardiac morphological abnormalities, 54.2% showed a consistent location between arrhythmia origin and the cardiac compression site, suggesting that mechanical compression of the heart may lead to enhanced aberrant electrophysiological activity in the heart through the activation of self-regulatory mechanisms.

Previous understanding of SBS was limited to chest wall deformities, which may cause mild symptoms such as palpitations, chest tightness, and chest pain, while severe cases may have morphological functional changes in the heart chambers, valves, and major vessels. However, recent studies have compared cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, electrocardiogram, and electrophysiological data of 43 SBS patients and found a relationship between the cardiac compression site and arrhythmia occurrence in addition to the morphological and functional changes caused by flat chest walls[3]. This study proposed that arrhythmias are the result of cardiac compression. However, a study conducted in 2013, found that MVP comorbid with various arrhythmias is very common, with ventricular arrhythmias being the most frequent, potentially due to increased sympathetic nervous activity and stimulation of the myocardium by prolonged chordae tendineae[26]. Given that MVP frequently co-occurs with SBS, it may be one of the reasons for the frequent occurrence of arrhythmias in SBS. This view has been partially confirmed by recent research. In the study by Xia *et al*[27], 8.3% of MVP patients were found to have preexcitation syndrome, and follow-up results showed a generally good prognosis for SBS comorbid with MVP.

#### SBS comorbid with cardiac murmurs

In SBS patients, cardiac murmurs may sometimes be heard on auscultation, but detailed examination often reveals no cardiac abnormalities. There have been reports of SBS being misdiagnosed as cardiac diseases with abnormal heart sounds, such as atrial septal defect, pulmonary valve stenosis, or mitral regurgitation[3]. The mechanism underlying cardiac murmurs in SBS has not been well studied, but a more credible explanation is that the loss of thoracic physiological kyphosis in SBS patients causes displacement of the heart and great vessels. This leads to the right ventricle and pulmonary artery being closer to the posterior sternum, increasing the contact area between the sternum and the posterior heart margin, resulting in a "strengthened" jet effect of blood flow, almost invariably causing grade I-III systolic murmurs in the pulmonary valve auscultation area of each patient[28]. Due to prolonged compression of the heart on the dorsal margin of the sternum, the heart is subjected to long-term overload, causing hypertrophy of cardiomyocytes characterized by increased cell volume, diameter, and length. When hypertrophy reaches the critical limit, it increases the systolic wall tension of the ventricular wall, leading to the parallel proliferation of myocardial fiber cells, followed by thickening of the myocardial fibers. As a result, the thickness of the ventricular wall increases and the cavity does not expand significantly, leading to outflow tract obstruction and the production of murmurs (Figure 3).

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.479 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Comparison of right ventricular outflow tract between normal patients and patients with straight back syndrome. A: Right ventricular outflow tract patency in a normal individual; B: Right ventricular hypertrophy and narrowing of the right ventricular outflow tract in a patient with straight back syndrome.

#### RESEARCH STATUS

It has been over 60 years since SBS was first reported in 1960[1]. Despite the long history, the literature on this topic remains relatively scarce, with case reports dominating the available data (Figure 4). According to recent statistics, the past 10 years have seen the greatest SBS-related research activity, and significant breakthroughs have been made.

Xu et al[29] conducted a retrospective analysis of 16 cases of misdiagnosed situs inversus totalis and summarized the clinical features of SBS patients. The authors emphasized the importance of chest X-ray lateral films and concluded that echocardiography is an effective diagnostic tool for SBS. Another study conducted in the same year also highlighted the importance of chest X-ray lateral films as a key diagnostic feature of SBS (Figure 5)[30].

Hou et al [31] investigated a method for diagnosing SBS by combining the ratio of the distance from the anterior edge of the T8 vertebral body to the posterior edge of the sternum to the anterior-posterior diameter of the thorax with the ratio of the distance from the anterior edge of the T8 vertebral body to the posterior edge of the sternum to the transverse diameter of the thorax and the curvature arc height from T3 to T12. Recently, studies have also shown that this diagnostic method was more reliable for diagnosing SBS[32-35]. In a recent study of 1569 randomly selected patients who underwent 64-row chest computed tomography (CT) scans, it was found that CT could identify signs that were not visible on X-ray films, leading to a more accurate diagnosis of SBS and a better correlation of clinical symptoms with imaging findings, as has also been reported in studies overseas. Matsumoto et al[33] recently used echocardiography and right ventricular angiography to uncover the mechanism underlying the change in heart murmur with respiration, which they found to be due to variation in the diameter of the right ventricular outflow tract during respiration. It was not until 2017 that Marbella et al[34] investigated the statistical correlation between SBS and MVP and revealed that 27% of patients with severe mitral valve regurgitation caused by MVP also had SBS.

In terms of treatment, Betz et al[35] reported the successful case of a 19-year-old patient with SBS who presented with spinal pain and exertional dyspnea. The patient's symptoms were relieved by a 12-wk course of treatment involving corrective exercises, traction, and posture adjustment. In another study, the use of 3D printing technology to simulate chest wall replacement tissue was reported to alleviate severe compression symptoms in an SBS patient[17]. Another complication of SBS is tracheomalacia caused by chronic compression of the trachea and main bronchi, resulting in decreased mediastinal diameter. In 2021, Schmid et al[36] successfully cured a 36-year-old female patient suffering from this condition by proximal aortic, brachial artery, sternoplasty, and anterior tracheal fixation surgery.

SBS is a benign thoracic skeletal abnormality that is usually associated with MVP and a heart murmur often detected during physical examination. Patients are usually asymptomatic, with chest pain and palpitations being the most common symptoms. X-ray examination is the most important diagnostic tool, showing a straightened thoracic spine and a decreased anterior-posterior diameter in the thoracic segment. Recent studies have confirmed the importance of echocardiography and CT in the diagnosis of SBS. The mechanism of SBS with MVP may be due to genetic or physical factors (compression), and the mechanism of heart murmur may also be due to physical factors or indirect causes following MVP.

Although SBS was discovered some time ago, there have been relatively few related studies. Recent studies have explored the importance of diagnostic tools in SBS and reemphasized the clinical features of SBS to avoid misdiagnosis. Some studies have also identified the mechanisms of arrhythmia in patients with SBS and the possible mechanism of heart murmur changing with respiration. Progress has been made in the treatment of SBS in some patients with severe compression symptoms through corrective exercise, traction, 3D printing technology, and surgery.

All these studies have achieved success under the development of new equipment and technologies, which may be one of the reasons for the rapid increase in related research in the past decade. Looking back on the development of medicine





Figure 4 Distribution of straight back syndrome publications from 1953 to 2022.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.479 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 Chest X-ray film of a patient with straight back syndrome. A: Lateral chest X-ray; B: Anteroposterior chest X-ray.

in recent years, adjusting or updating existing diagnostic and treatment methods to improve the quality of life of SBS patients and reduce or eliminate serious complications caused by diseases is the focus of clinical physicians and an important direction of academic research. We hope that this article will serve as a stimulus for future research and provide new ideas.

#### CONCLUSION

SBS is a thoracic skeletal malformation often accompanied by MVP. Diagnostic criteria include the ratio of anteriorposterior to transverse thoracic diameter and specific X-ray features. The co-occurrence of SBS and MVP may be due to genetic variation and molecular mechanisms or physical compression. Cardiac morphology and arrhythmia in SBS may be caused by restricted cardiac pulsation, left atrial compression, and sympathetic activity. Recent studies have emphasized the importance of chest X-rays, echocardiography, and CT scans for diagnosing SBS. New methods for diagnosing SBS with MVP have been proposed. Treatment options include exercise, traction, posture adjustment, 3D printing, and surgical interventions.

Beishideng® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to Li-Gang Xiao and Chun-Jiao Zhao for their valuable feedback and constructive suggestions on the manuscript. We also thank Yun-Bo Lai, Wen-Qing Zhang, and Li Xu for their efforts in translating and polishing the manuscript.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: He GX and Li J provided crucial suggestions and guidance for the writing; Kong MW wrote the manuscript; Pei ZY, Zhang X, Du QJ, and Tang Q reviewed and revised the manuscript; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Mo-Wei Kong 0000-0002-1214-164X.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yuan YY

#### REFERENCES

- Rawlings MS. The "straight back" syndrome, a new cause of pseudoheart disease. Am J Cardiol 1960; 5: 333-338 [PMID: 14436592 DOI: 1 10.1016/0002-9149(60)90080-1]
- 2 Wei MD, Yang K. Straight back syndrome and frequent ventricular premature beats. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2022; 23: e325 [PMID: 35639936 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jeac102]
- Chen L, Ma XH, Zhao L, Bai R, Li SN, Wang L, Chen H, Fan ZM, Lou MW, Niu YD. Preliminary investigation of the relationship between 3 straight-back syndrome and idiopathic arrhythmias by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Zhonghua Xinxueguan Zazhi 2017; 45: 948-953 [DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0253-3758.2017.11.010]
- Datey KK, Deshmukh MM, Engineer SD, Dalvi CP. Straight Back Syndrome. Br Heart J 1964; 26: 614-619 [PMID: 14213021 DOI: 4 10.1136/hrt.26.5.614]
- 5 Shiba H, Kenzaka T. Straight Back Syndrome Presented with Chest and Back Pain: A Case Report. Int Med Case Rep J 2022; 15: 611-614 [PMID: 36338542 DOI: 10.2147/IMCRJ.S385312]
- Jiang SB, Li RY. Diagnosis and treatment of straight-back syndrome. Tianjin Yiyao 1983; 7: 422-424 6
- Liu JX. Straight-back syndrome. Linchuang Huicui 1993; 19: 909-910 7
- Schmid S. Highly Variable Clinical Manifestations of Straight Back Syndrome in the Young and the Elderly. Ann Thorac Surg 2022; 113: 8 2107 [PMID: 34166638 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2021.05.069]
- Deleon AC Jr, Perloff JK, Twigg H, Majd M. The Straight Back Syndrome: Clinical Cardiovascular Manifestations. Circulation 1965; 32: 9 193-203 [PMID: 14340945 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.32.2.193]
- Davies MK, Mackintosh P, Cayton RM, Page AJ, Shiu MF, Littler WA. The straight back syndrome. O J Med 1980; 49: 443-460 [PMID: 10 7267961
- Shen C, Che G. Straight Back Syndrome in an Elderly Patient. Ann Thorac Surg 2022; 113: 2106 [PMID: 33974892 DOI: 11 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2021.03.113]
- Twigg HL, De Leon A, Perloff JK, Maid M. The straight-back syndrome: radiographic manifestations. Radiology 1967; 88: 274-277 [PMID: 12 6016928 DOI: 10.1148/88.2.274]
- Soleti P, Wilson B, Vijayakumar AR, Chakravarthi PI, Reddy CG. An interesting case of straight back syndrome and review of the literature. 13 Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2016; 24: 63-65 [PMID: 24906631 DOI: 10.1177/0218492314539335]
- Perez-Downes JC, Leon A, Reddy P. Straight Back Syndrome. J Am Osteopath Assoc 2020; 120: 485 [PMID: 32598464 DOI: 14 10.7556/jaoa.2020.078]
- Udoshi MB, Shah A, Fisher VJ, Dolgin M. Incidence of mitral valve prolapse in subjects with thoracic skeletal abnormalities--a prospective 15 study. Am Heart J 1979; 97: 303-311 [PMID: 420069 DOI: 10.1016/0002-8703(79)90429-0]
- Federman M, Sutton RM, Reeder RW, Ahmed T, Bell MJ, Berg RA, Bishop R, Bochkoris M, Burns C, Carcillo JA, Carpenter TC, Dean JM, 16 Diddle JW, Fernandez R, Fink EL, Franzon D, Frazier AH, Friess SH, Graham K, Hall M, Hehir DA, Horvat CM, Huard LL, Kirkpatrick T, Maa T, Maitoza LA, Manga A, McQuillen PS, Meert KL, Morgan RW, Mourani PM, Nadkarni VM, Notterman D, Palmer CA, Pollack MM, Sapru A, Schneiter C, Sharron MP, Srivastava N, Tilford B, Viteri S, Wessel D, Wolfe HA, Yates AR, Zuppa AF, Naim MY. Survival With Favorable Neurologic Outcome and Quality of Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation Following In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in Children With Cardiac Disease Compared With Noncardiac Disease. Pediatr Crit Care Med 2023 [PMID: 37678381 DOI: 10.1097/PCC.00000000003368]
- Liu Y, Wang W, Long W, Cai B, Chen C, Guan S, Luo J, Chen K. Chest wall reconstruction with digitally designed materials for straight back 17



syndrome with tracheal stenosis: a case report. Ann Transl Med 2021; 9: 1357 [PMID: 34532494 DOI: 10.21037/atm-21-3976]

- Grillo HC, Wright CD, Dartevelle PG, Wain JC, Murakami S. Tracheal compression caused by straight back syndrome, chest wall deformity, 18 and anterior spinal displacement: techniques for relief. Ann Thorac Surg 2005; 80: 2057-2062 [PMID: 16305844 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2005.05.026]
- 19 Serratto M, Kezdi P. Absence of the physiologic dorsal kyphosis. Cardiac signs and hemodynamic manifestations. Ann Intern Med 1963; 58: 938-945 [PMID: 13988135 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-58-6-938]
- Movahed A, Majdalany D, Gillinov M, Schiavone W. Association Between Myxomatous Mitral Valve Disease and Skeletal Back 20 Abnormalities. J Heart Valve Dis 2017; 26: 564-568 [PMID: 29762925]
- Jones G, Johnson K, Eason J, Hamilton M, Osio D, Kanani F, Baptista J, Suri M. Traboulsi syndrome caused by mutations in ASPH: An 21 autosomal recessive disorder with overlapping features of Marfan syndrome. Eur J Med Genet 2022; 65: 104572 [PMID: 35918038 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2022.104572]
- Xu E, Shao W, Jiang H, Lin T, Gao R, Zhou X. A Genetic Variant in GPR126 Causing a Decreased Inclusion of Exon 6 Is Associated with 22 Cartilage Development in Adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis Population. Biomed Res Int 2019; 2019: 4678969 [PMID: 30886859 DOI: 10.1155/2019/4678969]
- Kou I, Takahashi Y, Johnson TA, Takahashi A, Guo L, Dai J, Qiu X, Sharma S, Takimoto A, Ogura Y, Jiang H, Yan H, Kono K, Kawakami 23 N, Uno K, Ito M, Minami S, Yanagida H, Taneichi H, Hosono N, Tsuji T, Suzuki T, Sudo H, Kotani T, Yonezawa I, Londono D, Gordon D, Herring JA, Watanabe K, Chiba K, Kamatani N, Jiang Q, Hiraki Y, Kubo M, Toyama Y, Tsunoda T, Wise CA, Qiu Y, Shukunami C, Matsumoto M, Ikegawa S. Genetic variants in GPR126 are associated with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Nat Genet 2013; 45: 676-679 [PMID: 23666238 DOI: 10.1038/ng.2639]
- Disse S, Abergel E, Berrebi A, Houot AM, Le Heuzey JY, Diebold B, Guize L, Carpentier A, Corvol P, Jeunemaitre X. Mapping of a first 24 locus for autosomal dominant myxomatous mitral-valve prolapse to chromosome 16p11.2-p12.1. Am J Hum Genet 1999; 65: 1242-1251 [PMID: 10521289 DOI: 10.1086/302624]
- 25 Wright CD. Straight Back Syndrome. Thorac Surg Clin 2017; 27: 133-137 [PMID: 28363367 DOI: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2017.01.006]
- Kubala M, Essayagh B, Michelena HI, Enriquez-Sarano M, Tribouilloy C. Arrhythmic mitral valve prolapse in 2023: Evidence-based update. 26 Front Cardiovasc Med 2023; 10: 1130174 [PMID: 37144062 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2023.1130174]
- 27 Xia J, Ma XJ, Xie SR, He YF, Cheng G, Wu M. Diagnostic value of real-time three-dimensional transesophageal echocardiography for the diagnosis of mitral valve prolapse. Zhonghua Yixue Chaosheng Zazhi 2021; 18: 941-947
- Ansari A. The "straight back" syndrome: current perspective more often associated with valvular heart disease than pseudoheart disease: a 28 prospective clinical, electrocardiographic, roentgenographic, and echocardiographic study of 50 patients. Clin Cardiol 1985; 8: 290-305 [PMID: 3995803 DOI: 10.1002/clc.4960080509]
- 29 Xu WJ, Wang Y, Lv LH, Ge HL. Analysis of 16 Misdiagnosed Patients with the Straight Back Syndrome. Linchuan Wuzhi 2013; 26: 36-38
- 30 Bai YG. "Straight back syndrome" X-ray diagnosis. Zhongguo Nongchun Weisheng 2013; 270-271
- Hou YH, Chen DQ, Zhang L. The diagnostic value of increasing the anterior distance to the posterior sternal margin/anterior and posterior 31 thoracic diameter ratio in straight back syndrome. Shanxi Zhigong Yixueyuan Xuebao 2016; 26: 9-11
- Yang G, Zhang MH, Yu YF, Zhang LH, Wang YX, Cao XQ. Analysis of the 64-row CT signs of straight-back syndrome. Zhejiang Linchuang 32 Yixue 2018; 683-685
- 33 Matsumoto Y, Nitta M, Nakashima R, Matsumoto K, Sugano T, Ishigami T, Ishikawa T, Tamura K, Kimura K. A mechanism of a cardiac murmur with respiratory variation in a patient with straight back syndrome. J Cardiol Cases 2020; 22: 230-233 [PMID: 33133316 DOI: 10.1016/i.iccase.2020.07.008]
- Marbella Fernández D, García V, Santana AJ, Montoya-Alonso JA. The Thoracic Inlet Length as a Reference Point to Radiographically 34 Assess Cardiac Enlargement in Dogs with Myxomatous Mitral Valve Disease. Animals (Basel) 2023; 13 [PMID: 37627458 DOI: 10.3390/ani13162666]
- Betz JW, Oakley PA, Harrison DE. Relief of exertional dyspnea and spinal pains by increasing the thoracic kyphosis in straight back syndrome 35 (thoracic hypo-kyphosis) using CBP(®) methods: a case report with long-term follow-up. J Phys Ther Sci 2018; 30: 185-189 [PMID: 29410595 DOI: 10.1589/jpts.30.185]
- Schmid S, Schibilsky D, Kalbhenn J, Hassan M, Loop T, Passlick B, Beyersdorf F, Czerny M. Reconstruction of the Mediastinum and 36 Tracheopexy for Tracheomalacia in Straight Back Syndrome. Ann Thorac Surg 2021; 112: e41-e44 [PMID: 33421398 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2020.11.045]



W J C World Journ Cardiology World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 487-499

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.487

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

## Value of cardiac magnetic resonance on the risk stratification of cardiomyopathies

Rafael Vidal-Perez, Mariana Brandão, Wael Zaher, Ruben Casado-Arroyo, Alberto Bouzas-Mosquera, Ricardo Fontes-Carvalho, Jose Manuel Vazquez-Rodriguez

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Barison A, Italy; Yang YQ, China

Received: July 30, 2023 Peer-review started: July 30, 2023 First decision: September 4, 2023 Revised: September 18, 2023 Accepted: September 27, 2023 Article in press: September 27, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Rafael Vidal-Perez, Alberto Bouzas-Mosquera, Servicio de Cardiología, Unidad de Imagen y Función Cardíaca, Complexo Hospitalario Universitario A Coruña Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Cardiovasculares (CIBERCV), A Coruña 15006, Galicia, Spain

Mariana Brandão, Ricardo Fontes-Carvalho, Department of Cardiology, Centro Hospitalar de Vila Nova de Gaia/Espinho, Vila Nova de Gaia 4434-502, Portugal

Wael Zaher, Ruben Casado-Arroyo, Department of Cardiology, Hôpital Erasme, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels 1070, Brussels, Belgium

Ricardo Fontes-Carvalho, Cardiovascular R&D Centre - UnIC@RISE, Department of Surgery and Physiology, Faculty of Medicine of the University of Porto, Porto 4200-319, Portugal

Jose Manuel Vazquez-Rodriguez, Servicio de Cardiología, Complexo Hospitalario Universitario A Coruña, A Coruña 15006, A Coruña, Spain

Corresponding author: Rafael Vidal-Perez, FACC, FESC, PhD, Reader (Associate Professor), Staff Physician, Servicio de Cardiología, Unidad de Imagen y Función Cardíaca, Complexo Hospitalario Universitario A Coruña Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Cardiovasculares (CIBERCV), As Xubias de Arriba-84, A Coruña 15006, Galicia, Spain. rafavidal@hotmail.com

#### Abstract

Cardiomyopathies represent a diverse group of heart muscle diseases with varying etiologies, presenting a diagnostic challenge due to their heterogeneous manifestations. Regular evaluation using cardiac imaging techniques is imperative as symptoms can evolve over time. These imaging approaches are pivotal for accurate diagnosis, treatment planning, and optimizing prognostic outcomes. Among these, cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) stands out for its ability to provide precise anatomical and functional assessments. This manuscript explores the significant contributions of CMR in the diagnosis and management of patients with cardiomyopathies, with special attention to risk stratification. CMR's high spatial resolution and tissue characterization capabilities enable early detection and differentiation of various cardiomyopathy subtypes. Additionally, it offers valuable insights into myocardial fibrosis, tissue viability, and left ventricular function, crucial parameters for risk stratification and predicting adverse cardiac events. By integrating CMR into clinical practice, clinicians can tailor



patient-specific treatment plans, implement timely interventions, and optimize long-term prognosis. The noninvasive nature of CMR reduces the need for invasive procedures, minimizing patient discomfort. This review highlights the vital role of CMR in monitoring disease progression, guiding treatment decisions, and identifying potential complications in patients with cardiomyopathies. The utilization of CMR has significantly advanced our understanding and management of these complex cardiac conditions, leading to improved patient outcomes and a more personalized approach to care.

**Key Words**: Cardiac magnetic resonance; Cardiomyopathies; Prognosis; Dilated cardiomyopathy; Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy; Restrictive cardiomyopathy

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Cardiomyopathies encompass a diverse range of diseases affecting the heart muscle, each with varied causes. Symptoms of cardiomyopathies can manifest differently and change over time, necessitating regular evaluation through cardiac imaging techniques. These approaches play a crucial role in diagnosis, treatment guidance, and prognosis optimization. To enhance the precision of anatomical and functional evaluation and obtain valuable prognostic insights, cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) is typically employed. By integrating CMR into clinical practice, clinicians can tailor patient-specific treatment plans, implement timely interventions, and optimize long-term prognosis This manuscript aims to explore how the CMR contribute to the diagnosis and management of patients with cardiomyopathies specially focus on the risk stratification.

**Citation:** Vidal-Perez R, Brandão M, Zaher W, Casado-Arroyo R, Bouzas-Mosquera A, Fontes-Carvalho R, Vazquez-Rodriguez JM. Value of cardiac magnetic resonance on the risk stratification of cardiomyopathies. *World J Cardiol* 2023; 15(10): 487-499 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/487.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.487

#### INTRODUCTION

Cardiomyopathies encompass a diverse range of diseases affecting the heart muscle, each with varied causes. The European Society of Cardiology (ESC) traditionally categorizes them into hypertrophic, dilated, arrhythmogenic, restrictive, or other forms[1]. Moreover, they are further classified as either familial/genetic or non-familial/non-genetic. We must highlight that this classification is highly discussed[2].

Symptoms of cardiomyopathies can manifest differently and change over time, necessitating regular evaluation through cardiac imaging techniques. These approaches play a crucial role in diagnosis, treatment guidance, and prognosis optimization.

Patient evaluation involves gathering medical history, conducting a physical examination, and performing an electrocardiogram (ECG). Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) can raise suspicions of cardiomyopathy. To enhance the precision of anatomical and functional evaluation and obtain valuable prognostic insights, cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) is typically employed. In some cases, nuclear medicine tests or cardiovascular computed tomography may also be necessary.

This manuscript aims to explore how the CMR contribute to the diagnosis and management of patients with cardiomyopathies.

#### CARDIOMYOPATHIES WITH DILATED PHENOTYPE

CMR plays a crucial role in the diagnosis and evaluation of dilated cardiomyopathies (DCM). We usually distinguish the DCM on the basis of the etiology between two groups, the non-ischemic DCM (NIDCM) and ischemic DCM (IDCM).

#### Non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy

CMR plays a crucial role in the diagnosis and management of NIDCM. NIDCM is characterized by left ventricular (LV) enlargement, systolic dysfunction, and myocardial fibrosis without significant coronary artery disease[3] and absence of other abnormal loading conditions like hypertension, valvular heart disease or congenital heart disease. CMR provides a noninvasive and accurate assessment of LV morphology, function, and remodeling[3]. It allows for the quantification of myocardial fibrosis, which is useful in assessing viability in ischemic cardiomyopathy[4]. CMR can also provide detailed and clinically useful information about the type and severity of cardiac damage by characterizing tissue changes in the myocardium[5].

Raisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

One important application of CMR in NIDCM is the identification and characterization of fibrosis microstructure. Late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) imaging, a technique used in CMR, can detect enhancement patterns associated with fibrosis in NIDCM patients[6]. Fibrosis microstructure has been found to modulate reentry in NIDCM, and understanding these variations can improve risk stratification and guide treatment decision[6]. Computational modeling based on CMR images has been used to examine variations in fibrosis microstructure and quantify their effect on reentry inducibility and mechanism[6]. This information can help identify patients at high risk of sudden cardiac death (SCD) and guide the selection of appropriate interventions[6]. CMR is also valuable in differentiating NIDCM from other cardiomyopathies. CMR-derived myocardial parameters, such as total LV myocardial mass index and percentage of non-compacted myocardium, have been found to be discriminators between patients with LV non-compaction cardiomyopathies, and healthy controls[6]. This differentiation is important for accurate diagnosis and appropriate management of patients with NIDCM[7].

Furthermore, CMR can provide prognostic information in NIDCM. Global longitudinal strain (GLS) of the left ventricle measured by CMR feature tracking (FT) analysis has revealed enhanced prognostic utility when compared to conventional parameters in NIDCM[8]. Moreover, researchers have investigated the prognostic significance of right ventricular (RV) GLS through CMR-FT analysis has been evaluated in a cohort of individuals with NIDCM[8]. These investigations collectively highlight the promising ability of CMR to predict significant cardiac events and events related to heart failure in patients with NIDCM[8].

In relation with sequences like T2-STIR, T1, T2 and Extracellular volume (ECV) mapping there is controversial data some experts state that T1 and ECV have limited value that is explained by the reduced precision in NIDCM due to thinning of the myocardium[9]. Other authors have claimed some potential value of T1 and ECV, elevated ECV and T1 measurements have demonstrated prognostic significance regardless of LV ejection fraction (LVEF) and the presence of LGE[10]. Moreover, an elevated native T2 value suggests the potential existence of myocardial edema, potentially indicating the presence of inflammatory cardiomyopathy[11]. These methods present encouraging novel approaches for risk assessment; nevertheless, additional validation remains necessary.

In summary, CMR is playing a crucial role in the diagnosis, risk stratification, and prognostication of NIDCM. It provides valuable information about LV morphology, function, and remodeling, as well as the presence and characteristics of myocardial fibrosis. CMR can differentiate NIDCM from other cardiomyopathies and help guide treatment decisions. Additionally, CMR-derived parameters, such as GLS, have shown prognostic value in NIDCM. Overall, CMR is a valuable tool in the comprehensive evaluation and management of NIDCM patients.

#### Ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy

CMR plays a crucial role in the diagnosis and evaluation of IDCM. IDCM is a type of DCM that is caused by ischemic heart disease (IHD)[12]. Approximately 70% of heart failure cases have been attributed to IHD[13]. From the SOLVD study, IHD tended to have a greater impact than NIDCM, with double the risk of hospitalization and quadruple the risk of death[14].

CMR as we shown before this technique can aid in the differentiation of ischemic from non-ischemic cardiomyopathy subtypes. Currently, CMR-derived cardiac imaging is effective for both definition of IHD and for ischemia detection, with important diagnostic and prognostic implications[15].

The "function-perfusion-tissue characterization" triad should be studied in IHD for an adequate evaluation of cardiac viability and ischemic burden. As mentioned, the subendocardial distribution of LGE identifies an ischemic injury as opposed to fibrosis with meso- or subepicardial distribution, typical of non-ischemic alterations[16] CMR is also effective in defining myocardial viability through discrimination of LGE extension and segmental kinesis[4,17].

From the SPINS registry, extensive ischemic burden was related to a higher risk of major cardiac event, including hospitalization for congestive heart failure (HF), and revascularization was associated with a protective effect only in the extensive ischemia subset[18-21].

#### CARDIOMYOPATHIES WITH HYPERTROPHIC PHENOTYPE

LV hypertrophy (LVH) is most frequently caused by pressure overload. However, in cardiomyopathies, LVH occurs in the absence of abnormal loading conditions – hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM) accounts for the majority of these cases.

CMR imaging has consolidated its role among the multimodality evaluation of myocardial disease, mostly due to high spatial resolution and unique ability for tissue characterization[22,23]. Non-invasive tissue characterization is crucial for differential diagnosis of LVH, identification of HCM phenocopies and risk stratification. This distinctive feature of CMR has led to a decrease in the use of endomyocardial biopsy (EMB) in cardiomyopathies with LVH, that is now restricted to few indications[24,25]. A recent position statement limited EMB use to patients with LVH in whom non-invasive evaluation produces inconclusive or discordant results, and there is clinical suspicion of phenocopies, particularly infiltrative or storage disease for which target treatment is available[25].

An Integrative CMR approach, Incorporating morphofunctional assessment with tissue characterization, including identification of the presence, location, and pattern of LGE, and combined with parametric mapping findings (particularly, native T1 and ECV), can be of value for differential diagnosis of hypertrophic phenotypes of cardiomyopathy (Table 1).

Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Cardiac magnetic resonance findings in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and phenocopies

	Morphologic	Tissue characterization			
	features	LGE	Mapping	ECV	
Athlete's heart	Balanced increase in wall thickness and cavity size	Absent or in RV insertion points	Normal or decreased T1	Normal or decreased	
Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (sarcomeric)	Typically asymmetric LVH, with septal predominance	Mid-mural, patchy, affecting most hypertrophied segments; transmural in advanced stages	Increased native T1, regardless of LGE presence, reflecting interstitial fibrosis	Increased ECV attributed to fibrosis	
Amyloidosis	Symmetric or asymmetric LVH	Subendocardial, global, diffuse; transmural in advanced stages. LGE reflects infiltration, not fibrosis; abnormal gadolinium kinetics	Marked increase in native T1 value (AL > ATTR) due to protein accumulation	Markedly increased ECV reflecting protein accumulation	
Fabry disease	Concentric LVH, prominent papillary muscles, RV hypertrophy	Mid-mural, basal inferolateral segment	Decreased native T1 values (lipid storage); pseudonormalization in advance stages due to fibrosis. Elevated T2 levels due to inflammation	Normal ECV	

ECV: Extracellular volume; LGE: Late gadolinium enhancement; LVH: Left ventricular hypertrophy; RV: Right ventricle.

#### Athlete's heart

CMR is also useful for distinguishing pathological LVH from physiological adaption to exercise. The "athlete's heart" is characterized by biventricular, symmetrical remodelling, and is associated to a concomitant and proportional increase in cavity size[26,27]. Specific reference values of ventricular size and function for athletes have been reported by D'Ascenzi et al<sup>[27]</sup> In athletes, the degree of hypertrophy is usually mild, and LV wall thickness rarely exceeds 12 mm<sup>[28]</sup>. Moreover, reversal of adaptative LVH can be achieved with detraining[29]. When present, in athletes, LGE is usually confined to the RV insertion points (mostly the inferior), and its presence has been correlated with training load and intensity[30]. This pattern of fibrosis does not affect prognosis nor requires further evaluation in otherwise healthy athletes[30]. Mapping data may further differentiate "athlete's heart" from HCM: While the latter is usually associated with increased native T1 and ECV (reflecting interstitial fibrosis)[28,30], these parameters are normal, or even decreased, in athletes. Although echocardiography remains the major imaging tool for athlete pre-participation screening, CMR can be paramount in situations where suspicious of myocardial disease persists based on symptoms, family history, electrocardiographic or echocardiographic data.

#### НСМ

HCM is defined by unexplained LVH in a non-dilated LV with wall thickness  $\geq$  15 mm or, alternatively,  $\geq$  13 mm, in the presence of positive family history or a disease-causing gene variant[22]. HCM, the most common genetic cardiovascular disease, with a prevalence of 1:200-1:500, is caused by sarcomeric gene mutations, that are inherited as an autosomal dominant trait[31]. There is marked phenotypic heterogeneity among HCM probands, even among individuals from the same family, that occasionally poses a challenge in terms of diagnosis and risk stratification.

Morphofunctional evaluation: The "classical" HCM phenotype consists of asymmetrical, septal-predominant hypertrophy, that may be associated to dynamic LV tract obstruction (LVOTO)[31]. In hypertrophied hearts, CMR enables precise measurement of maximal wall thickness and an accurate portrayal of LVH pattern, extent and distribution[28]. This is of particular importance in the presence of midventricular or apical variants of HCM, in which echocardiographic evaluation encounters limitations<sup>[23]</sup>.

The presence of apical aneurysms is associated to higher rates of ventricular arrhythmias (VA), SCD, thromboembolic events, and heart failure in patients with HCM[32,33]. CMR has enabled more frequent identification of this high-risk subset of patients, by detecting small aneurysms that may remain unnoticed during non-contrast echocardiographic evaluation<sup>[23]</sup> but are still relevant for risk stratification. Accordingly, the presence of an apical aneurysm, regardless of size, has been considered a major risk factor by the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association (ACC/ AHA) guidelines, assigning it a class IIa (level of evidence B) recommendation for implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) implantation for primary prevention of SCD[34]. The ESC guidelines on SCD prevention have recently included LV apical aneurysm as an additional factor for consideration of an ICD (class IIb recommendation, level of evidence B)[35], even in patients with a low estimated risk according to the HCM Risk-SCD score[36].

Detection of thrombi within the scared LV apex also carries meaningful management considerations. In a recent study, Lee et al[37] found a linear relationship between aneurysm size and the risk of adverse events, including apical thrombus formation and thromboembolic stroke. Moreover, patients with an aneurysm size ≥ 2 cm showed a significant increase in 5-year SCD risk (9.7% vs 2.9%, P = 0.037)[37].

Other morphologic abnormalities related to HCM can be further demonstrated by CMR, including mitral subvalvular apparatus abnormalities or myocardial crypts. Maron et al reported the presence of myocardial crypts - narrow, deep blood-filled invaginations within LV myocardium - in 61% of genotype positive/phenotype negative (G+P-) patients without overt LV hypertrophy, suggesting this morphologic feature to be part of the phenotypic expression of HCM[38].



Contrastingly, in a large Danish cohort assessed by computed tomography, LV crypts were frequent among the general population, and were not associated with a composite endpoint of death, myocardial infarction, heart failure, or stroke [39]. However, among family members of patients with HCM, the presence of crypts may prompt careful follow-up to monitor progression to an overt phenotype.

Another subclinical marker of HCM observed by CMR has been proposed by the same group – LV apical-basal muscle bundles. LV muscle bundles were suggested as a latent marker in G+/P- individuals, and were related to HCM phenotypic expression, irrespective of LV wall thickness<sup>[40]</sup>.

CMR is useful for depicting papillary muscle (PM) architecture and functional abnormalities. PM hypertrophy (minor axis diameter > 11 mm or combined mass > 7 g/m<sup>2</sup>) is present in more than half of HCM cases, and my contribute to midventricular obstruction[41,42]. Additional abnormalities that contribute to LVOTO, such as accessory, bifid or displaced PM, can be adequately demonstrated by CMR[41].

**Tissue characterization:** The presence of LGE in HCM reflects replacement fibrosis, and its prognostic value is wellestablished[43]. LGE is found in more than half of HCM patients, usually presenting an mid-mural pattern within the most hypertrophied segments[43,44]. In advanced stages of the disease, LGE with transmural extension can be observed and carries a worse prognosis[44].

LGE has been consistently associated increased SCD incidence, and its presence and extent was included as a major risk factor in the ACC/AHA risk stratification algorithm[34] and, more recently, in the 2022 ESC Guidelines for prevention of SCD[35]. In a landmark multicenter study, LGE exceeding 15% of the LV mass was associated with a > 2-fold risk of SCD in patients who were deemed low risk by conventional tools, compared with patients in whom LGE was absent[43]. Therefore, presence of "extensive LGE" ( $\geq$  15% of total LV mass) is regarded as a high-risk parameter, and in HCM patients without a defibrillator, CMR should be repeated every 3-5 years to monitor LGE progression and reconsider SCD prevention strategies[23,34].

T1 mapping and ECV (derived from native and post-contrast T1) allow for identification of diffuse, interstitial fibrosis [23]. Native T1 and ECV may be elevated in segments without LGE, and even in variant carriers without overt LVH[28]. Mapping techniques allow differentiation of HCM from phenocopies (Table 1).

Edema with abnormal T2 findings (T2-Stir) could be observed in HCM patients often indicative of an acute myocardial injury (*i.e.*, ischemic extravascular damage) and associated with electrical instability[45].

**Perfusion:** Microvascular dysfunction is part of the pathophysiology of HCM and can be evaluated by means of CMR perfusion imaging. In HCM, reduced myocardial blood flow correlates with increased LV wall thickness and mass, presence of LGE, and increased ECV[23,28]. Aguiar Rosa *et al*[46] showed that increased ischemia severity, assessed by CMR, was associated with higher values of native T1 and greater LGE extension. Patients with severe ischemia demonstrated higher incidence of atrial arrhythmias and performed poorer in cardiopulmonary stress testing[46].

#### HCM phenocopies

CMR has an increasing role in the evaluation of rare forms of myocardial disease that also manifest with LVH, otherwise known as phenocopies of HCM. In such cases, family history, electrocardiographic patterns and extracardiac manifestations may raise diagnostic suspicion, that may be corroborated by imaging findings.

**Amyloidosis:** Cardiac amyloidosis (CA) produces LV "pseudo-hypertrophy", resulting from interstitial expansion due to amyloid fibrils deposition, rather than from myocyte proliferation[47]. Transthyretin (ATTR), both hereditary and wild-type, and immunoglobulin-derived light chain amyloidosis are responsible for most cases of amyloid-related myocardial disease[48]. Extracellular expansion in CA is depicted in CMR parametric mapping findings by a marked increase in native T1 Levels and ECV[28]. Patients with CA show global, diffuse subendocardial LGE, that may become transmural in more advanced stages of the disease. This pattern of LGE, in the adequate setting, is very specific for CA[49]. LGE not rarely extends to the RV and the atria, particularly in ATTR[28]. Another characteristic CMR feature in CA is the abnormal gadolinium kinetics, with myocardial nulling preceding with the blood pool, or an equalization of these points [48,49]. More detailed information will be provided in the section entitled cardiomyopathies with restrictive phenotype.

**Fabry disease:** Fabry disease (FD), an X-linked lysosomal storage disorder, usually leads to concentric LVH, due to both glycosphingolipid accumulation and myocyte hypertrophy[50]. Prominent PM s are a typical feature of FD, as is concomitant RV hypertrophy[28,44].

Parametric mapping is of particular utility for the differential diagnosis of FD. Native T1 decreases with lipid deposition[22]; accordingly, in early stages of FD, native T1 values are low, when compared to normal reference values and other forms of LVH[28,50]. However, as disease progresses and replacement fibrosis becomes evident, pseudo-normalization of native T1 relaxation times occurs[28,50]. ECV remains within normal range in LGE-free areas[50], since FD leads to intracellular storage of glycosphingolipids. T2 values can be elevated due inflammatory response triggered by lipid accumulation.

LGE is present in > 50% of FD patients, and is usually located in the LV basal inferolateral segment, with a mid-mural or subepicardial pattern[22,44,49]. Presence of LGE has been reported in female mutation carriers without LVH[49]. Similar to HCM, presence of LGE in FD is associated to adverse outcomes and poor response to replacement therapy[50].

Raisbideng® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### CARDIOMYOPATHIES WITH RESTRICTIVE PHENOTYPE

Less than 5% of all cardiomyopathy cases are attributed to restrictive cardiomyopathies (RCM), which have a diverse range of causes[51].

RCM is characterized by a significant alteration in myocardial compliance, presenting severe diastolic dysfunction while maintaining preserved systolic function, especially in the early stages. The initial diagnosis typically involves a TTE that reveals normal or increased LV wall thickness, often with a concentric or symmetric distribution, along with a restrictive pattern observed through Doppler analysis. It also shows the absence of LV dilation, preserved LVEF, and significant biatrial enlargement<sup>[52]</sup>. However, while TTE plays a crucial role in the initial assessment and raising diagnostic suspicions, its utility becomes limited when establishing a differential diagnosis. In such cases, CMR imaging becomes highly relevant.

Two of the most common entities where CMR is essential are the endomyocardial fibrosis (EMF) and CA.

#### EMF

EMF represents a rare subtype of RCM. It is characterized by an unusual thickening of the endocardium, resulting from the deposition of fibrous tissue[53]. This condition is typically secondary to various factors, including infections (often found in tropical regions), inflammation, exposure to toxic agents, among others. Echocardiographic observations in EMF include apical obliteration due to thickening of the endocardium, a reduction in ventricular cavity size, and a pronounced restrictive diastolic pattern. EMF can primarily affect the left ventricle, both the left and right ventricles (in approximately 50% of cases), or predominantly the right ventricle[54]. The presence of apical thrombus is also a frequently encountered feature.

CMR is the gold standard for EMF evaluation and specifically for localization, characterization, and quantification of fibrous tissue by LGE sequences. LGE strongly correlates with histopathological findings and its extension is associated with increased mortality risk[55]. CMR may also identify apical thrombus or calcifications.

#### СА

In patients with CA, cine sequences or functional assessment methods provide a means to observe the structural characteristics of the infiltrated myocardium. These characteristics encompass biventricular hypertrophy, thickening of cardiac valves, interatrial septum, pericardial effusion, and biatrial dilation. Additionally, these techniques enable the precise evaluation of both systolic and diastolic function [56]. It is essential to not only focus on the assessment of the LV but also on the other cardiac chambers. Notably, the involvement of RV has been identified as a predictor of mortality in CMR, consistent with findings from TTE<sup>[57]</sup>. As the disease advances into later stages, there is a notable increase in atrial volume and dysfunction. This phenomenon is attributed to the direct infiltration of amyloid fibrils into the atria and indirectly to elevated filling pressures due to diastolic dysfunction.

The Table 2 summarizes the main cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) findings in CA with an explanation of the prognostic and diagnostic implications.

To sum up, CMR represents a complementary diagnostic step in the evaluation of patients suspected of having CA. This imaging method is not widely accessible in numerous medical facilities, and its lengthy duration per study restricts the total number of examinations feasible in a day.

#### ARRHYTHMOGENIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy (ACM) is an inherited cardiomyopathy characterized by replacement of myocardium by fatty and fibrous tissue. Historically named Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy (ARVC) because of the RV involvement, the late recognition of left and biventricular forms led to the new term ACM, encompassing both phenotypes. VA through macro-reentry mechanism related to the fibrofatty involvement is one of the main clinical presentations, manifesting in the worst case by SCD. In the advanced stages, the disease is characterized by heart failure [58,59].

Diagnosis criteria established by the International Task Force (ITF) included morphological (dysfunction and structural alteration) and anatomopathological characterization, ECG abnormalities, history of arrhythmias and family history[60]. CMR role was limited to evaluation of regional RV motion wall, RV ejection fraction (RVEF) and RV end-diastolic volume. Critics have been raised about the absence of LV involvement and the limited role of CMR. In 2020, the Padua Criteria was proposed, revisiting the ITF criteria by including tissue characterization provided by CMR. Functional or structural abnormality is enough for the diagnosis[61]. Pathogenic mutations, ECG abnormalities, or VA are no longer sufficient. This highlights the role of CMR, which has become one of the preferred non-invasive imaging techniques, allowing an increase of diagnostic sensitivity for ACM. CMR offers an advanced evaluation of the heart, including ventricular morphology, volume, thickness, ejection fraction, regional motion, myocardial fibrous, adipose content, edema, flow, LGE, as well as new emerging and promising feature as global longitudinal and circumferential strain (assessed by using feature-tracking CMR). Despite its complete evaluation, CMR has some limitations: fatty infiltration is nonspecific and does not preclude the diagnosis.

Prognosis in ACM is mostly related to VA. ICD being the only intervention improving survival[62], risk stratification is vital to identify the high-risk patients benefiting the most from primary prevention ICD implantation. RV dysfunction and syncope history are strong predictor for arrhythmia event and have been both included in the guidelines. CMR is not included in the risk stratification recommendations, neither in the 2019 Heart Rhythm Society guidelines[63], nor the 2022

Table 2 Cardiac magnetic resonance findings in cardiac amyloidosis. Prognostic and diagnostic implications					
Parameter	Implications	Ref.			
Reduction of the total left atrial emptying fraction in AL-CA patients	+ Related to more advanced stages of the disease and with a worse functional class; + Increase in 2 years-mortality if its value < 16 $\%$	Mohty et al <sup>[79]</sup>			
MCF and LAS in AL-CA patients	+ If LAS > -7% and MCF < 52.6% greatest risk of death and heart transplantation	Arenja et al[80]			
Anterior aortic plane systolic excursion in AL-CA patients	+ Best predictive value for transplant-free survival	Ochs et al[ <mark>81</mark> ]			
Strain	+ Correlates well with the level of LGE uptake an alternative to LGE where contrast should not be used; + GLS impaired robust predictor of all-cause mortality in AL-CA patients	Wan et al[ <mark>82</mark> ]			
Look-Locker sequence (T1 sequence with different inversion times)	+ Increased risk of death if it is impossible to obtain a normal myocardial signal on LGE using this sequence with inversion time over than 300 ms	Mekinian et al[83]			
LGE	+ Typical pattern is a diffuse subendocardial uptake and also it was described a transmural pattern enhancement and less frequently a focal patchy one; + Controversy exists regarding the prognostic implication	Maceira <i>et al</i> [84], Fontana <i>et al</i> [85], Raina <i>et al</i> [86]			
The difference in the intramyocardial T1 value post-gadolinium between subepi- cardium and subendocardium	+ Worse survival when that difference was lower than 23 ms	Maceira <i>et al</i> [84]			
Diffuse subendocardial uptake detected using a modified LGE-CMR protocol with visual T1 assessment	+ High diagnostic precision (PPV 93%, NPV 90%); + Significantly associated with 2 yr mortality	Austin <i>et al</i> [87], White <i>et al</i> [88]			
RV gadolinium uptake in AL-CA patients	+ Independent predictor of survival during a period of 6 mo follow up	Wan et al[89]			
QALE	+ Score > 9 predicted worse survival, especially useful in patients with a subendo- cardial LGE pattern	Wan et al <mark>[90</mark> ]			
Noncontrast T1-mapping	+ A cut-off value of 1020 ms had high sensitivity and specificity (around 90%) for identifying amyloid patients with possible or definite cardiac involvement	Karamitsos <i>et al</i> [91]			
T1 mapping with native T1 and extracellular volume	+ Patients with AL-CA and suspected cardiac involvement had increased values; + Only ECV had a significant prognostic implication with greater mortality if its value was > 44%; + Basal ECV had the best prognostic value amongst myocardial T1 mapping parameters	Karamitsos <i>et al</i> [91], Lin <i>et al</i> [92], Wan <i>et al</i> [93]			
T2-weighted imaging	+ No gadolinium administration is needed; + A decreased myocardial signal intensity compared with skeletal muscle was associated with shortened survival; + T2 ratio value < 1.36 had a weak sensitivity and specificity (63% and 73% respectively) to predict cardiac involvement	Wassmuth et al[94], Legou et al[95]			

AL-CA: Light chain cardiac amyloidosis; CMR: Cardiovascular magnetic resonance; ECV: Extracellular volume; GLS: Global longitudinal strain; LAS: Long axis strain; LGE: Late gadolinium enhancement; MCF: Myocardial contraction fraction; NPV: Negative predictive value; PPV: Positive predictive value; QALE: Query amyloid late enhancement score; RV: Right ventricle.

ESC guidelines for the management of patients with VA and the prevention of SCD[35]. In this context, CMR role is only limited to diagnosis. A 2019 consensus expert developed the ARVC 5-year Risk-VAs calculator: A prediction model for VA risk to guide decision regarding primary prevention ICD (www.arvcrisk.com)[64]. CMR is included only to assess RVEF. CMR parameters of tissue characterization and regional wall motion of both ventricles were not included. The role of CMR in risk stratification remains to be determined. Lack of consistent studies explains the absence of CMR from the risk stratification recommendation, even though some emerging data shows the potential prognosis information provided by CMR.

Different CMR phenotype of ACM are associated with different prognoses. Normal CMR has an excellent negative predictive value for major clinical events[65-67]. Tandri et al[68] showed that delayed gadolinium enhancement of RV correlates with inducible VT during electrophysiology testing. Lie et al[69] confirm that CMR findings, as low RVEF, RV wall-contraction abnormalities, or RV aneurysms are predictors of life-threatening ventricular arrhythmia. Evaluation of longitudinal strain by feature-tracking CMR could also bring risk stratification information, as reduced strain seems to be associated with sustained VA[70].

Regarding the LV involvement, its association with adverse outcomes is inconsistent<sup>[71]</sup>. Presence of LV dysfunction is associated with arrhythmic adverse outcomes as reported by a small European registry [72]. Some studies have suggested that CMR imaging features of LV phenotypes, as fat infiltration and LGE, in ACM may be associated with adverse outcomes. Aquaro et al[66] highlight that the different CMR presentations of ACM are associated with different prognoses, LV involvement (LV dominant and biventricular) being the worst prognosis. Zhang et al[73] confirm the bad prognosis of LV LGE, being associated with an increased risk of ICD therapy and cardiac death, independently of LVEF. LV myocardial assessment by CMR could also predict the HF-related event risk as reported by Chun et al [74]. On the contrary LV dysfunction was not a predictor of arrhythmic risk in two meta-analysis[75,76]. Zghaib et al[77] showed that LV fibrofatty infiltration in CMR was not associated with arrhythmic outcomes. The role of identification of LV



Figure 1 Correlation between cardiac magnetic resonance and ventricular arrythmia in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. CMR: Cardiac magnetic resonance; RV: Right ventricle; LV: Left ventricle; LGE: Late gadolinium enhancement.

involvement by CMR and its prognosis significance remains to be established.

There is some potential speculation on some cases of ACM that could be explained by an inflammatory activity or hot phase, if the diagnosis it is in a very early-stage sequences like T2-STIR for oedema detection could help[78], this hot phase could be related with arrhythmias during the disease.

To finalise, CMR role in diagnosis is well established (Figure 1). Regarding the risk stratification, only RV function is validated in international guidelines and risk calculator. Lack of consistent data about correlation between CMR characterization and adverse outcomes could explain the absence of CMR role from guidelines, but a few emerging studies show new evidence about CMR imaging, Indicating that the presence of structural abnormalities in the RV as observed through CMR plays a crucial role in evaluating the risk of arrhythmias. : RV dilatation, dysfunction and LGE are among the strongest predictors. Regarding the LV involvement, the few data are contradictory, but may trend towards an association with high-risk event. CMR may have a promising role in association with classical clinical feature, but further studies are needed to better define CMR place in risk stratification.

#### CONCLUSION

Cardiovascular imaging methods play a vital role in investigating cardiomyopathies, furnishing valuable diagnostic and prognostic insights. The inclusion of CMR in the evaluation of all patients is highly recommended, owing to its ability to offer comprehensive anatomical, functional, and tissue-specific data, which holds significant prognostic value. While other imaging techniques might be employed selectively, the integration of multiple modalities of cardiac imaging assumes a crucial role in clinical decision-making, leading to enhanced patient management and care outcomes.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Vidal-Perez R designed, edited and wrote the final paper; Brandão M, Zaher W, Casado-Arroyo R, Bouzas-Mosquera A, Fontes-Carvalho R performed the collection of the data and helped in writing the original draft; Vidal-Perez R and Vazquez-Rodriguez JM contributed to the critical revision of the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the



original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Spain

ORCID number: Rafael Vidal-Perez 0000-0001-9944-8363; Mariana Brandão 0000-0001-9913-0435; Wael Zaher 0000-0002-0537-9262; Ruben Casado-Arroyo 0000-0002-3876-6074; Alberto Bouzas-Mosquera 0000-0002-2741-732X; Ricardo Fontes-Carvalho 0000-0003-2306-8393; Jose Manuel Vazquez-Rodriguez 0000-0003-0888-6937.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Elliott P, Andersson B, Arbustini E, Bilinska Z, Cecchi F, Charron P, Dubourg O, Kühl U, Maisch B, McKenna WJ, Monserrat L, Pankuweit S, Rapezzi C, Seferovic P, Tavazzi L, Keren A. Classification of the cardiomyopathies: a position statement from the European Society Of Cardiology Working Group on Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases. Eur Heart J 2008; 29: 270-276 [PMID: 17916581 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehm342]
- Rapezzi C, Aimo A, Barison A, Emdin M, Porcari A, Linhart A, Keren A, Merlo M, Sinagra G. Restrictive cardiomyopathy: definition and 2 diagnosis. Eur Heart J 2022; 43: 4679-4693 [PMID: 36269634 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac543]
- Yang Z, Huang L. Editorial for "The Impact of Hypertension on Left Ventricular Function and Remodeling in Non-Ischemic Dilated 3 Cardiomyopathy Patients: A 3.0 T MRI Study". J Magn Reson Imaging 2023; 58: 172-173 [PMID: 36285368 DOI: 10.1002/jmri.28480]
- Singh T, Joshi S, Meah MN, Spath NB, Papanastasiou G, Kershaw LE, Baker AH, Dweck MR, Newby DE, Semple SI. Repeatability and 4 reproducibility of cardiac manganese-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. Sci Rep 2023; 13: 3366 [PMID: 36849509 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-29591-z]
- Patel AR, Kramer CM. Role of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance in the Diagnosis and Prognosis of Nonischemic Cardiomyopathy. JACC 5 Cardiovasc Imaging 2017; 10: 1180-1193 [PMID: 28982571 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.08.005]
- Balaban G, Halliday BP, Mendonca Costa C, Bai W, Porter B, Rinaldi CA, Plank G, Rueckert D, Prasad SK, Bishop MJ. Fibrosis 6 Microstructure Modulates Reentry in Non-ischemic Dilated Cardiomyopathy: Insights From Imaged Guided 2D Computational Modeling. Front Physiol 2018; 9: 1832 [PMID: 30618838 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01832]
- 7 Grothoff M, Pachowsky M, Hoffmann J, Posch M, Klaassen S, Lehmkuhl L, Gutberlet M. Value of cardiovascular MR in diagnosing left ventricular non-compaction cardiomyopathy and in discriminating between other cardiomyopathies. Eur Radiol 2012; 22: 2699-2709 [PMID: 22772366 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-012-2554-7]
- Cittar M, Cipriani A, Merlo M, Vitrella G, Masè M, Carrer A, Barbati G, Belgrano M, Pagnan L, De Lazzari M, Giorgi B, Cova MA, Iliceto 8 S, Basso C, Stolfo D, Sinagra G, Perazzolo Marra M. Prognostic Significance of Feature-Tracking Right Ventricular Global Longitudinal Strain in Non-ischemic Dilated Cardiomyopathy. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 765274 [PMID: 34917664 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.765274]
- 9 Halliday BP. State of the art: multimodality imaging in dilated cardiomyopathy. Heart 2022; 108: 1910-1917 [PMID: 35948409 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2022-321116]
- Puntmann VO, Carr-White G, Jabbour A, Yu CY, Gebker R, Kelle S, Hinojar R, Doltra A, Varma N, Child N, Rogers T, Suna G, Arroyo 10 Ucar E, Goodman B, Khan S, Dabir D, Herrmann E, Zeiher AM, Nagel E; International T1 Multicentre CMR Outcome Study. T1-Mapping and Outcome in Nonischemic Cardiomyopathy: All-Cause Mortality and Heart Failure. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2016; 9: 40-50 [PMID: 26762873 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2015.12.001]
- Thavendiranathan P, Walls M, Giri S, Verhaert D, Rajagopalan S, Moore S, Simonetti OP, Raman SV. Improved detection of myocardial 11 involvement in acute inflammatory cardiomyopathies using T2 mapping. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2012; 5: 102-110 [PMID: 22038988 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.111.967836]
- Damasceno A, Mayosi BM, Sani M, Ogah OS, Mondo C, Ojji D, Dzudie A, Kouam CK, Suliman A, Schrueder N, Yonga G, Ba SA, Maru F, 12 Alemayehu B, Edwards C, Davison BA, Cotter G, Sliwa K. The causes, treatment, and outcome of acute heart failure in 1006 Africans from 9 countries. Arch Intern Med 2012; 172: 1386-1394 [PMID: 22945249 DOI: 10.1001/archinternmed.2012.3310]
- Cleland JG, McGowan J. Heart failure due to ischaemic heart disease: epidemiology, pathophysiology and progression. J Cardiovasc 13 Pharmacol 1999; 33 Suppl 3: S17-S29 [PMID: 10442681 DOI: 10.1097/00005344-199906003-00003]
- Bowling CB, Sanders PW, Allman RM, Rogers WJ, Patel K, Aban IB, Rich MW, Pitt B, White M, Bakris GC, Fonarow GC, Ahmed A. 14 Effects of enalapril in systolic heart failure patients with and without chronic kidney disease: insights from the SOLVD Treatment trial. Int J Cardiol 2013; 167: 151-156 [PMID: 22257685 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.12.056]
- 15 Palumbo P, Cannizzaro E, Di Cesare A, Bruno F, Arrigoni F, Splendiani A, Barile A, Masciocchi C, Di Cesare E. Stress Perfusion Cardiac Magnetic Resonance in Long-Standing Non-Infarcted Chronic Coronary Syndrome with Preserved Systolic Function. Diagnostics (Basel) 2022; 12 [PMID: 35453834 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics12040786]
- Palmisano A, Vignale D, Benedetti G, Del Maschio A, De Cobelli F, Esposito A. Late iodine enhancement cardiac computed tomography for 16 detection of myocardial scars: impact of experience in the clinical practice. Radiol Med 2020; 125: 128-136 [PMID: 31784926 DOI: 10.1007/s11547-019-01108-71
- Kim RJ, Wu E, Rafael A, Chen EL, Parker MA, Simonetti O, Klocke FJ, Bonow RO, Judd RM. The use of contrast-enhanced magnetic 17 resonance imaging to identify reversible myocardial dysfunction. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 1445-1453 [PMID: 11078769 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200011163432003]
- Ge Y, Antiochos P, Steel K, Bingham S, Abdullah S, Chen YY, Mikolich JR, Arai AE, Bandettini WP, Shanbhag SM, Patel AR, Farzaneh-Far 18 A, Heitner JF, Shenoy C, Leung SW, Gonzalez JA, Shah DJ, Raman SV, Ferrari VA, Schulz-Menger J, Stuber M, Simonetti OP, Kwong RY. Prognostic Value of Stress CMR Perfusion Imaging in Patients With Reduced Left Ventricular Function. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2020; 13: 2132-2145 [PMID: 32771575 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2020.05.034]



- Schwitter J. The SPINS Trial: Building Evidence and a Consequence? J Am Coll Cardiol 2019; 74: 1756-1759 [PMID: 31582134 DOI: 19 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.07.075]
- Patel AR, Salerno M, Kwong RY, Singh A, Heydari B, Kramer CM. Stress Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Myocardial Perfusion Imaging: 20 JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 78: 1655-1668 [PMID: 34649703 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.08.022]
- Ge Y, Steel K, Antiochos P, Bingham S, Abdullah S, Mikolich JR, Arai AE, Bandettini WP, Shanbhag SM, Patel AR, Farzaneh-Far A, Heitner 21 JF, Shenoy C, Leung SW, Gonzalez JA, Shah DJ, Raman SV, Nawaz H, Ferrari VA, Schulz-Menger J, Stuber M, Simonetti OP, Kwong RY. Stress CMR in patients with obesity: insights from the Stress CMR Perfusion Imaging in the United States (SPINS) registry. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2021; 22: 518-527 [PMID: 33166994 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jeaa281]
- 22 Menghoum N, Vos JL, Pouleur AC, Nijveldt R, Gerber BL. How to evaluate cardiomyopathies by cardiovascular magnetic resonance parametric mapping and late gadolinium enhancement. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2022; 23: 587-589 [PMID: 35262680 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jeac051]
- Nagueh SF, Phelan D, Abraham T, Armour A, Desai MY, Dragulescu A, Gilliland Y, Lester SJ, Maldonado Y, Mohiddin S, Nieman K, Sperry 23 BW, Woo A. Recommendations for Multimodality Cardiovascular Imaging of Patients with Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy: An Update from the American Society of Echocardiography, in Collaboration with the American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance, and the Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2022; 35: 533-569 [PMID: 35659037 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2022.03.012]
- Porcari A, Baggio C, Fabris E, Merlo M, Bussani R, Perkan A, Sinagra G. Endomyocardial biopsy in the clinical context: current indications 24 and challenging scenarios. Heart Fail Rev 2023; 28: 123-135 [PMID: 35567705 DOI: 10.1007/s10741-022-10247-5]
- Seferović PM, Tsutsui H, McNamara DM, Ristić AD, Basso C, Bozkurt B, Cooper LT Jr, Filippatos G, Ide T, Inomata T, Klingel K, Linhart 25 A, Lyon AR, Mehra MR, Polovina M, Milinković I, Nakamura K, Anker SD, Veljić I, Ohtani T, Okumura T, Thum T, Tschöpe C, Rosano G, Coats AJS, Starling RC. Heart Failure Association of the ESC, Heart Failure Society of America and Japanese Heart Failure Society Position statement on endomyocardial biopsy. Eur J Heart Fail 2021; 23: 854-871 [PMID: 34010472 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.2190]
- Pluim BM, Zwinderman AH, van der Laarse A, van der Wall EE. The athlete's heart. A meta-analysis of cardiac structure and function. 26 Circulation 2000; 101: 336-344 [PMID: 10645932 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.101.3.336]
- 27 D'Ascenzi F, Anselmi F, Piu P, Fiorentini C, Carbone SF, Volterrani L, Focardi M, Bonifazi M, Mondillo S. Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Normal Reference Values of Biventricular Size and Function in Male Athlete's Heart. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2019; 12: 1755-1765 [PMID: 30553678 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.09.021]
- Aguiar Rosa S, Thomas B, Pieroni M, Maurizi N, Zampieri M, Cappelli F, Marchi A, Pradella S, Cardim N, Bogaert J, Olivotto I. Role of 28 cardiovascular magnetic resonance in the clinical evaluation of left ventricular hypertrophy: a 360° panorama. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2023; **39**: 793-809 [PMID: 36543912 DOI: 10.1007/s10554-022-02774-x]
- Pelliccia A, Maron BJ, De Luca R, Di Paolo FM, Spataro A, Culasso F. Remodeling of left ventricular hypertrophy in elite athletes after long-29 term deconditioning. Circulation 2002; 105: 944-949 [PMID: 11864923 DOI: 10.1161/hc0802.104534]
- 30 Malek ŁA, Bucciarelli-Ducci C. Myocardial fibrosis in athletes-Current perspective. Clin Cardiol 2020; 43: 882-888 [PMID: 32189357 DOI: 10.1002/clc.23360]
- Maron BJ, Desai MY, Nishimura RA, Spirito P, Rakowski H, Towbin JA, Rowin EJ, Maron MS, Sherrid MV. Diagnosis and Evaluation of 31 Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022; 79: 372-389 [PMID: 35086660 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.12.002]
- Rowin EJ, Maron BJ, Haas TS, Garberich RF, Wang W, Link MS, Maron MS. Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy With Left Ventricular Apical 32 Aneurysm: Implications for Risk Stratification and Management. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 761-773 [PMID: 28209216 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.063
- Strachinaru M, Huurman R, Bowen DJ, Schinkel AFL, Hirsch A, Michels M. Relation Between Early Diastolic Mid-Ventricular Flow and 33 Elastic Forces Indicating Aneurysm Formation in Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2022; 35: 846-856.e2 [PMID: 35489541 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2022.04.010]
- Writing Committee Members, Ommen SR, Mital S, Burke MA, Day SM, Deswal A, Elliott P, Evanovich LL, Hung J, Joglar JA, Kantor P, 34 Kimmelstiel C, Kittleson M, Link MS, Maron MS, Martinez MW, Miyake CY, Schaff HV, Semsarian C, Sorajja P; ACC/AHA Joint Committee Members, O'Gara PT, Beckman JA, Levine GN, Al-Khatib SM, Armbruster A, Birtcher KK, Ciggaroa J, Dixon DL, de Las Fuentes L, Deswal A, Fleisher LA, Gentile F, Goldberger ZD, Gorenek B, Haynes N, Hernandez AF, Hlatky MA, Joglar JA, Jones WS, Marine JE, Mark D, Palaniappan L, Piano MR, Tamis-Holland J, Wijeysundera DN, Woo YJ. 2020 AHA/ACC guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2021; 162: e23-e106 [PMID: 33926766 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2021.04.001]
- Zeppenfeld K, Tfelt-Hansen J, de Riva M, Winkel BG, Behr ER, Blom NA, Charron P, Corrado D, Dagres N, de Chillou C, Eckardt L, Friede 35 T, Haugaa KH, Hocini M, Lambiase PD, Marijon E, Merino JL, Peichl P, Priori SG, Reichlin T, Schulz-Menger J, Sticherling C, Tzeis S, Verstrael A, Volterrani M; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2022 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. Eur Heart J 2022; 43: 3997-4126 [PMID: 36017572 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac262]
- O'Mahony C, Jichi F, Pavlou M, Monserrat L, Anastasakis A, Rapezzi C, Biagini E, Gimeno JR, Limongelli G, McKenna WJ, Omar RZ, 36 Elliott PM; Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy Outcomes Investigators. A novel clinical risk prediction model for sudden cardiac death in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM risk-SCD). Eur Heart J 2014; 35: 2010-2020 [PMID: 24126876 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht439]
- 37 Lee DZJ, Montazeri M, Bataiosu R, Hoss S, Adler A, Nguyen ET, Rakowski H, Chan RH. Clinical Characteristics and Prognostic Importance of Left Ventricular Apical Aneurysms in Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2022; 15: 1696-1711 [PMID: 36202449 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2022.03.029]
- Maron MS, Rowin EJ, Lin D, Appelbaum E, Chan RH, Gibson CM, Lesser JR, Lindberg J, Haas TS, Udelson JE, Manning WJ, Maron BJ. 38 Prevalence and clinical profile of myocardial crypts in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2012; 5: 441-447 [PMID: 22563033 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.112.972760]
- Sigvardsen PE, Pham MHC, Kühl JT, Fuchs A, Afzal S, Møgelvang R, Nordestgaard BG, Køber L, Kofoed KF. Left ventricular myocardial 39 crypts: morphological patterns and prognostic implications. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2021; 22: 75-81 [PMID: 32083645 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jeaa020]
- Gruner C, Chan RH, Crean A, Rakowski H, Rowin EJ, Care M, Deva D, Williams L, Appelbaum E, Gibson CM, Lesser JR, Haas TS, 40 Udelson JE, Manning WJ, Siminovitch K, Ralph-Edwards AC, Rastegar H, Maron BJ, Maron MS. Significance of left ventricular apical-basal muscle bundle identified by cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 2014; 35:



2706-2713 [PMID: 24810389 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu154]

- Tao J, Duan F, Long J, Meng Q, Zhang B, Zhu Z, Wang H. The Role of the Submitral Apparatus in Hypertrophic Obstructive 41 Cardiomyopathy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2023; 36: 133-145 [PMID: 36191671 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2022.09.018]
- Brandão M, Marchi A, Olivotto I. Mid-ventricular obstruction in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a signal void. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 42 2023; 76: 749 [PMID: 36587760 DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2022.12.009]
- Chan RH, Maron BJ, Olivotto I, Pencina MJ, Assenza GE, Haas T, Lesser JR, Gruner C, Crean AM, Rakowski H, Udelson JE, Rowin E, 43 Lombardi M, Cecchi F, Tomberli B, Spirito P, Formisano F, Biagini E, Rapezzi C, De Cecco CN, Autore C, Cook EF, Hong SN, Gibson CM, Manning WJ, Appelbaum E, Maron MS. Prognostic value of quantitative contrast-enhanced cardiovascular magnetic resonance for the evaluation of sudden death risk in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Circulation 2014; 130: 484-495 [PMID: 25092278 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.007094]
- 44 Casas G, Rodríguez-Palomares JF. Multimodality Cardiac Imaging in Cardiomyopathies: From Diagnosis to Prognosis. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35160031 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11030578]
- Todiere G, Pisciella L, Barison A, Del Franco A, Zachara E, Piaggi P, Re F, Pingitore A, Emdin M, Lombardi M, Aquaro GD. Abnormal T2-45 STIR magnetic resonance in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a marker of advanced disease and electrical myocardial instability. PLoS One 2014; 9: e111366 [PMID: 25356653 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0111366]
- Aguiar Rosa S, Thomas B, Fiarresga A, Papoila AL, Alves M, Pereira R, Branco G, Cruz I, Rio P, Baquero L, Ferreira RC, Mota Carmo M, 46 Lopes LR. The Impact of Ischemia Assessed by Magnetic Resonance on Functional, Arrhythmic, and Imaging Features of Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 761860 [PMID: 34977179 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.761860]
- Maurer MS, Elliott P, Comenzo R, Semigran M, Rapezzi C. Addressing Common Questions Encountered in the Diagnosis and Management 47 of Cardiac Amyloidosis. Circulation 2017; 135: 1357-1377 [PMID: 28373528 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.024438]
- 48 Garcia-Pavia P, Rapezzi C, Adler Y, Arad M, Basso C, Brucato A, Burazor I, Caforio ALP, Damy T, Eriksson U, Fontana M, Gillmore JD, Gonzalez-Lopez E, Grogan M, Heymans S, Imazio M, Kindermann I, Kristen AV, Maurer MS, Merlini G, Pantazis A, Pankuweit S, Rigopoulos AG, Linhart A. Diagnosis and treatment of cardiac amyloidosis: a position statement of the ESC Working Group on Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 1554-1568 [PMID: 33825853 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab072]
- 49 Merlo M, Gagno G, Baritussio A, Bauce B, Biagini E, Canepa M, Cipriani A, Castelletti S, Dellegrottaglie S, Guaricci AI, Imazio M, Limongelli G, Musumeci MB, Parisi V, Pica S, Pontone G, Todiere G, Torlasco C, Basso C, Sinagra G, Filardi PP, Indolfi C, Autore C, Barison A. Clinical application of CMR in cardiomyopathies: evolving concepts and techniques: A position paper of myocardial and pericardial diseases and cardiac magnetic resonance working groups of Italian society of cardiology. Heart Fail Rev 2023; 28: 77-95 [PMID: 35536402 DOI: 10.1007/s10741-022-10235-9]
- Pieroni M, Moon JC, Arbustini E, Barriales-Villa R, Camporeale A, Vujkovac AC, Elliott PM, Hagege A, Kuusisto J, Linhart A, Nordbeck P, 50 Olivotto I, Pietilä-Effati P, Namdar M. Cardiac Involvement in Fabry Disease: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77: 922-936 [PMID: 33602475 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.12.024]
- Muchtar E, Blauwet LA, Gertz MA. Restrictive Cardiomyopathy: Genetics, Pathogenesis, Clinical Manifestations, Diagnosis, and Therapy. 51 Circ Res 2017; 121: 819-837 [PMID: 28912185 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310982]
- Habib G, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Caforio ALP, Cardim N, Charron P, Cosyns B, Dehaene A, Derumeaux G, Donal E, Dweck MR, Edvardsen T, 52 Erba PA, Ernande L, Gaemperli O, Galderisi M, Grapsa J, Jacquier A, Klingel K, Lancellotti P, Neglia D, Pepe A, Perrone-Filardi P, Petersen SE, Plein S, Popescu BA, Reant P, Sade LE, Salaun E, Slart RHJA, Tribouilloy C, Zamorano J; EACVI Scientific Documents Committee; Indian Academy of Echocardiography. Multimodality Imaging in Restrictive Cardiomyopathies: An EACVI expert consensus document In collaboration with the "Working Group on myocardial and pericardial diseases" of the European Society of Cardiology Endorsed by The Indian Academy of Echocardiography. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2017; 18: 1090-1121 [PMID: 28510718 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jex034]
- Mocumbi AO, Carrilho C, Sarathchandra P, Ferreira MB, Yacoub M, Burke M. Echocardiography accurately assesses the pathological 53 abnormalities of chronic endomyocardial fibrosis. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2011; 27: 955-964 [PMID: 21110101 DOI: 10.1007/s10554-010-9753-6]
- Mocumbi AO, Ferreira MB, Sidi D, Yacoub MH. A population study of endomyocardial fibrosis in a rural area of Mozambique. N Engl J Med 54 2008; 359: 43-49 [PMID: 18596273 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0708629]
- Salemi VM, Rochitte CE, Shiozaki AA, Andrade JM, Parga JR, de Ávila LF, Benvenuti LA, Cestari IN, Picard MH, Kim RJ, Mady C. Late 55 gadolinium enhancement magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis and prognosis of endomyocardial fibrosis patients. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2011; 4: 304-311 [PMID: 21415124 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.110.950675]
- White JA, Fine NM. Recent Advances in Cardiovascular Imaging Relevant to the Management of Patients with Suspected Cardiac 56 Amyloidosis. Curr Cardiol Rep 2016; 18: 77 [PMID: 27319007 DOI: 10.1007/s11886-016-0752-7]
- Ruberg FL, Appelbaum E, Davidoff R, Ozonoff A, Kissinger KV, Harrigan C, Skinner M, Manning WJ. Diagnostic and prognostic utility of 57 cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging in light-chain cardiac amyloidosis. Am J Cardiol 2009; 103: 544-549 [PMID: 19195518 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2008.09.105
- van der Voorn SM, Te Riele ASJM, Basso C, Calkins H, Remme CA, van Veen TAB. Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy: pathogenesis, pro-58 arrhythmic remodelling, and novel approaches for risk stratification and therapy. Cardiovasc Res 2020; 116: 1571-1584 [PMID: 32246823 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa084]
- Corrado D, Link MS, Calkins H. Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 2017; 376: 61-72 [PMID: 28052233 59 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMra1509267]
- 60 Corrado D, Wichter T, Link MS, Hauer R, Marchlinski F, Anastasakis A, Bauce B, Basso C, Brunckhorst C, Tsatsopoulou A, Tandri H, Paul M, Schmied C, Pelliccia A, Duru F, Protonotarios N, Estes NA 3rd, McKenna WJ, Thiene G, Marcus FI, Calkins H. Treatment of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia: an international task force consensus statement. Eur Heart J 2015; 36: 3227-3237 [PMID: 26216920 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv162]
- Corrado D, Perazzolo Marra M, Zorzi A, Beffagna G, Cipriani A, Lazzari M, Migliore F, Pilichou K, Rampazzo A, Rigato I, Rizzo S, Thiene 61 G, Anastasakis A, Asimaki A, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Haugaa KH, Marchlinski FE, Mazzanti A, McKenna WJ, Pantazis A, Pelliccia A, Schmied C, Sharma S, Wichter T, Bauce B, Basso C. Diagnosis of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy: The Padua criteria. Int J Cardiol 2020; 319: 106-114 [PMID: 32561223 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.06.005]
- Groeneweg JA, Bhonsale A, James CA, te Riele AS, Dooijes D, Tichnell C, Murray B, Wiesfeld AC, Sawant AC, Kassamali B, Atsma DE, 62 Volders PG, de Groot NM, de Boer K, Zimmerman SL, Kamel IR, van der Heijden JF, Russell SD, Jan Cramer M, Tedford RJ, Doevendans PA, van Veen TA, Tandri H, Wilde AA, Judge DP, van Tintelen JP, Hauer RN, Calkins H. Clinical Presentation, Long-Term Follow-Up, and



Outcomes of 1001 Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Dysplasia/Cardiomyopathy Patients and Family Members. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2015; 8: 437-446 [PMID: 25820315 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.114.001003]

- 63 Towbin JA, McKenna WJ, Abrams DJ, Ackerman MJ, Calkins H, Darrieux FCC, Daubert JP, de Chillou C, DePasquale EC, Desai MY, Estes NAM 3rd, Hua W, Indik JH, Ingles J, James CA, John RM, Judge DP, Keegan R, Krahn AD, Link MS, Marcus FI, McLeod CJ, Mestroni L, Priori SG, Saffitz JE, Sanatani S, Shimizu W, van Tintelen JP, Wilde AAM, Zareba W. 2019 HRS expert consensus statement on evaluation, risk stratification, and management of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Heart Rhythm 2019; 16: e301-e372 [PMID: 31078652 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2019.05.007]
- Cadrin-Tourigny J, Bosman LP, Nozza A, Wang W, Tadros R, Bhonsale A, Bourfiss M, Fortier A, Lie ØH, Saguner AM, Svensson A, 64 Andorin A, Tichnell C, Murray B, Zeppenfeld K, van den Berg MP, Asselbergs FW, Wilde AAM, Krahn AD, Talajic M, Rivard L, Chelko S, Zimmerman SL, Kamel IR, Crosson JE, Judge DP, Yap SC, van der Heijden JF, Tandri H, Jongbloed JDH, Guertin MC, van Tintelen JP, Platonov PG, Duru F, Haugaa KH, Khairy P, Hauer RNW, Calkins H, Te Riele ASJM, James CA. A new prediction model for ventricular arrhythmias in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 2022; 43: e1-e9 [PMID: 35441664 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac180]
- Aquaro GD, Pingitore A, Di Bella G, Piaggi P, Gaeta R, Grigoratos C, Altinier A, Pantano A, Strata E, De Caterina R, Sinagra G, Emdin M. 65 Prognostic Role of Cardiac Magnetic Resonance in Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 2018; 122: 1745-1753 [PMID: 30220419 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.08.007]
- Aquaro GD, De Luca A, Cappelletto C, Raimondi F, Bianco F, Botto N, Lesizza P, Grigoratos C, Minati M, Dell'Omodarme M, Pingitore A, 66 Stolfo D, Ferro MD, Merlo M, Di Bella G, Sinagra G. Prognostic Value of Magnetic Resonance Phenotype in Patients With Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 75: 2753-2765 [PMID: 32498802 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.04.023]
- Deac M, Alpendurada F, Fanaie F, Vimal R, Carpenter JP, Dawson A, Miller C, Roussin I, di Pietro E, Ismail TF, Roughton M, Wong J, 67 Dawson D, Till JA, Sheppard MN, Mohiaddin RH, Kilner PJ, Pennell DJ, Prasad SK. Prognostic value of cardiovascular magnetic resonance in patients with suspected arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Int J Cardiol 2013; 168: 3514-3521 [PMID: 23701935 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.04.208
- Tandri H, Saranathan M, Rodriguez ER, Martinez C, Bomma C, Nasir K, Rosen B, Lima JA, Calkins H, Bluemke DA. Noninvasive detection 68 of myocardial fibrosis in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy using delayed-enhancement magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 45: 98-103 [PMID: 15629382 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.09.053]
- Lie ØH, Rootwelt-Norberg C, Dejgaard LA, Leren IS, Stokke MK, Edvardsen T, Haugaa KH. Prediction of Life-Threatening Ventricular 69 Arrhythmia in Patients With Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy: A Primary Prevention Cohort Study. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2018; 11: 1377-1386 [PMID: 30031702 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2018.05.017]
- 70 Bourfiss M, Prakken NHJ, James CA, Planken RN, Boekholdt SM, Ahmetagic D, van den Berg MP, Tichnell C, Van der Heijden JF, Loh P, Murray B, Tandri H, Kamel I, Calkins H, Asselbergs FW, Zimmerman SL, Velthuis BK, Te Riele ASJM. Prognostic value of strain by featuretracking cardiac magnetic resonance in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2022; 24: 98-107 [PMID: 35152298 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jeac030]
- Belhassen B, Laredo M, Roudijk RW, Peretto G, Zahavi G, Sen-Chowdhry S, Badenco N, Te Riele ASJM, Sala S, Duthoit G, van Tintelen JP, 71 Paglino G, Sellal JM, Gasperetti A, Arbelo E, Andorin A, Ninni S, Rollin A, Peichl P, Waintraub X, Bosman LP, Pierre B, Nof E, Miles C, Tfelt-Hansen J, Protonotarios A, Giustetto C, Sacher F, Hermida JS, Havranek S, Calo L, Casado-Arroyo R, Conte G, Letsas KP, Zorio E, Bermúdez-Jiménez FJ, Behr ER, Beinart R, Fauchier L, Kautzner J, Maury P, Lacroix D, Probst V, Brugada J, Duru F, de Chillou C, Bella PD, Gandjbakhch E, Hauer R, Milman A. The prevalence of left and right bundle branch block morphology ventricular tachycardia amongst patients with arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy and sustained ventricular tachycardia: insights from the European Survey on Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy. Europace 2022; 24: 285-295 [PMID: 34491328 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euab190]
- 72 Pinamonti B, Dragos AM, Pyxaras SA, Merlo M, Pivetta A, Barbati G, Di Lenarda A, Morgera T, Mestroni L, Sinagra G. Prognostic predictors in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: results from a 10-year registry. Eur Heart J 2011; 32: 1105-1113 [PMID: 21362707 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr040]
- Zhang N, Song Y, Hua W, Hu Y, Chen L, Cai M, Niu H, Cai C, Gu M, Zhao S, Zhang S. Left ventricular involvement assessed by LGE-CMR 73 in predicting the risk of adverse outcomes of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy with ICDs. Int J Cardiol 2021; 337: 79-85 [PMID: 33839174 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2021.04.015]
- Chun KH, Oh J, Hong YJ, Yu HT, Lee CJ, Kim TH, Joung B, Pak HN, Lee MH, Kim YJ, Kang SM. Prognostic Cardiac Magnetic Resonance 74 Markers of Left Ventricular Involvement in Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy for Predicting Heart Failure Outcomes. J Am Heart Assoc 2022; 11: e023167 [PMID: 35261277 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.121.023167]
- Agbaedeng TA, Roberts KA, Colley L, Noubiap JJ, Oxborough D. Incidence and predictors of sudden cardiac death in arrhythmogenic right 75 ventricular cardiomyopathy: a pooled analysis. Europace 2022; 24: 1665-1674 [PMID: 35298614 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euac014]
- 76 Bosman LP, Sammani A, James CA, Cadrin-Tourigny J, Calkins H, van Tintelen JP, Hauer RNW, Asselbergs FW, Te Riele ASJM. Predicting arrhythmic risk in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart Rhythm 2018; 15: 1097-1107 [PMID: 29408436 DOI: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2018.01.031]
- Zghaib T, Te Riele ASJM, James CA, Rastegar N, Murray B, Tichnell C, Halushka MK, Bluemke DA, Tandri H, Calkins H, Kamel IR, 77 Zimmerman SL. Left ventricular fibro-fatty replacement in arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy: prevalence, patterns, and association with arrhythmias. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2021; 23: 58 [PMID: 34011348 DOI: 10.1186/s12968-020-00702-3]
- Asatryan B, Asimaki A, Landstrom AP, Khanji MY, Odening KE, Cooper LT, Marchlinski FE, Gelzer AR, Semsarian C, Reichlin T, Owens 78 AT, Chahal CAA. Inflammation and Immune Response in Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy: State-of-the-Art Review. Circulation 2021; 144: 1646-1655 [PMID: 34780255 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.121.055890]
- 79 Mohty D, Boulogne C, Magne J, Varroud-Vial N, Martin S, Ettaif H, Fadel BM, Bridoux F, Aboyans V, Damy T, Jaccard A. Prognostic value of left atrial function in systemic light-chain amyloidosis: a cardiac magnetic resonance study. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2016; 17: 961-969 [PMID: 27194782 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jew100]
- Arenja N, Andre F, Riffel JH, Siepen FAD, Hegenbart U, Schönland S, Kristen AV, Katus HA, Buss SJ. Prognostic value of novel imaging 80 parameters derived from standard cardiovascular magnetic resonance in high risk patients with systemic light chain amyloidosis. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2019; 21: 53 [PMID: 31434577 DOI: 10.1186/s12968-019-0564-1]
- 81 Ochs MM, Fritz T, Arenja N, Riffel J, Andre F, Mereles D, Siepen FAD, Hegenbart U, Schönland S, Katus HA, Friedrich MGW, Buss SJ. Regional differences in prognostic value of cardiac valve plane displacement in systemic light-chain amyloidosis. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2017; **19**: 87 [PMID: 29121956 DOI: 10.1186/s12968-017-0402-2]



- Wan K, Sun J, Yang D, Liu H, Wang J, Cheng W, Zhang Q, Zeng Z, Zhang T, Greiser A, Jolly MP, Han Y, Chen Y. Left Ventricular 82 Myocardial Deformation on Cine MR Images: Relationship to Severity of Disease and Prognosis in Light-Chain Amyloidosis. Radiology 2018; 288: 73-80 [PMID: 29664336 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2018172435]
- Mekinian A, Lions C, Leleu X, Duhamel A, Lamblin N, Coiteux V, De Groote P, Hatron PY, Facon T, Beregi JP, Hachulla E, Launay D; Lille 83 Amyloidosis Study Group. Prognosis assessment of cardiac involvement in systemic AL amyloidosis by magnetic resonance imaging. Am J Med 2010; 123: 864-868 [PMID: 20800158 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2010.03.022]
- Maceira AM, Prasad SK, Hawkins PN, Roughton M, Pennell DJ. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance and prognosis in cardiac amyloidosis. J 84 Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2008; 10: 54 [PMID: 19032744 DOI: 10.1186/1532-429X-10-54]
- Fontana M, Pica S, Reant P, Abdel-Gadir A, Treibel TA, Banypersad SM, Maestrini V, Barcella W, Rosmini S, Bulluck H, Sayed RH, Patel 85 K, Mamhood S, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Whelan CJ, Herrey AS, Lachmann HJ, Wechalekar AD, Manisty CH, Schelbert EB, Kellman P, Gillmore JD, Hawkins PN, Moon JC. Prognostic Value of Late Gadolinium Enhancement Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance in Cardiac Amyloidosis. Circulation 2015; 132: 1570-1579 [PMID: 26362631 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.016567]
- 86 Raina S, Lensing SY, Nairooz RS, Pothineni NV, Hakeem A, Bhatti S, Pandey T. Prognostic Value of Late Gadolinium Enhancement CMR in Systemic Amyloidosis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2016; 9: 1267-1277 [PMID: 27568115 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2016.01.036]
- Austin BA, Tang WH, Rodriguez ER, Tan C, Flamm SD, Taylor DO, Starling RC, Desai MY. Delayed hyper-enhancement magnetic 87 resonance imaging provides incremental diagnostic and prognostic utility in suspected cardiac amyloidosis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2009; 2: 1369-1377 [PMID: 20083070 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2009.08.008]
- 88 White JA, Kim HW, Shah D, Fine N, Kim KY, Wendell DC, Al-Jaroudi W, Parker M, Patel M, Gwadry-Sridhar F, Judd RM, Kim RJ. CMR imaging with rapid visual T1 assessment predicts mortality in patients suspected of cardiac amyloidosis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2014; 7: 143-156 [PMID: 24412191 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2013.09.019]
- 89 Wan K, Sun J, Han Y, Luo Y, Liu H, Yang D, Cheng W, Zhang Q, Zeng Z, Chen Y. Right ventricular involvement evaluated by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging predicts mortality in patients with light chain amyloidosis. Heart Vessels 2018; 33: 170-179 [PMID: 28840397 DOI: 10.1007/s00380-017-1043-y]
- Wan K, Sun J, Han Y, Liu H, Yang D, Li W, Wang J, Cheng W, Zhang Q, Zeng Z, Chen Y. Increased Prognostic Value of Query Amyloid 90 Late Enhancement Score in Light-Chain Cardiac Amyloidosis. Circ J 2018; 82: 739-746 [PMID: 29093431 DOI: 10.1253/circj.CJ-17-0464]
- Karamitsos TD, Piechnik SK, Banypersad SM, Fontana M, Ntusi NB, Ferreira VM, Whelan CJ, Myerson SG, Robson MD, Hawkins PN, 91 Neubauer S, Moon JC. Noncontrast T1 mapping for the diagnosis of cardiac amyloidosis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2013; 6: 488-497 [PMID: 23498672 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.11.013]
- 92 Lin L, Li X, Feng J, Shen KN, Tian Z, Sun J, Mao YY, Cao J, Jin ZY, Li J, Selvanayagam JB, Wang YN. The prognostic value of T1 mapping and late gadolinium enhancement cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging in patients with light chain amyloidosis. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson 2018; 20: 2 [PMID: 29298704 DOI: 10.1186/s12968-017-0419-6]
- Wan K, Li W, Sun J, Xu Y, Wang J, Liu H, Dong Y, Cheng W, Zhang Q, Zeng Z, Zhou X, Han Y, Chen Y. Regional amyloid distribution and 93 impact on mortality in light-chain amyloidosis: a T1 mapping cardiac magnetic resonance study. Amyloid 2019; 26: 45-51 [PMID: 30931628 DOI: 10.1080/13506129.2019.15787421
- Wassmuth R, Abdel-Aty H, Bohl S, Schulz-Menger J. Prognostic impact of T2-weighted CMR imaging for cardiac amyloidosis. Eur Radiol 94 2011; 21: 1643-1650 [PMID: 21720941 DOI: 10.1007/s00330-011-2109-3]
- Legou F, Tacher V, Damy T, Planté-Bordeneuve V, Rappeneau S, Benhaiem N, Rosso J, Itti E, Luciani A, Kobeiter H, Rahmouni A, Deux JF. 95 Usefulness of T2 ratio in the diagnosis and prognosis of cardiac amyloidosis using cardiac MR imaging. Diagn Interv Imaging 2017; 98: 125-132 [PMID: 27692958 DOI: 10.1016/j.diii.2016.08.007]



WJC

## World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 500-507

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.500

**Retrospective Study** 

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

## Integrated analysis of comorbidity, pregnant outcomes, and amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses with persistent left superior vena cava

Xin Yang, Xin-Hui Su, Zhen Zeng, Yao Fan, Yuan Wu, Li-Li Guo, Xiao-Yan Xu

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

#### Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Rotondo JC, Italy

Received: July 9, 2023 Peer-review started: July 9, 2023 First decision: August 17, 2023 Revised: August 29, 2023 Accepted: September 28, 2023 Article in press: September 28, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Xin Yang, Xin-Hui Su, Zhen Zeng, Yao Fan, Yuan Wu, Li-Li Guo, Xiao-Yan Xu, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China

Corresponding author: Xiao-Yan Xu, PhD, Doctor, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, No. 1095 Jiefang Avenue, Wuhan 430030, Hubei Province, China. xuxiaoyan@tjh.tjmu.edu.cn

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Persistent left superior vena cava (PLSVC) is the most common venous system variant. The clinical characteristics and amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses with PLSVC remain to be further explored.

#### AIM

To develop reliable prenatal diagnostic recommendations through integrated analysis of the clinical characteristics of fetuses with PLSVC.

#### **METHODS**

Cases of PLSVC diagnosed using prenatal ultrasonography between September 2019 and November 2022 were retrospectively studied. The clinical characteristics of the pregnant women, ultrasonic imaging information, gestational age at diagnosis, pregnancy outcomes, and amniocentesis results were summarized and analyzed using categorical statistics and the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test.

#### RESULTS

Of the 97 cases diagnosed by prenatal ultrasound, 49 (50.5%) had isolated PLSVC and 48 (49.5%) had other structural abnormalities. The differences in pregnancy outcomes and amniocentesis conditions between the two groups were statistically significant (P < 0.05). No significant differences were identified between the two groups in terms of advanced maternal age and gestational age (P > 0.05). According to the results of the classification statistics, the most common intracardiac abnormality was a ventricular septal defect and the most common extracardiac abnormality was a single umbilical artery. In the subgroup analysis, the concurrent combination of intra- and extracardiac structural abnormalities was a risk factor for adverse pregnancy outcomes (odds ratio > 1, P < 0.05). Additionally, all abnormal cytogenetic findings on amniocentesis were observed in the comorbidity group. One case was diagnosed with 21-trisomy and six cases was



diagnosed with chromosome segment duplication.

#### CONCLUSION

Examination for other structural abnormalities is strongly recommended when PLSVC is diagnosed. Poorer pregnancy outcomes and increased amniocentesis were observed in PLSVC cases with other structural abnormalities. Amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses is recommended for PLSVC with other structural abnormalities.

Key Words: Persistent left superior vena cava; Prenatal diagnosis; Amniotic fluid cytogenetics; Pregnancy outcome; Integrated analysis; Comorbidity

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Our study was performed for providing reliable prenatal diagnostic advice through integrated analysis of the clinical characteristics of fetuses with persistent left superior vena cava (PLSVC). We retrospectively studied 97 cases of PLSVC diagnosed using prenatal ultrasonography. Of the 97 cases diagnosed by prenatal ultrasound, 49 (50.5%) had isolated PLSVC and 48 (49.5%) had other structural abnormalities. We found that PLSVC is associated with a certain percentage of other combined structural abnormalities. Examination for other structural abnormalities is strongly recommended when PLSVC is diagnosed. Poorer pregnancy outcomes and increased amniocentesis were observed in PLSVC cases with other structural abnormalities.

Citation: Yang X, Su XH, Zeng Z, Fan Y, Wu Y, Guo LL, Xu XY. Integrated analysis of comorbidity, pregnant outcomes, and amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses with persistent left superior vena cava. *World J Cardiol* 2023; 15(10): 500-507 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/500.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.500

#### INTRODUCTION

Persistent left superior vena cava (PLSVC) is the most common venous system variant. The incidence rate of PLSVC in congenital heart disease is approximately 5%-6%, whereas it is only 0.3%-0.5% in the normal population[1,2]. Previous research has shown that the probability of adverse pregnancy outcomes in isolated PLSVC is lower, and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes is significantly increased when combined with other malformations[3]. With improvements in genetic examination technology, some studies have reported that the proportion of fetal chromosomal abnormalities among PLSVC fetuses has significantly increased, which is different from the classic opinion of this disease[4,5].

Since fetal ultrasound examinations are unaffected by pulmonary gases, the prenatal period is the best time to perform vascular examinations[6,7]. Previous studies on PLSVC have focused on a few aspects, some only on the types of comorbidities and others only on pregnancy outcomes. There is a lack of comprehensive studies that provide reliable conclusions for patients and clinicians.

Our study retrospectively collected the clinical data, including the age of the pregnant women, ultrasonic imaging information, pregnancy outcomes, and amniocentesis results, from 97 cases of fetal PLSVC. We integrated clinical information, imaging features, and molecular-level results to provide reliable advice to patients and clinicians in multiple dimensions. Fetal PLSVC cannot be viewed as a purely vascular anatomical variant, and this disease is associated with a certain percentage of other combined structural abnormalities. Therefore, examination for other structural abnormalities should be performed when PLSVC is diagnosed.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study population

Ninety-seven patients with PLSVC diagnosed using prenatal ultrasonography at Tongji Hospital between September 2019 and November 2022 were retrospectively studied. Clinical characteristics included maternal age, gestational weeks, prenatal ultrasound images, specific types of combined intra- and extracardiac abnormalities, pregnancy outcomes, amniocentesis conditions, and results. The range of maternal age was 22 to 39 years, with a mean age of  $30.36 \pm 3.94$  years. The weeks of gestation at which PLSVC was diagnosed in our hospital was 18 to 34 wk, and the average weeks of gestation was  $24.72 \pm 3.99$  wk. There were 87 single pregnancies (89.7%) and 10 twin pregnancies (10.3%), including two double chorionic villi and double amniotic sac twin fetuses (20.0%) and eight cases of single chorionic villi and double amniotic sac twin fetuses (80%). This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Tongji Hospital.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com
### Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Pregnancy at 12 to 34 wk of gestation; (2) complete clinical data; and (3) standard and clear cardiac ultrasound images.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Pregnancy with three or more fetuses; (2) frequent fetal movement leading to poor-quality echocardiography; and (3) incomplete clinical data.

#### Ultrasound instruments and examinations

Using the color Doppler ultrasound instruments GE VOLUSON E8 and VOLUSON E10 (GE, Milwaukee, WI, United States) with a probe frequency of 2 to 5 MHz, after determining the fetal orientation and the relationship between the viscera and heart position, the fetal heart examination conditions were selected. The fetal heart segmental analysis method was used to determine the heart, blood vessel structure, and connection relationship. The focus was on fourchamber heart, three-vessel, and three-vessel trachea sections, combined with color Doppler observation of the blood flow direction and vascular morphology[8,9]. According to prenatal screening guidelines, a comprehensive ultrasound examination was performed on fetuses diagnosed with PLSVC to determine whether there are any concomitant intracardiac or extracardiac abnormalities[10,11].

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical software (SPSS 26.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States) was used for the data analysis. The measurement data conforming to a normal distribution are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SD. The independent samples *t*-test was used for comparison between groups, and the paired sample *t*-test was used for comparison within groups. Count data are expressed as cases (%), and the  $\chi^2$  test or Fisher's exact probability method was used for comparison between groups. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.

## RESULTS

## Comparison of clinical characteristics between the group with isolated PLSVC and the group with additional

#### malformations

Ninety-seven cases diagnosed using prenatal ultrasound were included in our study, including 49 cases (50.5%) with isolated PLSVC and 48 (49.5%) with other structural abnormalities. The mean age in the isolated PLSVC group was 30.39  $\pm$  4.04 years, and the mean age of those having PLSVC with other malformations was 30.46  $\pm$  3.89 years. There was no statistically significant difference in gestational age between the two groups. The clinical characteristics of the patients are shown in Table 1. We summarized the maternal age, number of fetuses, gestational weeks at first diagnosis, pregnancy outcomes, and amniocentesis conditions. After statistical analysis, we found significant differences in pregnancy outcomes and amniocentesis conditions between the two groups (P < 0.05). No statistical differences were found between the two groups in terms of maternal age, number of fetuses, and gestational weeks at first diagnosis. These observations demonstrate that PLSVC with other structural abnormalities may be associated with more adverse pregnancy outcomes. Pregnant women were more likely to be recommended for amniocentesis diagnosis.

## Types of intracardiac structural abnormalities in PLSVC fetuses

After summarizing the clinical features, we found that a considerable proportion of PLSVC cases had other structural abnormalities. We summarized the specific types of abnormalities observed with PLSVC to provide a reference for improving the accuracy of ultrasound screening.

Among the included cases, 22 presented with cardiovascular system abnormalities, including 11 with both intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities. The specific types and number of cases are listed in Table 2. Among these, interventricular septum defects were the most common, followed by aortic coarctation. These results indicate that when a PLSVC is found, scanning of the interventricular septum and aortic arch should be performed.

## Types of extracardiac structural abnormalities in PLSVC fetuses

In addition to the cardiovascular system, the types of combined abnormalities of other systems in PLSVC were relatively complex, with 37 cases of abnormalities in extracardiac structures, including 11 combined with both intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities. The specific types and numbers of cases are listed in Table 3. Among them, a single umbilical artery was observed in the largest number of cases, followed by persistent right umbilical vein and urinary system abnormalities. These results indicate that when PLSVC is found, scanning of the umbilical vascular structure and urinary system should be performed.

#### Subgroup analysis of combined intra- and extracardiac abnormalities

Based on the above observations, we found that the number of patients with PLSVC combined with intra- and extracardiac abnormalities was not consistent. Therefore, we further investigated how intra- and extracardiac structural abnormalities affect pregnancy outcomes through subgroup analysis. In our case series, 13 (13.4%) patients with PLSVC terminated their pregnancy, and 84 (86.6%) continued their pregnancy. Among the 13 terminated pregnancy cases, 12 (92.3%) had other structural abnormalities and seven (53.8%) had both intracardiac and extracardiac structural abnormalities. We found that patients with PLSVC with extracardiac abnormalities had the highest sustained pregnancy



Table 1 Clinical characteristics in the isolated persistent left superior vena cava group and the persistent left superior vena cava with other malformations group, n (%)

	Isolated PLSVC (n = 49)	PLSVC with other malformations (n = 48)	X <sup>2</sup>	P value
Age				
< 35 years old	42 (85.7)	39 (81.3)	0.35	0.55
≥ 35 years old	7 (14.3)	9 (18.7)		
Number of fetuses				
Singleton	43 (87.8)	44 (91.7)	0.40	0.53
Twins	6 (12.2)	4 (8.3)		
Gestational age at initial diagnosis				
Before 28 wk	46 (93.9)	45 (93.8)	0.001	0.97
After 28 wk	3 (6.1)	3 (6.2)		
Pregnancy outcome				
Persistent pregnancy	48 (98.0)	36 (75.0)	11.01	0.001
Terminated pregnancy	1 (2.0)	12 (25.0)		
Amniocentesis status				
No apparent abnormalities	5 (10.2)	14 (29.2)	15.33	< 0.001
Abnormal results	0 (0.0)	7 (14.6)		
No amniocentesis performed	44 (89.8)	27 (56.2)		

PLSVC: Persistent left superior vena cava.

Table 2 Specific types of intracardiac structural abnormalities in 97 cases of persistent left superior vena cava, <i>n</i> (%)					
Type of intracardiac structural abnormalities	n (%)				
Ventricular septal defect	7 (31.8)				
Aortic coarctation	5 (22.7)				
Tetralogy of Fallot	3 (13.6)				
Right-sided aortic arch	3 (13.6)				
Left pulmonary artery originating from the right pulmonary artery	1 (4.5)				
Single atrium with complete endocardial cushion defect	1 (4.5)				
Midline heart with ventricular wall hypertrophy	1 (4.5)				
Absence of right superior vena cava	1 (4.5)				
Total	22 (100)				

rates. Using statistical methods, we compared the other subgroups with this group to identify risk factors. In terms of sustained pregnancy rate, the presence of simultaneous abnormal cardiac and extracardiac structures was a risk factor affecting sustained pregnancy rate (odds ratio > 1, P < 0.05). Specific data are presented in Table 4.

## Amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses with PLSVC

Amniotic fluid cytogenetics enables further investigation of cases with imaging abnormalities and plays an irreplaceable role in clarifying the etiology. In our case series, 26 pregnant women chose amniocentesis, including five isolated PLSVC cases and 21 PLSVC cases with other abnormalities. No obvious abnormalities were observed in the amniocentesis results of the isolated PLSVC group. However, amniocentesis results in the group with combined intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities displayed a certain proportion of anomalies, including one case with 21-trisomy and six cases with abnormal copy number variations (CNVs). Despite the limited research data on CNVs in PLSVC cases, specific types of analysis can still provide effective information for clinical practice. Six cases of abnormal CNVs were identified as repetitions of chromosomal regions, including two cases classified as potentially benign, three cases classified as variants of uncertain significance, and one as potentially pathogenic. The results are presented in Table 5. These observations

Zaishidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 Specific types of extracardiac structural abnormalities in 97 cases of persistent left superior vena cava, <i>n</i> (%)					
Type of extracardiac structural abnormalities	n (%)				
Single umbilical artery	9 (24.3)				
Persistent right umbilical vein	6 (16.2)				
urinary system abnormalities	6 (16.2)				
Neurological system abnormalities	3 (8.1)				
Pleural effusion	2 (5.4)				
Pulmonary cystadenoma	2 (5.4)				
Absence of nasal bone	2 (5.4)				
Gallbladder abnormalities	2 (5.4)				
Situs inversus	1 (2.7)				
Scoliosis	1 (2.7)				
Multiple malformations	3 (8.1)				
Total	37 (100)				

#### Table 4 Analysis of pregnancy outcomes in persistent left superior vena cava with intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities

Туре	Persistent pregnancy, <i>n</i> (%)	OR	95%CI	P value
PLSVC only with extracardiac abnormalities	24 (92.3)			
PLSVC only with intracardiac abnormalities	8 (72.7)	4.5	0.63-31.95	0.12
PLSVC with intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities	4 (36.3)	21.0	3.16-139.67	0.001

PLSVC: Persistent left superior vena cava.

#### Table 5 Six cases with abnormal copy number variation sequencing results in persistent left superior vena cava

	Chromosomal location	Variation type	Fragment size	Clinical significance
1	Chromosome 15	Repetition	0.4 Mb	Potentially benign
2	Chromosome 2	Repetition	0.5 Mb	Potentially benign
3	Chromosome 11	Repetition	3.9 Mb	VUS
4	Chromosome 19	Repetition	187.4 Kb	VUS
5	Chromosome 1	Repetition	2.3 Mb	VUS
6	Chromosome 1	Repetition	> 10 Mb	Potential pathogenicity

VUS: Variants of uncertain significance.

imply that CNVs may be associated with PLSVC combined with other abnormalities. When PLSVC cases with other abnormalities are detected, amniocentesis may contribute to the prenatal diagnosis and clinical decision-making.

## DISCUSSION

PLSVC is the most common venous system variant. However, the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes is significantly increased when PLSVC is combined with other malformations. Our study was performed to provide reliable prenatal diagnostic recommendations through integrated analysis of the clinical characteristics of fetuses with PLSVC.

Fetal ultrasound examination is not affected by pulmonary gases; therefore, ultrasound can comprehensively observe the superior vena cava, and prenatal screening is the best time for PLSVC<sup>[7]</sup>. Several case reports have demonstrated difficulties in the diagnosis of PLSVC in adults, and certain patients require special examination methods [12,13]. PLSVC has typical sonographic features, with a cross-sectional view of the PLSVC visible on the left side of the pulmonary artery



Saishideng® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

in a three-vessel tracheal section [14]. In cases of PLSVC, approximately 90% enter the right atrium through the coronary sinus and approximately 10% directly enter the left atrium. In patients presenting with the left superior vena cava entering the right atrium through the coronary sinus, a dilated coronary sinus is observed on a four-chamber view [15,16]. Some cases in this study were not detected in the mid-trimester systematic screening, and most missed cases were twins. The limitations associated with scanning due to mutual fetal occlusion may be the main reason for missed diagnoses. This study integrates clinical factors, imaging information, and amniotic fluid cytogenetic information. As such, it is innovative compared to previous studies, showing that PLSVC is not just a simple anatomical variant, but is also associated with a higher rate of other structural abnormalities. In cases of PLSVC combined with other structural abnormalities, there are differences in pregnancy outcomes and amniocentesis.

This study classified and summarized the types and proportions of intra- and extracardiac abnormalities associated with PLSVC. These types of intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities are consistent with previous research findings, both domestic and international [17-20]. A previous case report indicated that PLSVC can occur with anorectal malformation, an abnormality that we did not observe[21]. However, in this study, the proportion of patients with concurrent intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities (n = 11) was slightly higher than that in similar studies from China[22]. Our results indicate that when a PLSVC is detected, scanning of the interventricular septum, aortic arch, umbilical vascular structure, and urinary system should be performed. These findings may help clinicians reduce the incidence of missed diagnoses.

Pregnancy is a dynamic process, and the composition of fetal peripheral blood also varies with gestational age[23,24]. Amniotic fluid cytogenetics maintains a relatively stable state and greatly improves the accuracy of prenatal diagnoses, especially in cases with imaging abnormalities. Chromosome karyotype analysis is the gold standard for diagnosing chromosomal-related diseases; however, traditional chromosome karyotype analysis cannot detect chromosomal microdeletions or microduplications below 5-10 Mb.

Genomic copy number variant sequencing (CNV-seq) is a second-generation sequencing-based test that can be used to identify CNVs as an aid to prenatal diagnosis when a pregnant woman has an indication for interventional prenatal diagnosis and provides informed consent. Studies have found that the proportion of PLSVC fetuses with chromosomalrelated abnormalities is 12.5%, and in isolated PLSVC cases, the proportion of chromosomal-related abnormalities can reach 7%[4]. Du et al[5] also demonstrated that in PLSVC cases, especially in cases of combined intracardiac and extracardiac abnormalities, the proportion of chromosomal abnormalities significantly increases. Most previous studies in China focused on chromosomal abnormalities, such as permanent left superior vena cava combined with trisomy 21 and trisomy 18, lacked a summary of the classification of abnormal results of PLSVC combined with CNVs[22,25].

In this study, a total of 26 pregnant women chose amniocentesis for diagnosis, including one case with 21-trisomy and six cases with abnormal CNVs results, all of which showed duplication of chromosomal regions, of which five cases were microduplications of less than 10 Mb.

This study had some limitations. Because the PLSVC incidence rate is only 0.3%-0.5% in the normal population [26], the number of included cases was small, which means that the credibility of the study needs to be further improved. In addition, no significant pathogenic abnormalities were found in the isolated PLSVC group, and in seven cases, abnormalities were found in the amniocentesis results of the group with other abnormalities. The risks of abnormal karyotypes and CNVs may increase in the presence of comorbidities. However, because amniocentesis is an invasive test with some risks[27], the comorbidity group chose to undergo amniocentesis more often, leading to confounding factors in the analysis. However, this study innovatively integrated and analyzed data at clinical, imaging, and genetic molecular levels, which can provide reliable prenatal diagnostic recommendations.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, examination for other structural abnormalities should be performed when PLSVC is diagnosed. Poor pregnancy outcomes and increased amniocentesis were observed in PLSVC cases with other structural abnormalities. Amniotic fluid cytogenetics of fetuses is recommended for PLSVC with other structural abnormalities.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

### Research background

Persistent left superior vena cava (PLSVC) is the most common venous system variant. Previous research has shown that the probability of adverse pregnancy outcomes in isolated PLSVC is lower, and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes is significantly increased when combined with other malformations. In recent years, some studies have reported that the proportion of fetal chromosomal abnormalities among PLSVC fetuses has significantly increased, which is different from the classic opinion on this disease. There is a lack of comprehensive studies that provide reliable conclusions for patients and clinicians.

#### Research motivation

In recent years, the advancement of prenatal diagnostic technology has overturned traditional concepts of some diseases.

### Research objectives

We integrated clinical information, imaging features, and molecular-level results to provide reliable advice to patients and clinicians in multiple dimensions.

### Research methods

We retrospectively collected cases of PLSVC diagnosed using prenatal ultrasonography between September 2019 and November 2022. The clinical characteristics of the pregnant women, ultrasonic imaging information, gestational age at diagnosis, pregnancy outcomes, and amniocentesis results were summarized and analyzed.

### Research results

The differences in pregnancy outcomes and amniocentesis conditions between the two groups were statistically significant (P < 0.05). According to the results of the classification statistics, the most common intracardiac abnormality was a ventricular septal defect and the most common extracardiac abnormality was a single umbilical artery. Additionally, all abnormal cytogenetic findings on amniocentesis were observed in the comorbidity group.

### Research conclusions

PLSVC is associated with a certain percentage of other combined structural abnormalities. Examination for other structural abnormalities is strongly recommended when PLSVC is diagnosed. Poorer pregnancy outcomes and increased amniocentesis were observed in PLSVC cases with other structural abnormalities. Integrated analysis of multiple levels could provide more information.

#### Research perspectives

In future studies, researchers should collect more amniotic fluid cytological data and follow-up prognosis of related fetuses.

## FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Yang X and Su XH performed the conception and design; Zeng Z and Guo LL performed the development of methodology; Fan Y and Wu Y contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data; Yang X and Su XH contributed to the writing and review of the manuscript; Xu XY performed the study supervision; Yang X and Su XH contributed equally to this work; all authors had final approval of the submitted versions.

Supported by Key Research and Development Plan Projects in Hubei Province, No. 2022BCA041; and National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 82101277.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (No. TJ-IRB20230736).

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrolment.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** The authors declare no conflict of interest for this article.

**Data sharing statement:** No additional data are available.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID** number: Xin Yang 0000-0001-9753-4241; Xin-Hui Su 0009-0002-0317-288X; Zhen Zeng 0000-0002-2816-2939; Yao Fan 0000-0002-5214-6146; Yuan Wu 0009-0002-4727-2903; Li-Li Guo 0009-0008-3454-1581; Xiao-Yan Xu 0000-0002-0996-6819.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Yuan YY

## REFERENCES

Chao YJ, Chen MR, Hung WL, Yeh SJ, Lin SM. Impact of Persistent Left Superior Vena Cava Detection in a Normal Neonatal Population 1 through Echocardiography. Acta Cardiol Sin 2019; 35: 600-604 [PMID: 31879511 DOI: 10.6515/ACS.201911\_35(6).20190704A]



- Keles A, Yılmaz O, Dağdeviren G, Çelik ÖY, Yücel A, Şahin D. Persistent Left Superior Vena Cava: Why is Prenatal Diagnosis Important? 2 Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2022; 41: 592-602 [PMID: 34106033 DOI: 10.1080/15513815.2021.1933662]
- 3 Galindo A, Gutiérrez-Larraya F, Escribano D, Arbues J, Velasco JM. Clinical significance of persistent left superior vena cava diagnosed in fetal life. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2007; 30: 152-161 [PMID: 17616965 DOI: 10.1002/uog.4045]
- Gustapane S, Leombroni M, Khalil A, Giacci F, Marrone L, Bascietto F, Rizzo G, Acharya G, Liberati M, D'Antonio F. Systematic review 4 and meta-analysis of persistent left superior vena cava on prenatal ultrasound: associated anomalies, diagnostic accuracy and postnatal outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016; 48: 701-708 [PMID: 26970258 DOI: 10.1002/uog.15914]
- Du L, Xie HN, Zhu YX, Li LJ, Peng R, Zheng J. Fetal persistent left superior vena cava in cases with and without chromosomal anomalies. 5 Prenat Diagn 2014; 34: 797-802 [PMID: 24711103 DOI: 10.1002/pd.4380]
- Huang W, Xia LF, Zheng DC, Li X, Zheng YJ. Prenatal echocardiographic diagnosis of fetal permanent left superior vena cava. Zhonghua 6 linchuangyixue Yingxiangxue Zazhi 2011; 3: 193-194
- 7 Azizova A, Onder O, Arslan S, Ardali S, Hazirolan T. Persistent left superior vena cava: clinical importance and differential diagnoses. Insights Imaging 2020; 11: 110 [PMID: 33057803 DOI: 10.1186/s13244-020-00906-2]
- 8 Ergani SY, Yılmaz O. Step-By-Step Segmental Analysis of the Fetal Heart with an Uncommon Situs Anomaly. Z Geburtshilfe Neonatol 2022; 226: 136-138 [PMID: 35172369 DOI: 10.1055/a-1730-6127]
- Carvalho JS, Axt-Fliedner R, Chaoui R, Copel JA, Cuneo BF, Goff D, Gordin Kopylov L, Hecher K, Lee W, Moon-Grady AJ, Mousa HA, 9 Munoz H, Paladini D, Prefumo F, Quarello E, Rychik J, Tutschek B, Wiechec M, Yagel S. ISUOG Practice Guidelines (updated): fetal cardiac screening. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2023; 61: 788-803 [PMID: 37267096 DOI: 10.1002/uog.26224]
- Salomon LJ, Alfirevic Z, Berghella V, Bilardo CM, Chalouhi GE, Da Silva Costa F, Hernandez-Andrade E, Malinger G, Munoz H, Paladini 10 D, Prefumo F, Sotiriadis A, Toi A, Lee W. ISUOG Practice Guidelines (updated): performance of the routine mid-trimester fetal ultrasound scan. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2022; 59: 840-856 [PMID: 35592929 DOI: 10.1002/uog.24888]
- 11 Salomon LJ, Alfirevic Z, Da Silva Costa F, Deter RL, Figueras F, Ghi T, Glanc P, Khalil A, Lee W, Napolitano R, Papageorghiou A, Sotiriadis A, Stirnemann J, Toi A, Yeo G. ISUOG Practice Guidelines: ultrasound assessment of fetal biometry and growth. Ultrasound Obstet *Gynecol* 2019; **53**: 715-723 [PMID: 31169958 DOI: 10.1002/uog.20272]
- Tyrak KW, Holda J, Holda MK, Koziej M, Piatek K, Klimek-Piotrowska W. Persistent left superior vena cava. Cardiovasc J Afr 2017; 28: e1-12 e4 [PMID: 28759082 DOI: 10.5830/CVJA-2016-084]
- Laasri K, El Graini S, Zahi H, Halfi IM, Bachri H, Massri EA, Zebbar S, Soufiani A, Fellat N, Bendagha N, Fellat R, Nassar I, Billah NM. 13 Persistent left superior vena cava: Case report. Radiol Case Rep 2023; 18: 79-85 [PMID: 36324842 DOI: 10.1016/j.radcr.2022.09.076]
- 14 Lopes KRM, Bartsota M, Doughty V, Carvalho JS. Single left superior vena cava: antenatal diagnosis, associated anomalies and outcomes. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2022; 60: 640-645 [PMID: 35656845 DOI: 10.1002/uog.24966]
- 15 Hornberger LK. Re: Cardiac axis shift within the cardiac cycle of normal fetuses and fetuses with congenital heart defect. Y. Zhao, S. Abuhamad, E. Sinkovskaya, M. Mlynarczyk, L. Romary and A. Abuhamad. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2015; 46: 558-563. Ultrasound Obstet *Gynecol* 2015; **46**: 518-519 [PMID: 26525500 DOI: 10.1002/uog.15779]
- Chaoui R, Heling KS, Kalache KD. Caliber of the coronary sinus in fetuses with cardiac defects with and without left persistent superior vena 16 cava and in growth-restricted fetuses with heart-sparing effect. Prenat Diagn 2003; 23: 552-557 [PMID: 12868081 DOI: 10.1002/pd.626]
- Li XJ, Zhang R, Bian Y, Feng J, Zeng J. Diagnosis and Prognosis Analysis of 72 Fetal Persistent Left Superior vena cava. Baiquen Yixuezazhi 17 2016; 6: 744-745+810
- Li J, Jing CL, Chen CM. Prenatal ultrasound diagnosis and clinical analysis of persistent left superior vena cava in 71 cases of fetuses. Dalian 18 Yikedaxue Xuebao 2016; 3: 279-284
- Durand I, Hazelzet T, Gillibert A, Parrod C, David N, El Youssef F, Brehin AC, Barre E. Outcomes following prenatal diagnosis of isolated 19 persistent left superior vena cava. Arch Cardiovasc Dis 2022; 115: 335-347 [PMID: 35660361 DOI: 10.1016/j.acvd.2022.03.005]
- 20 Esin D, Aslan Çetin B, Şenol G, Selçuki NFT, Gedik Özköse Z, Acar Z, Yüksel MA. Clinical significance of prenatally diagnosed persistent left superior vena cava. J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod 2022; 51: 102332 [PMID: 35123124 DOI: 10.1016/j.jogoh.2022.102332]
- 21 Aihole JS. Persistent Left Superior Vena Cava: A Rare Association. Glob Pediatr Health 2021; 8: 2333794X211015527 [PMID: 34104691 DOI: 10.1177/2333794X211015527]
- Wu XL, Zhou WN. Value of ultrasound detection of persistent left superior vena cava in screening fetal cardiac and extracardiac anomaly. 22 Yixueyanjiu Yu Jiaoyu 2016; 2: 31-35
- Rotondo JC, Oton-Gonzalez L, Selvatici R, Rizzo P, Pavasini R, Campo GC, Lanzillotti C, Mazziotta C, De Mattei M, Tognon M, Martini F. 23 SERPINA1 Gene Promoter Is Differentially Methylated in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells of Pregnant Women. Front Cell Dev Biol 2020; 8: 550543 [PMID: 33015055 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2020.550543]
- Kirkegaard I, Henriksen TB, Uldbjerg N. Early fetal growth, PAPP-A and free β-hCG in relation to risk of delivering a small-for-gestational 24 age infant. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2011; 37: 341-347 [PMID: 20737455 DOI: 10.1002/uog.8808]
- 25 Lian M, Zhong XH, Zhou SL, Ma Li. Analysis of the causes of misdiagnosis by prenatal ultrasound and merge expections in fetuses with persistent left superior vena cava. Zhonguo Chaosheng Yixue Zazhi 2022; 10: 1138-1141
- Poenaru MO, Hamoud BH, Sima RM, Valcea ID, Chicea R, Ples L. Persistent Left Superior Vena Cava Significance in Prenatal Diagnosis-26 Case Series. J Clin Med 2022; 11 [PMID: 35887792 DOI: 10.3390/jcm11144020]
- Jummaat F, Ahmad S, Mohamed Ismail NA. 5-Year review on amniocentesis and its maternal fetal complications. Horm Mol Biol Clin 27 Investig 2019; 40 [PMID: 31539354 DOI: 10.1515/hmbci-2019-0006]



WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 508-517

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.508

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

**Retrospective Study** 

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

# Establishment of a prediction model for prehospital return of spontaneous circulation in out-of-hospital patients with cardiac arrest

Jing-Jing Wang, Qiang Zhou, Zhen-Hua Huang, Yong Han, Chong-Zhen Qin, Zhong-Qing Chen, Xiao-Yong Xiao, Zhe Deng

Specialty type: Emergency medicine

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B, B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Lakusic N, Croatia; Ong H, Malaysia

Received: July 23, 2023 Peer-review started: July 23, 2023 First decision: September 4, 2023 Revised: September 17, 2023 Accepted: September 22, 2023 Article in press: September 22, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Jing-Jing Wang, Qiang Zhou, Zhen-Hua Huang, Yong Han, Chong-Zhen Qin, Zhong-Qing Chen, Xiao-Yong Xiao, Zhe Deng, Department of Emergency Medicine, Shenzhen Second People's Hospital/The First Affiliated Hospital of Shenzhen University Health Science Center, shenzhen 518035, Guangdong Province, China

Corresponding author: Zhe Deng, Doctor, MD, PhD, Chief Doctor, Chief Physician, Doctor, Occupational Physician, Professor, Teacher, Department of Emergency Medicine, Shenzhen Second People's Hospital/The First Affiliated Hospital of Shenzhen University Health Science Center, Sungang Road, Futian District, Shenzhen 518035, China. dengzhe202209@163.com

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) is a leading cause of death worldwide.

## AIM

To explore factors influencing prehospital return of spontaneous circulation (P-ROSC) in patients with OHCA and develop a nomogram prediction model.

## **METHODS**

Clinical data of patients with OHCA in Shenzhen, China, from January 2012 to December 2019 were retrospectively analyzed. Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression and multivariate logistic regression were applied to select the optimal factors predicting P-ROSC in patients with OHCA. A nomogram prediction model was established based on these influencing factors. Discrimination and calibration were assessed using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) and calibration curves. Decision curve analysis (DCA) was used to evaluate the model's clinical utility.

## RESULTS

Among the included 2685 patients with OHCA, the P-ROSC incidence was 5.8%. LASSO and multivariate logistic regression analyses showed that age, bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), initial rhythm, CPR duration, ventilation mode, and pathogenesis were independent factors influencing P-ROSC in these patients. The area under the ROC was 0.963. The calibration plot demonstrated

that the predicted P-ROSC model was concordant with the actual P-ROSC. The good clinical usability of the prediction model was confirmed using DCA.

#### CONCLUSION

The nomogram prediction model could effectively predict the probability of P-ROSC in patients with OHCA.

**Key Words:** Cardiac arrest; Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; Recovery spontaneous circulation; Logistic regression analysis; Predictive model

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** A large gap in the rate of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation remains between China and other countries and that the relative contributions of aid measures of the factors to prehospital return of spontaneous circulation vary across countries. There is still not such model, including pre-emergency medical service intervention factors and Prehospital emergency measures, developing for prehospital return of spontaneous circulation in China. Compared to similar models from other countries, the model proposed in the present study is interpretable, convenient to implement, easy to comprehend in busy prehospital processing, and comprehensive, including prehospital drug administration. Therefore, it could serve as a potentially assistive tool for clinical aid decision-making.

**Citation:** Wang JJ, Zhou Q, Huang ZH, Han Y, Qin CZ, Chen ZQ, Xiao XY, Deng Z. Establishment of a prediction model for prehospital return of spontaneous circulation in out-of-hospital patients with cardiac arrest. *World J Cardiol* 2023; 15(10): 508-517 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/508.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.508

## INTRODUCTION

Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA), a leading cause of death worldwide, has an average incidence of (30.0-97.1) cases per 100000 person-years[1], with a survival rate of only 8.8% at hospital discharge[2]. In China, 550000 people develop OHCA annually[2] with a survival rate of only 1.3% after discharge, making OHCA a major public health issue. The survival rate from hospital discharge of patients with OHCA who have achieved a return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) to hospital handover is still approximately 10%[3]. Moreover, patients with prehospital ROSC (P-ROSC) have better neurological outcomes compared with those who do not. Some areas regions have reported high ROSC rates during hospital handovers, such as 25% in England[4] and 29.1% in Tasmania, Australia[5]. In China, however, the P-ROSC rate was only 6.26% in a recent survey in Beijing[6], demonstrating that a large gap still exists between countries.

Investigations have reported a range of pre-emergency medical service (EMS) intervention factors for patients with OHCA that are associated with P-ROSC, including age, prehospital drug administration, witnessed status, first rhythm, and response time[7]. The relative contribution of each of these factors to P-ROSC varies across countries. However, no model including pre-EMS intervention factors and prehospital emergency measures has been developed for ROSC during hospital handovers in China. Therefore, the development of an effective prediction model is required for ROSC during hospital handovers based on pre-EMS intervention factors and prehospital emergency measures.

This study aimed to identify independent factors associated with P-ROSC and develop and evaluate a nomogram model in China to predict whether ROSC can be achieved during the prehospital period in OHCA.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study design and setting

A multicenter retrospective study was conducted at the Shenzhen Center for Prehospital Care, which covered all hospitals in Shenzhen; that is, approximately 150 hospitals, from January 2012 to December 2019. All first-aid measures were performed according to the American Heart Association (AHA) Guidelines for cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR).

#### Participants

We retrospectively collected data from emergency medical technicians (EMTs). The inclusion criteria were patients with OHCA aged  $\geq$  18 years, The exclusion criteria were incomplete cases, dead patients (*i.e.*, rigor mortis, lividity, decomposition, or decapitation) without CPR by the EMTs, and patients whose family members forwent all treatments.

Raishideng® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Data collection

Data were gathered from two sources: The Registration System of Pre-hospital First Aid Information and Statistics and the Patient Care Report Form. The extracted data included clinical features such as sex, age, time of arrest (i.e., 0-8, 8-16, or 16-24 min), season of arrest, bystander CPR, initial rhythm, CPR duration, ventilation mode, defibrillation, epinephrine dose, use of other drugs (atropine, lidocaine, and amiodarone), and outcomes (P-ROSC).

According to the 2015 AHA guidelines, ROSC was defined as the clinical indication of the presence of vital signs, including palpable pulses or blood pressure.

#### Statistical analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 26.0, and R 3.1.2 were used to perform all analyses. The t-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used for numerical variables, while the chi-square test was applied to categorical variables. A model was established using least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression and multivariable backward regression. For the LASSO regression, lambda.min (a minimum mean squared error) and lambda.1se (lambda.min with one standard error) were identified as the goodness penalty lambda based on the lambda-choosing path[8]. To screen for potential predictive factors, LASSO regression models with a lambda.1 se penalty were constructed. The variables selected via LASSO were included in a multivariate backward regression analysis to identify the independent influencing features of patients with OHCA. A nomogram prediction model was then constructed based on the variables with statistical significance. The discrimination and calibration of the model were assessed using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) and calibration curves, as well as the Hosmer-Lemeshow test. Internal verification was performed by strengthening the bootstrap method for 1000 repetitions, as shown in the calibration curves. The clinical practicability of the model was evaluated using decision curve analysis (DCA) according to the net benefit with different threshold probabilities.

## RESULTS

A total of 2685 cases of patients with OHCA satisfied the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Table 1 presents the characteristics of all OHCA incidents in which first-aid treatment was implemented.

#### Feature selection and model development

We applied LASSO regression to identify potential predictors and then employed multivariate backward logistic regression to establish the model. As shown in Figure 1, the LASSO regression identified seven features through the lambda.1se penalty: Age, bystander CPR, initial rhythm, CPR duration, ventilation mode, use of amiodarone and lidocaine, and etiology. A model was then formed based on the factors evaluated using multivariate logistic regression (Table 2, Figure 3), during which amiodarone was eliminated.

#### Validation of the predictive model

The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (AUC) of the P-ROSC prediction model was 0.9627 (95%: 0.9485-0.9769), which demonstrated the good discrimination ability of the model (Figure 3). A strengthened bootstrap self-sampling method was used to verify the model internally. Furthermore, the calibration plots fitted well with the ideal curves (Figure 4), indicating that the predicted probability was consistent with the actual probability, as suggested by the results of the Hosmer-Lemeshow test ( $\chi^2 = 8.421$ , df = 8, P = 0.3935). DCA to evaluate the clinical utility showed a net benefit for the "treat-all" or "treat-none" strategy (Figure 5), which suggested that the model was clinically useful.

### DISCUSSION

The survival to hospital discharge in patients with OHCA worldwide is only 4.5% [9]. P-ROSC is a short-term survival event. However, recent studies have shown that patients who achieve P-ROSC have better neurological outcomes than those who do not [10,11]. Therefore, pre-EMS intervention factors and prehospital emergency measures have been analyzed to evaluate whether EMS intervention measures, including drug treatments, are necessary to inform EMT decisions to terminate the rescue following an appropriate determination to terminate resuscitation.

Age is an influencing factor in OHCA outcomes<sup>[12]</sup>, age is considered as an influencing factor of OHCA outcomes. Consistent with the results of previous studies[13], age was significantly associated with ROSC in the adjusted model (OR: 0.98, P < 0.001) in the present study. In terms of etiology, cardiovascular system diseases accounted for the largest proportion of patients with OHCA (53.3%) in this study, while OHCA caused by central nervous system diseases had the highest rate of P-ROSC failure, followed by patients with traumas.

In some regions, the number of CPR bystanders has reached 50%, particularly in advanced countries[14]. However, although it is increasing annually, the bystander CPR rate remained poor in the current study. Rajan et al[15] suggested that sustained bystander CPR could increase by more than two-fold. In our study, CPR by bystanders increased the chances of ROSC by 2.6-fold (P = 0.004) compared with no bystander CPR.

The initial rhythm is another critical factor because timely defibrillation can increase the ROSC rate when a shockable rhythm occurs[16]. In the present study, the initial rhythm was also an essential variable of P-ROSC after adjusting for other variables (P < 0.001). Moreover, patients with agonal electrocardiography (Ag ECG) characteristics, such as slow





Figure 1 Factor selection of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation via least absolute shrinkage and selection operator regression. A: Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator coefficient profiles of the 17 features. A coefficient profile plot was conducted against the log (lambda,  $\lambda$ ) sequence; B: Through 10-fold cross-validation, and the optimal parameter (lambda,  $\lambda$ ) selection via the minimum criteria. A partial likelihood deviance (binomial deviance) curve was plotted versus log  $\lambda$ . The dotted vertical line on the right was drawn at lambda.1se and four features were selected.

ventricular escape and bradycardia, who progressed to OHCA during treatment, had a higher P-ROSC rate, implying that a shorter time of no reflow time could improve prognosis.

Furthermore, CPR duration is a vital factor in predicting OHCA outcomes. Despite advances in CPR, no comprehensive agreement has been reached regarding the duration of CPR and the time for its termination in patients with OHCA. Funada *et al*[17] reported that CPR sustained in patients with OHCA > 26 min commonly caused ROSC failure. In the present study, the optimal cut-off time was 27.5 min and each additional minute of CPR was related to a 22% decrease in the probability of P-ROSC (OR: 0.78, P < 0.001) after adjustment for variable. Moreover, some studies suggested no possibility of ROSC in CPR lasting > 30 min, usually accompanied by irreversible damage to the brain[18]. Hence, uncertainties in the proper termination rules for CPR in basic and advanced life support care could increase pressure on ambulance transport, competition for medical resources, and risk of exposure to public accidents owing to high-speed transport[19]. However, the appropriate resuscitation termination for patients with OHCA remains controversial. Based on the model performance, we found that patients with OHCA and organ function as well as family abandonment of rescue do not require resuscitation times > 30 min. Conversely, in terms of OHCA of young adults (such as sudden cardiac deaths and sudden deaths of unknown causes), ECG manifestations of ventricular fibrillation or bradycardia, or a slow ventricular escape, the intensity of continuous resuscitation should be strengthened until the family approves that resuscitation can be terminated, even beyond 30 min of sustained CPR.

Finally, regarding prehospital advanced airway management (AAM) in patients with OHCA[20,21], some studies have shown that endotracheal intubation (ETI) can improve the probability of sustained ROSC, survival to hospital discharge, and neurologic outcomes[22]. In the present study, ETI was significantly associated with P-ROSC (OR: 8.28, P < 0.001). Moreover, Benoit *et al*[23] suggested that a delay in ETI was related to worse ROSC outcomes. In addition, Izawa *et al*[24] confirmed that AAM resulted in better survival in patients with non-shockable rhythms than in those with shockable

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

## Wang JJ et al. Prediction model: P-ROSC after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest

## Table 1 Characteristics of the patients with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest

<b>F</b> = 4	Patients			Duralius
Features	Total ( <i>n</i> = 2685)	ROSC failure ( <i>n</i> = 2529)	ROSC ( <i>n</i> = 156)	P value
Gender				0.730
Female	668 (24.9)	631 (25.0)	37 (23.7)	
Male	2017 (75.1)	1898 (75.0)	119 (76.3)	
Age	$56.18 \pm 17.98$	56.63 ± 17.96	$49.01 \pm 16.82$	< 0.001
Season				0.570
Spring	636 (23.7)	599 (23.7)	37 (23.7)	
Summer	625 (23.3)	582 (23.0)	43 (27.6)	
Autumn	666 (24.8)	632 (25.0)	34 (21.8)	
Winter	758 (28.2)	716 (28.3)	42 (26.9)	
Time (min)				0.029
08-16	953 (35.5)	888 (35.1)	65 (41.7)	
16-24	1049 (39.1)	984 (38.9)	65 (41.7)	
00-08	683 (25.4)	657 (26.0)	26 (16.7)	
Bystander CPR				< 0.001
No	2246 (83.6)	2135 (84.4)	111 (71.2)	
Yes	439 (16.4)	394 (15.6)	45 (28.8)	
Initial rhythm				< 0.001
VF/VT	293 (10.9)	232 (9.2)	61 (39.1)	
Asystole/PEA	2358 (87.8)	2278 (90.1)	80 (51.3)	
Ag ECG (slow ventricular escape, bradycardia)	34 (1.3)	19 (0.8)	15 (9.6)	
Duration of CPR	35 (15.0)	38 (18.0)	10 (16.0)	< 0.001
ETI				< 0.001
No	2194 (81.7)	2104 (83.2)	90 (57.7)	
Yes	491 (18.3)	425 (16.8)	66 (42.3)	
DF				< 0.001
No	2000 (74.5)	1914 (75.7)	86 (55.1)	
Yes	685 (25.5)	615 (24.3)	70 (44.9)	
Epinephrine dose	3 (3.0)	3 (3.0)	3 (2.0)	< 0.001
Atropine				0.243
No	2081 (77.5)	1966 (77.7)	130 (83.3)	
Yes	604 (22.5)	563 (22.3)	26 (16.7)	
Lidocaine or amiodarone				< 0.001
No	2556 (95.2)	2426 (95.9)	135 (86.5)	
Yes	129 (4.8)	103 (4.1)	21 (13.5)	
Etiology				0.019
Cardiac	1430 (53.3)	1327 (52.5)	103 (66.0)	
Trauma	122 (4.5)	116 (4.6)	6 (3.8)	
Toxicosis or asphyxia	45 (1.7)	44 (1.7)	1 (0.6)	
Brain and nervous	64 (2.4)	60 (2.4)	4 (2.6)	



Jaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

	Unknow and other 102	24 (38.1)	982 (38.8)	42 (26.9)
--	----------------------	-----------	------------	-----------

VF: Ventricular fibrillation; VT: Ventricular tachycardia; PEA: Pulseless electrical activity; Ag ECG: Agonal electrocardiogram; CPR: Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ETI: Endotracheal intubation; DF: Defibrillation.



Figure 2 Nomogram prediction model of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation. Six predictors were included: Age, bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), initial rhythm, CPR duration, ventilation mode, and etiology. Each variable was assigned a score on a point-scale axis. The total score was easily calculated by adding each single score. The probability of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation is estimated by projecting the total score to the lower total-point scale.



Figure 3 Receiver operating characteristic curves of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation model. The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve of the prehospital return of spontaneous circulation prediction model was 0.9627 (95%: 0.9485-0.9769).

rhythms, which might indicate the impact of shockable rhythms on the role of ETI in OHCA. Therefore, the effects of ETI in such situations warrant further investigation.

Ji *et al*[4], Morgan *et al*[5], and Navab *et al*[13] and others have established models in the United Kingdom, Australia, and Iran, respectively, to describe the influencing factors of clinical features and prehospital emergency measures on the ROSC rate as well as the survival rate of patients with OHCA. However, these researchers did not collect data on prehospital drug administration, including the use and dosage of epinephrine or other drugs. We developed a simple model applied to OHCA of all etiologies that covered pre-EMS intervention factors and prehospital emergency measures, including drugs and their dosage, although prehospital drug administration was not included in the model. Liu *et al*[7]

Wang JJ et al. Prediction model: P-ROSC after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest



Figure 4 Calibration curves of the prehospital return of spontaneous circulation model. The dotted line represents the apparent model, while the solid line is bias-corrected by strengthening bootstrapping.



Figure 5 Decision curve analysis of the prehospital return of spontaneous circulation model. The X- and Y-axes show the threshold probabilities and net benefits, respectively. The solid red line indicates the prehospital return of spontaneous circulation model. The "All" and "None" lines represent interventions for all or none of the patients, respectively.

developed a P-ROSC score for patients with OHCA that also collected prehospital drug administration data. However, the model was not appropriate for trauma-induced OHCA, which limited its wide application. Another prospective study that included individuals between 1998 and 2008 generated the RACA score, which is a widely applicable score for ROSC in OHCA. However, it is not a contemporary cohort[25].

#### Limitations

Due to the retrospective design, the accuracy of data collection and potential confounders could not be assessed, and the identification of specific causalities was limited. Furthermore, incomplete data restricted the research. In addition, we did not collect no-reflow time data because the number of patients with OHCA witnessed by bystanders at the scene was too small.

## CONCLUSION

We developed a simple and accessible model to predict the probability of achieving P-ROSC in China. The P-ROSC, with just six factors, is interpretable, convenient to implement, and comprehensive in busy prehospital processing; thus, it could serve as a possible assistive tool for clinical-aid decision-making.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Multivariable logistic regression analysis of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation						
Fastures	Multivariable	analysis		Selected facto	ors for model	
Features	OR	95%CI	P value	OR	95%CI	P value
Age	0.98	0.964-0.997	0.018	0.98	0.964-0.996	0.017
Bystander CPR			0.004			0.001
No	1			1		
Yes	2.621	1.36-5.051		2.854	1.504-5.414	
Initial rhythm			< 0.001			< 0.001
VF/VT	1			1		
Asystole/PEA	0.174	0.087-0.349	< 0.001	0.16	0.081-0.318	< 0.001
Ag ECG (slow ventricular escape, bradycardia)	4.539	0.89-23.15	0.069	4.103	0.806-20.895	0.089
CPR duration	0.778	0.75-0.807	< 0.001	0.776	0.749-0.805	< 0.001
ETI			< 0.001			< 0.001
No	1			1		
Yes	8.227	4.384-15.439		8.288	4.441-15.465	
Lidocaine or amiodarone			0.113			
No	1					
Yes	2.271	0.823-6.271				
Etiology			0.008			0.007
Cardiac	1			1		
Trauma	0.156	0.037-0.65	0.011	0.145	0.035-0.601	0.008
Toxicosis or asphyxia	0.171	0.007-4.026	0.275	0.163	0.007-3.907	0.263
Brain and nervous	0.393	0.079-1.95	0.253	0.371	0.075-1.844	0.226
Unknow and other	0.384	0.205-0.721	0.003	0.389	0.208-0.728	0.003

OR: Odds ratio; CI: Confidence interval; VF: Ventricular fibrillation; VT: Ventricular tachycardia; ETI: Endotracheal intubation; PEA: Pulseless electrical activity; Ag ECG: Agonal electrocardiography; CPR: Cardiopulmonary resuscitation.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

## Research background

Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) is a leading cause of death worldwide. In China, 550000 people develop OHCA annually with a survival rate of only 1.3% after discharge, making OHCA a major public health issue.

## **Research motivation**

A large gap of prehospital return of spontaneous circulation (P-ROSC) rate remains between China and other countries and that the relative contributions of aid measures for each of these factors to P-ROSC vary across countries. There are still not such model, including pre-EMS intervention factors and Prehospital emergency measures, have currently been developed for P-ROSC in China.

## **Research objectives**

To develop a nomogram prediction model which is interpretable, convenient to implement, easy to comprehend in busy prehospital processing, and comprehensive, including prehospital drug administration. Therefore, it could serve as a potentially assistive tool for clinical aid decision-making.

## **Research methods**

Clinical data of patients with OHCA were retrospectively analyzed A nomogram prediction model for P-ROSC in patients with OHCA was developed and validate.

Baishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Wang JJ et al. Prediction model: P-ROSC after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest

## Research results

Among the included 2685 patients with OHCA, the P-ROSC incidence was 5.8%. LASSO and multivariate logistic regression analyses showed that age, bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), initial rhythm, CPR duration, ventilation mode, and pathogenesis were independent factors influencing P-ROSC in these patients. The area under the ROC was 0.963. The calibration plot demonstrated that the predicted P-ROSC model was concordant with the actual P-ROSC. The good clinical usability of the prediction model was confirmed using decision curve analysis.

#### Research conclusions

We developed a simple and accessible model to predict the probability of achieving P-ROSC in China. The P-ROSC, with just six factors, is interpretable, convenient to implement, and comprehensive in busy prehospital processing; thus, it could serve as a possible assistive tool for clinical-aid decision-making.

### Research perspectives

If we go one step further, we start to conduct prospective studies to identify the specific causalities and to improve the accuracy of data collection.

## FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Jing-Jing Wang and Qiang Zhou.

Author contributions: Wang JJ, Zhou Q contributed equally to this work and share first authorship; Deng Z, Wang JJ, and Zhou Q designed the research study; Wang JJ and Zhou Q analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Deng Z were responsible for revising the manuscript for important intellectual content; Wang JJ, Zhou Q, Huang ZH, Han Y, Qin CZ, Qin CZ, and Xiao XY performed the primary literature and data extraction; All authors read and approved the final version.

Supported by Shenzhen Science and Technology Program, No. JCYJ20180228163014668; Shenzhen Second People's Hospital Clinical Research Fund of Guangdong Province High-level Hospital Construction Project; No. 20223357005; and No. 2023xgyj3357002.

Institutional review board statement: The study was reviewed and approved by the Shenzhen Center for Prehospital Care Institutional Review Board [(No. 2023-071-02PJ)].

Informed consent statement: This study meets the conditions for applying for exemption from informed consent in China, and the exemption from informed consent has been approved.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare no conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at dengzhe202209@ 163.com.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Zhe Deng 0000-0002-9776-7261.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xu ZH

## REFERENCES

- 1 Kiguchi T, Okubo M, Nishiyama C, Maconochie I, Ong MEH, Kern KB, Wyckoff MH, McNally B, Christensen EF, Tjelmeland I, Herlitz J, Perkins GD, Booth S, Finn J, Shahidah N, Shin SD, Bobrow BJ, Morrison LJ, Salo A, Baldi E, Burkart R, Lin CH, Jouven X, Soar J, Nolan JP, Iwami T. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest across the World: First report from the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (ILCOR). Resuscitation 2020; 152: 39-49 [PMID: 32272235 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.02.044]
- Yan S, Gan Y, Jiang N, Wang R, Chen Y, Luo Z, Zong Q, Chen S, Lv C. The global survival rate among adult out-of-hospital cardiac arrest 2 patients who received cardiopulmonary resuscitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care 2020; 24: 61 [PMID: 32087741 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-020-2773-2]
- Hawkes C, Booth S, Ji C, Brace-McDonnell SJ, Whittington A, Mapstone J, Cooke MW, Deakin CD, Gale CP, Fothergill R, Nolan JP, Rees 3 N, Soar J, Siriwardena AN, Brown TP, Perkins GD; OHCAO collaborators. Epidemiology and outcomes from out-of-hospital cardiac arrests in England. Resuscitation 2017; 110: 133-140 [PMID: 27865775 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2016.10.030]



- Ji C, Brown TP, Booth SJ, Hawkes C, Nolan JP, Mapstone J, Fothergill RT, Spaight R, Black S, Perkins GD; OHCAO Collaborators. Risk prediction models for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest outcomes in England. *Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes* 2021; 7: 198-207 [PMID: 32154865 DOI: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcaa019]
- 5 Morgan DP, Muscatello D, Travaglia J, Hayen A. Retrospective observational cohort study of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest outcomes in Tasmania 2010-2014. *Emerg Med Australas* 2020; 32: 631-637 [PMID: 32167216 DOI: 10.1111/1742-6723.13490]
- 6 Xie X, Zheng J, Zheng W, Pan C, Ma Y, Zhu Y, Tan H, Han X, Yan S, Zhang G, Li C, Shao F, Wang C, Zhang J, Bian Y, Ma J, Cheng K, Liu R, Sang S, Zhang Y, McNally B, Ong MEH, Lv C, Chen Y, Xu F; BASIC-OHCA Coordinators and Investigators. Efforts to Improve Survival Outcomes of Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in China: BASIC-OHCA. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2023; 16: e008856 [PMID: 36503279 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.121.008856]
- 7 Liu N, Liu M, Chen X, Ning Y, Lee JW, Siddiqui FJ, Saffari SE, Ho AFW, Shin SD, Ma MH, Tanaka H, Ong MEH; PAROS Clinical Research Network Investigators. Development and validation of an interpretable prehospital return of spontaneous circulation (P-ROSC) score for patients with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest using machine learning: A retrospective study. *EClinicalMedicine* 2022; **48**: 101422 [PMID: 35706500 DOI: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101422]
- 8 Waldmann P, Mészáros G, Gredler B, Fuerst C, Sölkner J. Evaluation of the lasso and the elastic net in genome-wide association studies. *Front Genet* 2013; 4: 270 [PMID: 24363662 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2013.00270]
- 9 Myat A, Song KJ, Rea T. Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: current concepts. *Lancet* 2018; **391**: 970-979 [PMID: 29536861 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30472-0]
- 10 Matsuyama T, Kitamura T, Kiyohara K, Nishiyama C, Nishiuchi T, Hayashi Y, Kawamura T, Ohta B, Iwami T. Impact of cardiopulmonary resuscitation duration on neurologically favourable outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A population-based study in Japan. *Resuscitation* 2017; **113**: 1-7 [PMID: 28109995 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2017.01.005]
- Park S, Lee SW, Han KS, Lee EJ, Jang DH, Lee SJ, Lee JS, Kim SJ; Korean Cardiac Arrest Research Consortium (KoCARC) Investigators. Optimal cardiopulmonary resuscitation duration for favorable neurological outcomes after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med* 2022; 30: 5 [PMID: 35033185 DOI: 10.1186/s13049-022-00993-8]
- 12 Lai CY, Lin FH, Chu H, Ku CH, Tsai SH, Chung CH, Chien WC, Wu CH, Chu CM, Chang CW. Survival factors of hospitalized out-ofhospital cardiac arrest patients in Taiwan: A retrospective study. *PLoS One* 2018; 13: e0191954 [PMID: 29420551 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191954]
- 13 Navab E, Esmaeili M, Poorkhorshidi N, Salimi R, Khazaei A, Moghimbeigi A. Predictors of Out of Hospital Cardiac Arrest Outcomes in Pre-Hospital Settings; a Retrospective Cross-sectional Study. Arch Acad Emerg Med 2019; 7: 36 [PMID: 31555766]
- 14 Christensen DM, Rajan S, Kragholm K, Søndergaard KB, Hansen OM, Gerds TA, Torp-Pedersen C, Gislason GH, Lippert FK, Barcella CA. Bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation and survival in patients with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest of non-cardiac origin. *Resuscitation* 2019; 140: 98-105 [PMID: 31129226 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.05.014]
- 15 Rajan S, Wissenberg M, Folke F, Hansen SM, Gerds TA, Kragholm K, Hansen CM, Karlsson L, Lippert FK, Køber L, Gislason GH, Torp-Pedersen C. Association of Bystander Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Survival According to Ambulance Response Times After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. *Circulation* 2016; 134: 2095-2104 [PMID: 27881566 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.024400]
- 16 An HR, Han YR, Wang TH, Chi F, Meng Y, Zhang CY, Liang JQ, Li XL. Meta-Analysis of the Factors Influencing the Restoration of Spontaneous Circulation After Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Front Physiol 2022; 13: 834352 [PMID: 35350694 DOI: 10.3389/fphys.2022.834352]
- 17 Funada A, Goto Y, Tada H, Teramoto R, Shimojima M, Hayashi K, Kawashiri MA, Yamagishi M. Duration of cardiopulmonary resuscitation in patients without prehospital return of spontaneous circulation after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: Results from a severity stratification analysis. *Resuscitation* 2018; 124: 69-75 [PMID: 29317350 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2018.01.008]
- 18 Goto Y, Funada A, Goto Y. Relationship Between the Duration of Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Favorable Neurological Outcomes After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Prospective, Nationwide, Population-Based Cohort Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2016; 5: e002819 [PMID: 26994129 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002819]
- Nas J, Kleinnibbelink G, Hannink G, Navarese EP, van Royen N, de Boer MJ, Wik L, Bonnes JL, Brouwer MA. Diagnostic performance of the basic and advanced life support termination of resuscitation rules: A systematic review and diagnostic meta-analysis. *Resuscitation* 2020; 148: 3-13 [PMID: 31887367 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2019.12.016]
- 20 Chang H, Jeong D, Park JE, Kim T, Lee GT, Yoon H, Hwang SY, Cha WC, Shin TG, Sim MS, Jo IJ, Lee SH, Shin SD, Choi JH. Prehospital airway management for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A nationwide multicenter study from the KoCARC registry. *Acad Emerg Med* 2022; 29: 581-588 [PMID: 35064725 DOI: 10.1111/acem.14443]
- Onoe A, Kajino K, Daya MR, Nakamura F, Nakajima M, Kishimoto M, Sakuramoto K, Muroya T, Ikegawa H, Hock Ong ME, Kuwagata Y. Improved neurologically favorable survival after OHCA is associated with increased pre-hospital advanced airway management at the prefecture level in Japan. *Sci Rep* 2022; 12: 20498 [PMID: 36443385 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-25124-2]
- 22 Chiang WC, Hsieh MJ, Chu HL, Chen AY, Wen SY, Yang WS, Chien YC, Wang YC, Lee BC, Wang HC, Huang EP, Yang CW, Sun JT, Chong KM, Lin HY, Hsu SH, Chen SY, Ma MH. The Effect of Successful Intubation on Patient Outcomes After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in Taipei. Ann Emerg Med 2018; 71: 387-396 [PMID: 28967516 DOI: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2017.08.008]
- 23 Benoit JL, McMullan JT, Wang HE, Xie C, Xu P, Hart KW, Stolz U, Lindsell CJ. Timing of Advanced Airway Placement after Witnessed Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. Prehosp Emerg Care 2019; 23: 838-846 [PMID: 30912467 DOI: 10.1080/10903127.2019.1595236]
- 24 Izawa J, Komukai S, Gibo K, Okubo M, Kiyohara K, Nishiyama C, Kiguchi T, Matsuyama T, Kawamura T, Iwami T, Callaway CW, Kitamura T. Pre-hospital advanced airway management for adults with out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: nationwide cohort study. *BMJ* 2019; 364: 1430 [PMID: 30819685 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.1430]
- Gräsner JT, Meybohm P, Lefering R, Wnent J, Bahr J, Messelken M, Jantzen T, Franz R, Scholz J, Schleppers A, Böttiger BW, Bein B, Fischer M; German Resuscitation Registry Study Group. ROSC after cardiac arrest--the RACA score to predict outcome after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Eur Heart J* 2011; 32: 1649-1656 [PMID: 21515626 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr107]

Raishideng® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 518-530

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.518

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

## Cardiovascular complications following medical termination of pregnancy: An updated review

Tejveer Singh, Ajay K Mishra, Nikhil Vojjala, Kevin John John, Anu A George, Anil Jha, Michelle Hadley

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

## Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D, D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Amir M, Indonesia; Papadopoulos VP, Greece; Zhang XQ, China

Received: June 15, 2023 Peer-review started: June 15, 2023 First decision: August 10, 2023 Revised: August 22, 2023 Accepted: September 18, 2023 Article in press: September 18, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Tejveer Singh, Anu A George, Department of Internal Medicine, Saint Vincent Hospital, Worcester, MA 01608, United States

Ajay K Mishra, Anil Jha, Michelle Hadley, Division of Cardiology, Saint Vincent Hospital, Worcester, MA 01608, United States

Nikhil Vojjala, Department of Internal Medicine, Post-Graduation Institute of Medical Education and Research, Chandigarh 00000, India

Kevin John, Department of Internal Medicine, Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA 01212, United States

Corresponding author: Ajay K Mishra, FACP, MBBS, MD, Academic Fellow, Division of Cardiology, Saint Vincent Hospital, 123 Summer Street, Worcester, MA 01608, United States. ajay.mishra@stvincenthospital.com

## Abstract

## BACKGROUND

Around 1 million cases of medical termination of pregnancy (MTP) take place yearly in the United States of America with around 2 percent of this population developing complications. The cardiovascular (CVD) complications occurring post MTP or after stillbirth is not very well described.

## AIM

To help the reader better understand, prepare, and manage these complications by reviewing various cardiac comorbidities seen after MTP.

## **METHODS**

We performed a literature search in PubMed, Medline, RCA, and google scholar, using the search terms "abortions" or "medical/legal termination of pregnancy" and "cardiac complications" or "cardiovascular complications".

## RESULTS

The most common complications described in the literature following MTP were infective endocarditis (IE) (n = 16), takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TTC) (n = 7), arrhythmias (n = 5), and sudden coronary artery dissection (SCAD) (n = 4). The most common valve involved in IE was the tricuspid valve in 69% (n = 10). The most observed causative organism was group B Streptococcus in 81% (n = 12). The most common type of TTC was apical type in 57% (n = 4). Out of five patients de-



veloping arrhythmia, bradycardia was the most common and was seen in 60% (3/5) of the patients. All four cases of SCAD-P type presented as acute coronary syndrome 10-14 d post termination of pregnancy with predominant involvement of the right coronary artery. Mortality was only reported following IE in 6.25%. Clinical recovery was reported consistently after optimal medical management following all these complications.

## **CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, the occurrence of CVD complications following pregnancy termination is infrequently documented in the existing literature. In this review, the most common CVD complication following MTP was noted to be IE and TTC.

Key Words: Cardiovascular complications; Termination of pregnancy; Infective Endocarditis; Stress cardiomyopathy; Outcome

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** The most common cardiovascular complications following the medical termination of pregnancy (MTP) are infective endocarditis (IE) and takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TTC). The most common organism identified in IE is group B Streptococcus and the tricuspid valve is the most common valve involved. TTC occurs most commonly in the first trimester after MTP. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection mostly presents with chest pain and the right coronary artery is the most common vessel to be involved. Bradyarrhythmia is the most common arrhythmia noted. These patients improve with appropriate medical management and mortality tends to be low.

Citation: Singh T, Mishra AK, Vojjala N, John KJ, George AA, Jha A, Hadley M. Cardiovascular complications following medical termination of pregnancy: An updated review. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(10): 518-530 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/518.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.518

## INTRODUCTION

The legality of abortion and the various restrictions imposed on the procedure vary significantly among various states of the United States and are ever-changing. The initial law, Roe vs Wade, which was made in 1973, streamlined the decisionmaking process. Over the last 50 years, there has been a paradigm change in the perspective of patients regarding the termination of pregnancy in the United States. Centers for Disease Control (CDC) reports an abortion rate of 11.4 for the year 2020 with around 1 million abortions taking place annually in the United States. Around 2% of this population have been reported to develop complications[1].

Due to the recent identification of female-specific factors associated with a greater cardiovascular (CVD) risk, it provides the potential to implement effective and targeted preventative measures to decrease disease burden at an individual and population level[2]. Therefore, having an understanding of the female specific risk stratification and prevention is important. Recent CVD risk guidelines have included miscarriage and stillbirth as risk factors for women[3]. Because of the changing times and laws, we must highlight various CVD complications which are associated with the termination of pregnancy<sup>[4]</sup>. In this article, we review the various cardiac comorbidities reported after the medical termination of pregnancy (MTP). We also describe their clinical profile, management, and outcomes observed in these patients. Various systemic reviews discuss the complications associated with the termination of pregnancy. However, none describes cardiac complications following the same. Therefore, this article can contribute towards a better under-standing, and facilitate preparedness and management of the cardiac complications following termination of pregnancy.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this review, we aimed to describe the demographic details, clinical presentation, diagnosis, and management of the various CVD complications following MTP. We used the meta-analysis guidelines for the material and methodology of our study.

## Search strategy

We performed a systemic search in various bibliographic databases including PubMed, Medline, RCA, and google scholar databases, using the search terms "abortions" or "medical/legal termination of pregnancy" and "cardiac complications" or "cardiovascular complications". The reference citation analysis tool was also used to find more articles. We screened references of the initial articles for identifying other relevant articles. Search strategies were tailored to each database for identifying relevant articles. All search outputs were exported to Microsoft Excel version 2022. For those articles where the main text was missing, we reached out to the authors. We acknowledge their support in sharing their work with us.



## Study selection

All articles reported in English including adult patients (age > 18 years) published before August 2022, were eligible to be included in this review. Articles lacking clinical details, including comments, opinions, and letters, were excluded. The inclusion and exclusion criteria for the patients were established in advance before the initiation of the study. To be included in this review, articles had to provide clinical details of the pregnancy and the reported cardiac complication. For those articles where the main text was missing, we directly contacted the authors. We acknowledge their support in sharing their work with us. We added complete information on the studies included in this study. Two reviewers independently screened the abstracts. Cardiac complications had to fulfill the diagnostic definitions as described below.

## Definitions

Infective endocarditis: Cases of infectious endocarditis (IE) had to fulfill the Modified Duke's criteria, which include the presence of either a blood culture of the organism consistent with IE or an echocardiogram showing positive evidence of IE, abscess, new partial dehiscence of a prosthetic valve, or new regurgitation (major criteria). Minor criteria include a previous heart condition or history of intravenous drug use, fever, presence of microorganisms not typically seen with IE, immunological phenomena such as glomerulonephritis, Roth spots, or vascular phenomena such as major arterial emboli or Janeway lesions. The presence of two major criteria, one major and three minors, or five minor criteria is diagnostic for definitive IE[5].

Takotsubo cardiomyopathy: Cases of takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TTC) had to fulfill the Mayo Clinic diagnostic criteria, which include: (1) Transient left ventricular systolic dysfunction with regional wall motion abnormalities extending beyond a single epicardial coronary distribution; (2) Absence of obstructive coronary disease or any angiographic evidence of acute plaque rupture; (3) Presence of new electrocardiogram (EKG) changes as either sinus tachycardia (ST)segment elevation and/or T wave inversion or elevation in cardiac troponin levels; and (4) Documentation of absence of pheochromocytoma or myocarditis[1].

Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: Cases of spontaneous coronary artery dissection (SCAD) had to provide details of coronary angiography, which used an iodinated contrast agent to fill the lumen of coronary arteries and X-rays to image the lumen. Alternatively, if an alternate imaging modality such as optical coherence tomography or intravascular ultrasound was used to delineate the cause of narrowing and showed a tear or blood accumulation in the arterial wall, it would also be eligible for inclusion[6].

Cardiac arrhythmia: To be included in this review, reported arrhythmias had to have details of an investigation showing the pattern of the arrhythmia[7].

Risk and bias assessment: Two reviewers (Singh T and Vojjala N) independently screened for risk of error and bias in the articles. Disagreements were resolved through final verification and consensus of the third reviewer (Mishra AK)[8].

Data extraction: Extracted data include information on the publication year, authors, study type, and methodology. We also extracted data on study participants, including recent age, gender, clinical presentation, CVD, imaging, and laboratory parameters and management. Finally, we studied the outcomes, including CVD complications and mortality[9,10].

Data synthesis and analysis: Continuous variables are expressed as the mean or percentages. Given the small sample size under each subgroup, we were not able to identify any odds or associations.

## RESULTS

The initial screening identified 300 cases that were published between 1990 and 2022, of which 34 fulfilled the inclusion criteria, as shown in the PRISMA diagram (Figure 1). These included 16 cases of IE, seven cases of TTC, six cases of arrhythmia, and five cases of SCAD. The clinical profile, management, and outcomes of these events are described in Tables 1-4[11-41].

Of the 16 cases of IE following abortion, 15 occurred following elective surgical abortion and one was a case of clandestine induced abortion. Only two patients had an underlying risk factor for IE, including a history of aortic valve replacement (AVR)/mitral valve replacement (MVR) for IE and rheumatic heart disease. The median age of these patients was 24 years[15-37]. Following termination of pregnancy, the initial clinical presentation occurred as early as one week after the abortion to as late as several weeks, with the most delayed presentation seen 60 d after the abortion. Data on prior antibiotic prophylaxis was available for 11 patients, four of whom received prophylaxis, including doxycycline in two cases, ampicillin and gentamicin in one, and a combination of ciprofloxacin and doxycycline in one. The tricuspid valve was the most commonly involved, as seen in 11 patients (69%), with multivalvular involvement in two patients and rare pulmonary valve involvement in one patient (6%). Group B Streptococcus (GBS) was the most common organism detected in these patients (n = 13, 81%), with culture being negative in one patient. Escherichia coli and methicillin sensitive Staphylococcus aureus were positive in one patient each. Most patients had IE related complications at the time of presentation, with the most common complication being septic emboli as seen in 69% (n = 11) followed by heart failure in 19% (n = 3). All patients were treated with intravenous antibiotics and 56% (n = 9) required surgical intervention, including MVR in two patients, tricuspid valve replacement in four, AVR in two, and pulmonary valve replacement in one. An embolectomy was performed on one patient, along with medical management. The prognosis for this subset of patients was good, with a mortality rate of 6% (n = 1) in Table 1[10-25].



Table	Table 1 Patients with infective endocarditis following medical termination of pregnancy								
No.	Age/details	Time interval	Antibiotic prophylaxis	Microbiological diagnosis	Valves involved	Other complications	Management	Final outcome	Ref.
1	17 yr/clandestine abortion	28 d	No	Neg	TV	None	Mx	Survived	[10]
2	30 yr/post ciprofloxacin and doxycycline	10 d	No	GBS	MV	S Ar, R Ar	Mx, MVR	Survived	[11]
3	31 yr/post- surgical abortion	48 d	No	GBS	TV	STE	Mx, TVR	Survived	[12]
4	37 yr/post- surgical abortion, past history of AVR/MVR for IE	60 d	Yes (ampicillin and gentamycin)	GBS	AV	SE	Mx	Survived	[13]
5	18 yr/elective abortion	Several weeks	No	GBS	TV	SE	Mx	Survived	[14]
6	30 yr/elective abortion	28 d	No	GBS	TV	SE, 1 <sup>st</sup> HB	Mx, TVR	Survived	[15]
7	33 yr/elective abortion	28 d	No	GBS	TV	SE, VRA	Mx, TVR	Survived	[ <mark>16</mark> ]
8	24 yr/elective abortion	28 d	No	GBS	TV	SE, RHF	Mx	Survived	[17]
9	15 yr/elective abortion	7 d	Doxycycline	GBS	PV	SE, PAA	Mx, PVR	Survived	[18]
10	15 yr/elective abortion	11 d	Ciprofloxacin + doxycycline	GBS	AV	HF, AR	Mx, AVR	Survived	[19]
11	18 yr/elective abortion	14 d	Doxycycline	GBS	TV	SE	Mx, Emb	Survived	[ <mark>20</mark> ]
12	22 yr/elective abortion	7 d	-	GBS	TV	SE, PAA, TR	Mx	Lost to follow-up	[ <mark>2</mark> 1]
13	Young female	-	-	-	Mu	-	Mx, AVR, TVR	Death	[ <mark>22</mark> ]
14	37 yr	11 d	-	GBS	TV	SE, SI	Mx	Survived	[23]
15	25 yr/rheumatic heart disease	14 d	-	MSSA	Mu	SE	Mx	Survived	[24]
16	21 yr	21 d	-	E coli	MV	HF	Mx, MVR	Survived	[25]

GBS: Group B streptococcus; MSSA: Methicillin sensitive staphylococcus aureus; MV: Mitral valve; TV: Tricuspid valve; AV: Aortic valve; PV: Pulmonary valve; Mu: Multiple valves involved; S Ar: Septic arthritis; R Ar: Reactive arthritis; STE: Septic thromboembolism; SE: Septic embolism; 1<sup>st</sup> HB: First degree heart block; VRA: Valve ring abscess; RHF: Right heart failure; PAA: Pulmonary artery aneurysm; HF: Heart failure; TR: Tricuspid regurgitation; AR: Aortic regurgitation; SI: Sacroilitis; Mx: Medical management; MVR: Mitral valve replacement; PVR: Pulmonary valve replacement; AVR: Aortic valve replacement; Emb: Embolectomy; TVR: Tricuspid valve replacement.

TTC was reported in seven cases in the literature as a post-abortion CVD complication. The mean age at presentation was 34.4 years, with a range of 22 to 43 years. Of the four patients (57%) for whom gestational age was available, all had undergone an abortion or miscarriage in the first trimester (within less than 12 wk). Three (43%) patients had experienced miscarriages, two (29%) had undergone surgical termination of pregnancy, and one had undergone an elective abortion. One patient had a history of myoma removal surgery during the 14<sup>th</sup> wk of pregnancy, which resulted in fetal death four weeks later and led to five recurrent episodes of TTC that improved with follow-up care. The most common presentation in the emergency department was chest pain, which was reported by three (43%) patients, with one patient experiencing right-sided pain radiating to the neck and the other two experiencing severe left-sided, non-radiating acute pain. Other common presentations included hypotension (n = 1), abdominal pain, and vaginal bleeding (n = 1). Abnormal EKG finding was reported in three (43%) patients only. EKG findings in most patients were normal sinus rhythm (n = 2) or T wave inversion (n = 2) in the inferior and anteroseptal walls. Other EKG findings included up-sloping ST depression (n = 2) 1) and sinus tachycardia (n = 1). Troponin levels were available and elevated in six (86%) patients. Coronary angiography was performed on six (86%) patients who did not show any evidence of obstructive coronary artery disease. Echocardiograms in all seven (100%) patients reported a reduced ejection fraction (EF) of less than 40%, with the most common wall involvement being the apex in 57% (n = 4) and basal wall in 29% (n = 2). Only 43% were started on guideline-directed medical therapy (n = 3). Treatment for these patients commonly included beta-blockers (BB) and angiotensin-convertingenzyme inhibitors (ACEi) in 43% (n = 3), and diuretics in 29% (n = 2). Other pharmacological agents used for treatments

Bishidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Table 2 Patients with takotsubo cardiomyopathy following medical termination of pregnancy

No.	Age, gestation	Clinical feature	TTC criteria: EKG and Trop; echo; coronary angiography negative; pheochromocytoma	Possible pathophysiology	Treatment given	Outcome: Mortality and EF repeat	Ref.
1	36 yr, 12 wk gestation	Misc; hypovolemia	ECG: ST and Trop T elevated; eCHO: TTE (35%) EF, hypok LV apex; coronary angiography: Negative	Catecholamine surge: (1) Direct toxicity; (2) Coronary vasocon- striction; and (3) Microvascular spasm	IV furosemide	5 <sup>th</sup> d repeat echo: LV to EF: 60%. F/u: 11 mo, no relapse	[26]
2	22 yr, gestation: NA	Post Sx TOP with evacuation of retained POC; hypovolemia	EKG: Normal and Trop T elevated; 2D echo: DCM; coronary angiography: Negative	Catecholamine release post procedure	Diuretics. Bisoprolol and lisinopril	Echo: Repeat day 2 had EF 56%. Follow-up, full recovery	[27]
3	37 yr, Misc	Chest pain, radiating to the neck	EKG: ST depression, Trop T elevated; 2D echo: EF < 40%; coronary angiography: Negative	NA	NA	F/u echo EF normal. F/u Trop T normal	[28]
4	43 yr, gestation: NA	Chest pain	EKG: Normal and Trop T elevated; echo: LV hypokinesia, apical, diaphragmal, posterio- basal segments; coronary angiography: Negative	Stress factors: (1) H/o fetal death at 18 wk gestation; and (2) Domestic stress	Beta-blockers, ACE inhibitors, aspirin	5 d later, 2D echo EF 72%, normal wall movements. F/u: Developed 4 episodes of TTC, 6 mo, 9 mo, 10 mo, and 19 mo later. With eventual normalization of EF	[29]
5	43 yr, 9 wk gestation	Post Sx TOP. Shock, hypoxia, cardiac arrest requiring CPR	EKG: T wave inv, Trop T elevated; echo: LV EF 33%, LV apex hypo/akinesia; angiography: NA	h/o autoimmune diseases; post-op stress; cervical infiltration of epinephrine	Infusion of levosimendan	Echo: 3 mo later showed return of the LV function to normal	[30]
6	28 yr, 12 wk gestation	Chest pain	EKG: T wave inv, Trop T elevated; echo: EF (30%-35%); hypokinesia mid ventricular and hyperKinesia apical and basal wall; coronary angiography: Negative	Post abortion depression; suicidal ideation	Carvedilol. Lisinopril spironolactone	F/u echo: NA. Hemody- namically stable on follow- up	[31]
7	32 yr, 10 + 1 wk gestation; Misc	Abdominal pain, vaginal bleeding. Later underwent POC evacuation	EKG: Intermittent VT and QRS broadening. Trop T: NA; TTE: EF: 32%, global LV hypokinesia and akinesia of inferior and inferio- septal wall; coronary angiogra gestation phy: Negative	Septic miscarriage with blood C/S: Group C Streptococcus; amphetamine usage	IV antibiotics	Full recovery in 6 wk. 2D echo: Normal on repeat	[32]

Misc: Miscarriage; POC: Product of conception; Sx TOP: Surgical termination of pregnancy; CPR: Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ST: Sinus tachycardia; DCM: Dilated cardiomyopathy; VT: Ventricular tachycardia; Post-op: Post-operation; EF: Ejection fraction; LV: Left ventricle; TTC: Takotsubo cardiomyopathy; TTE: Transthoracic echocardiography; NA: Not available; EKG: Electrocardiogram; C/S: Culture and susceptibility; F/u: Follow-up.

included aspirin, antibiotics, spironolactone, and levosimendan (n = 1 each). Six (87%) patients with available follow-up information had echocardiograms showing restoration of EF. Following the initial episode, one patient had five distinct episodes of TTC recurrence following an altercation with her partner. No recurrences were reported for the remaining patients, and there were no reported mortalities[26-32].

In four reported cases of SCAD following abortion or stillbirth, individual patient data was available for three patients. The median age of these patients was 36 years, with a range of 33 to 41 years. All three patients presented within 14 d of undergoing abortion or stillbirth. The most common clinical presentation was chest pain, which was reported by two patients (50%). EKG changes in these patients included ST elevation, with the most common leads involved being the inferior leads (50% of patients), mimicking acute myocardial infarction. Cardiac biomarkers were normal in all cases. Echocardiography was performed on two patients, with one showing normal findings and the other showing decreased left ventricle contractility with an EF of 30%. Coronary angiography showed dissection in the right coronary artery in two patients (one with proximal involvement and one with distal involvement) and the left anterior descending artery in one. Management included percutaneous coronary intervention besides medical management for two of the three patients. All three patients survived the event. One patient had no similar episode after eight months of follow-up, while the other patient had a remnant anoxic brain injury [33-36].

Out of five patients developing arrhythmia, the most common type reported was bradycardia which was seen in 60% ( n = 3) of patients. Other two patients developed an arrhythmia post administration of prostaglandin F2 alpha drugs. The two patients who developed bradycardia did so after the passage of the product of conception (POC) and the application of pressure to their cervix. The mechanism which was speculated to cause this was the triggering of the vagus nerve during this process, resulting in the development of bradycardia. In all these patients, bradycardia improved after forceps assisted removal of the POC. There was also a patient who developed supraventricular tachycardia (SVT) after the administration of the misoprostol injection[37-41].



Table	Table 3 Patients with spontaneous coronary artery dissection following medical termination of pregnancy									
No.	Age	C/F and EKG	Labs and imaging	Angiography	Management and prognosis	Ref.				
1	36 yr	Chest pain 2 wk post abortion. ECG: STE in V2-V4, STD in inferior leads	Cardiac biomarkers: Normal. Echo: Normal	Angiography: Type C dissection in LAD	Management: PCI with stenting to LAD. Survived, no similar episodes at follow-up after 8 mo	[33]				
2	41 yr	2 wk post still birth, became unresponsive, cardiac arrest post CPR, ROSC. ECG: STE in leads 2, 3, avF	Cardiac biomarkers: Normal. Echo: Decreased LV contractility, EF: 30%	Angiography: Type 2 SCAD involving distal RCA	Management: Medical management. Survived post cardiac arrest, anoxic brain injury	[34]				
3	33 yr	Chest pain 10 d post abortion. EKG: STE in inferior leads	Cardiac biomarkers: Increased	Angiography: Dissection involving RCA	Management: PCI. Survived	[35]				
4	N/A	2 cases had SCAD a/w stillbirth and miscarriage	N/A	N/A	N/A	[ <mark>36</mark> ]				

C/F: Clinical features; EKG: Electrocardiogram; N/A: Not applicable; STE: Sinus tachycardia elevation; STD: Sinus tachycardia depression; CPR: Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; ROSC: Return of spontaneous circulation; SCAD: Spontaneous coronary artery dissection; LV: Left ventricle; EF: Ejection fraction; LAD: Left anterior descending artery; RCA: Right coronary artery; PCI: Percutaneous coronary intervention.

#### Table 4 Patients with arrhythmia following medical termination of pregnancy

No.	Age	Clinical details	Arrythmia observed	Possible mechanism for arrythmia	Treatment given	Outcome	Ref.
1	NA, 2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester	Induced by PGF2a	Bradycardia	Drug induced hypokalemia	NA	NA	[37]
2	32 yr, 20 <sup>th</sup> wk gestation	Induced by PGF2a	Bradycardia and hypotension	PG acting on ventricular receptor	IV RL, 0.5 mg atropine no response	F/u 1 mo EKG and echo normal	[38]
3	37 yr, 10 wk gestation	In miscarriage	Bradyarrythmia	POC through cervix trigger vagal stimulation	POC removed	EKG normal on F/u	[ <mark>39</mark> ]
4	42 yr, 12 wk gestation	Miscarriage, with lower abdominal pain	Bradyarrythmia with hypotension. USG TVS: POC in UC	POC through cervix, triggering vagus	POC removed	BP and HR improved	[40]
5	Age: NA, 2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester	Induced by PGF2α and IV oxytocin	Bradycardia, hypothermia and hypotension	Rupture of the cervix	NA	NA	[41]

PGF2a: Prostaglandin F2 alpha; NA: Not available; USG: Ultrasound; TVS: Transvaginal ultrasound; POC: Product of conception; UC: Uterine cavity; RL: Ringer lactate; F/u: Follow-up; EKG: Electrocardiogram; BP: Blood pressure; HR: Heart rate.

## DISCUSSION

In the year 2020, the CDC reported rate of abortion was 11.2 abortions per 1000 women of age 15-44 years in the United States[1]. The type of abortion can also be classified as either being safe (performed in a safe, clean environment with experienced providers and no legal restrictions) or unsafe (performed with hazardous materials and techniques, by a person without the needed skills, or in an environment where minimal medical standards are not met)[42]. Abortion related complications and deaths occur predominantly in unsafe abortions and in settings where it is illegal<sup>[43]</sup>. Complications following an abortion can be diverse. The maternal mortality rate following safe, legal induced abortion for 2013-2019 was reported to be 0.43 deaths per 100000 reported legal abortions[1]. Pregnancy is a state of altered neuro-humoral balance and continuous inflammation with significant effects on the physiology of the CVD system [44-47]. It is probable that even abortion or stillbirth can also result in altered neuro-humoral balance and chronic inflammatory changes affecting the functioning of the CVD system[4,42]. In this descriptive review, we highlight the various CVD complications following MTP reported in the medical literature. We identified four distinct CVD complications following MTP, which have been defined as above (Figure 2).

## ΙE

In this review, IE was the most common CVD complication observed following MTP. While multiple organisms are reported to cause IE, in these patients the most common organism causing IE was GBS, which is a common colonizer of the genital tract and lower gastrointestinal tract[48,49]. The reported risk factors that predispose to GBS IE are diabetes mellitus, malignant disease, advanced liver disease, human immunodeficiency virus, alcohol use disorders, and injection drug use[50]. Surgical abortion has been reported to be an independent risk factor for IE in patients with GBS, irrespective



#### Singh T et al. CVD complications following MTP



**DOI:** 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.518 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.





Figure 2 Cardiovascular complications following medical terminations of pregnancy. SCAD: Sudden coronary artery dissection; EKG: Electrocardiographic.

of the presence or absence of underlying structural heart disease or antibiotic prophylaxis before the procedure[12,13]. The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada recommends antimicrobial prophylaxis for patients who are undergoing surgical abortion to reduce the incidence of post-abortion infections[51]. This recommendation is based on a meta-analysis of 12 randomized controlled trials conducted in pregnant women at less than 16 wk gestation. Patients who received antibiotics during the abortion procedure had a 0.58 (0.47-0.71) relative risk of developing upper genital tract infection, compared to those who did not receive the antibiotics[52]. A single appropriate antibiotic regimen was not recommended in the study. Though antibiotic therapy has been shown to prevent genitourinary infections, antibiotics were not uniformly administered in the above subsets of patients. Clinicians providing MTP should be aware of this rare complication in patients with risk factors as mentioned above. So far there are no studies to guide antibiotic prophylaxis in patients with risk factors for developing GBS IE might benefit from pre-procedure

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

prophylaxis. In a study done in Sweden on women undergoing an induced abortion, the administration of antibiotics reduced the post-abortion complications in patients with positive bacterial screening to the level with those having negative bacterial screening[53]. Despite the above study, given the rarity of this complication, prolonged prophylactic anti-biotic courses are not feasible or evidence-based.

The most common valve involved was the tricuspid valve, but multivalvular involvement was also seen[15,17,21,54]. Pelvic infections occurring after a septic abortion can provide a portal of entry for bacteria through pelvic veins into the venous system. This can subsequently spread to the right-sided circulation, eventually causing tricuspid endocarditis. Most of these patients presented with constitutional symptoms like chills, anorexia, and weight loss. Complications including septic pulmonary emboli are common among patients with right-sided IE, occurring in up to 75% of patients with tricuspid involvement. Clinical manifestations of such emboli include cough, pleuritic chest pain, hemoptysis, and dyspnoea[42,55,56]. In our study, the common complications seen were septic emboli and heart failure. All patients were treated with appropriate antibiotics based on culture and sensitivity results[57-61]. Patients with septic emboli, paravalvular abscess, conduction blocks, and the presence of large vegetations required surgical management as shown in Table 1. Overall, the prognosis was good with a mortality of 6.25%.

## TTC

TTC, also called transient apical ballooning syndrome, was initially described in Japan in 1990[62,63]. Improved access to coronary angiography has led to increased recognition of TTC in patients presenting with symptoms of acute coronary syndrome, with studies reporting a 20-fold increase in incidence from 2006 to 2012[64-66]. Mayo Clinic Criteria and International Takotsubo Diagnostic Criteria (InterTAK Diagnostic Criteria) are two of the most commonly used tools to establish the diagnosis [64,67]. In our study, Mayo Clinic Criteria was used. TTC has been reported to be precipitated in 70% of patients by several acute triggers including emotional, natural disaster, illness, envenomation, infection, etc. [68-70]. In this paper we discuss TTC precipitated following MTP. Patients who developed TTC post MTP presented with symptoms and signs of ACS including chest pain, ST-T wave changes in EKG, and elevated troponin as seen in patients with other precipitators of TTC[71]. In this review apical wall involvement was the most common echocardiographic abnormality, as reported by Templin *et al*[64] in 81.7% of their patient population (n = 1750)[72]. Multiple mechanisms have been proposed to precipitate TTC[72]. The various mechanisms postulated to precipitate TTC in this review were catecholamine surge following physical and emotional distress (depression, posttraumatic stress disorder, and suicidal ideation) and exogenous epinephrine [26,31,32]. It has been hypothesized that direct myocardial damage from catecholamines may cause TTC and the regional wall motion abnormalities occur due to the regional distribution of adrenergic receptors. At presentation all these patients had low left ventricular EF, however, less than half of the patients were treated with guideline directed medical therapy with ACEi and BB. Interestingly, no mortality was reported and at follow-up all these patients were found to have normal left ventricular ejection fraction.

#### SCAD

SCAD is a rare condition, with an estimated prevalence of 0.2% to 1.1%[49,73]. The prevalence of SCAD post pregnancy, stillbirth, and abortion remains unknown. There are several proposed mechanisms for the development of SCAD in these situations, including structural changes to the vascular system due to excess progesterone during pregnancy leading to the loss of normal corrugation of elastic fibers, increasing the fragmentation of reticular fibres, and decreasing the amounts of mucopolysaccharides reducing the strength of vessel wall, increased mechanical stress on the coronary artery during labor, prolonged coronary artery spasm, and the use of uterotonic drugs[36,74-77]. Maternal risk factors, such as multiple pregnancies, advanced age, and anxiety, may also increase the risk of SCAD due to repeated exposure to high levels of progesterone and altered neuro-hormonal balance[74,75,77]. In this review, SCAD was reported within 2 wk of MTP presenting as an ACS. Although the risk of SCAD post pregnancy and stillbirth may differ, early intervention with high clinical suspicion can result in good outcomes, as reported in various studies[44,73,78].

#### Arrhythmia

Bradycardia was the most common arrhythmia observed in our review[35-37,47]. The common cause of bradycardia is vagal stimulation during the passage of the fetus or POC through the cervix, a phenomenon known as cervical vasovagal shock[39,40]. This is typically observed with retained POC, and management often involves dilatation and curettage to remove the POC. In a study conducted in Cambridge, Kyejo *et al*[40] suggest that for patients with symptomatic bradycardia secondary to cervical shock, it is important to stop cervical manipulation and remove all instruments, keep the patient in the supine position with legs elevated to improve venous return, and, if necessary, administer 500-600 microgram of IV atropine followed by a saline flush. In this review, removal of the POC with forceps improved shock and bradycardia. Other causes of arrhythmia observed in our patients include prostaglandin F2 and E (misoprostol), which have been linked to tachycardia and SVT. A study in mice suggests that these medications may cause tachyarrhythmias due to their direct effect of inflammatory mediators on the heart[79]. Stopping the medications resulted in the improvement of arrhythmias in these patients.

This review has several limitations. It included all the patients with MTP and reported CVD complications from various case reports over the years, which had varied uniformity in reporting. These patients were young and lacked baseline echocardiography or electrocardiography. All the reports of SCAD and TTC consistently did not report cardiac catheterization results[80]. Reports did not mention functional status at discharge, recurrence, and long-term follow-up details[81-84]. However, the strengths of this study are: (1) Having a strict inclusion criterion for each clinical entity; and (2) Evidence-based detailing on the clinical profile and the outcome of each described complication. As per the authors' knowledge, there are previous studies done including Kyriacou *et al*[3] who have reported that women with previous

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

pregnancy loss, following a miscarriage, stillbirth, and induced abortion, are at higher risk of coronary heart disease and stroke. However, this is the first review detailing the clinical profile, imaging details, complications, and outcomes of the various CVD complications following MTP.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, CVD complications are uncommon following MTP. The most frequently reported complications are IE and TTC. IE can occur in these subgroups of patients without risk factors for IE. Periprocedural antibiotics prophylaxis was not uniformly administered. IE can occur within 1 wk of MTP, and the most common organism identified is GBS. The most commonly involved valve reported is the tricuspid valve, and the most common complication reported is septic emboli. More than half of the IE patients required surgical intervention owing to worsening heart failure, valvular regurgitation, para valvular abscess, conduction block, and embolic phenomenon. TTC most commonly occurred after MTP in the first trimester. Most patients presented with acute chest pain, troponin elevation, and nonspecific ST-T changes. The most common pattern of TTC as identified by echocardiography was apical. All these patients had low EF at presentation and at follow-up most had normal EF even though only half of them were treated with ACEi and BB. SCAD occurred within 2 wk of MTP. Most patients presented with chest pain and EKG abnormalities. The most common vessel involved in dissection was the right coronary artery. Bradycardia was the most common pattern of arrhythmia noted and occurred during the time of MTP and was self-limiting. All patients with the above complications improved with appropriate medical management. Overall, mortality was low in this population.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Millions of medical terminations of pregnancy (MTP) take place yearly in the United States of America with a smaller percentage of this population developing complications. There is a lack of structured reporting of the cardiovascular (CVD) complications in this subset of patients.

#### Research motivation

The CVD complications occurring post MTP or after stillbirth are not very well described. The literature on the various CVD comorbidity following MTP is scanty.

#### Research objectives

In this review we aimed to study the various cardiac comorbidities seen after MTP, which will help the reader better understand, prepare, and manage these complications.

#### Research methods

A literature search in multiple databases including PubMed, Medline, RCA and google scholar, using the search terms "abortions" or "medical/Legal termination of pregnancy" and "cardiac complications" or "cardiovascular complications" were conducted. All research studies, clinical studies, case series, and case reports with relevant clinical details were included.

#### Research results

The most common complications described in the literature following MTP were infective endocarditis (IE), takotsubo cardiomyopathy (TTC), arrhythmia, and sudden coronary artery dissection (SCAD). The most common valve involved in IE was the tricuspid valve. The most observed causative organism of endocarditis was group B Streptococcus. The most common type of TTC was apical. Bradycardia was the most common arrhythmia. All four cases of SCAD-P type presented as acute coronary syndrome with predominant involvement of the right coronary artery. Mortality was only reported following IE in 6.25%. Clinical recovery occurred after optimal medical management following all these complications.

#### Research conclusions

The most common CVD complications following the MTP are IE, TTC, bradycardia, and SCAD. Most of these complications are adequately treated with appropriate medical management.

#### Research perspectives

As per the authors' knowledge, this is the first review detailing on the clinical profile, imaging details, complications, and outcomes of the various CVD complications following MTP.

## FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Mishra AK and Hadley M planned and formulated the study; Singh T and Vojjala N collected and analysed the data; Singh T, Mishra AK, John KJ, George AA, and Jha A completed the manuscript; Singh T and Mishra AK revised the manuscript; Mishra AK and Hadley M reviewed the manuscript; and Hadley M approved the manuscript.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: United States

**ORCID number:** Tejveer Singh 0000-0002-2342-4223; Ajay K Mishra 0000-0003-4862-5053; Nikhil Vojjala 0000-0001-7238-1058; Kevin John John 0000-0003-3382-0294; Anu A George 0000-0002-6769-732X.

S-Editor: Wang JJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Wang JJ

## REFERENCES

- 1 Kortsmit K, Nguyen AT, Mandel MG, Clark E, Hollier LM, Rodenhizer J, Whiteman MK. Abortion Surveillance - United States, 2020. MMWR Surveill Summ 2022; 71: 1-27 [PMID: 36417304 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.ss7110a1]
- Muehlschlegel C, Kyriacou H, Al-Mohammad A, Foster-Davies LA, Simmons-Jones F, Oliver-Williams C. The risk of cardiovascular disease 2 in women after miscarriage, stillbirth, and therapeutic abortion: a protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev 2020; 9: 234 [PMID: 33028393 DOI: 10.1186/s13643-020-01444-0]
- Kyriacou H, Al-Mohammad A, Muehlschlegel C, Foster-Davies L, Bruco MEF, Legard C, Fisher G, Simmons-Jones F, Oliver-Williams C. 3 The risk of cardiovascular diseases after miscarriage, stillbirth, and induced abortion: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Heart J Open 2022; 2: oeac065 [PMID: 36330356 DOI: 10.1093/ehjopen/oeac065]
- 4 Sajadi-Ernazarova KR, Martinez CL. Abortion Complications. 2023 May 16. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 Jan- [PMID: 28613544]
- Baddour LM, Wilson WR, Bayer AS, Fowler VG Jr, Tleyjeh IM, Rybak MJ, Barsic B, Lockhart PB, Gewitz MH, Levison ME, Bolger AF, 5 Steckelberg JM, Baltimore RS, Fink AM, O'Gara P, Taubert KA; American Heart Association Committee on Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis, and Kawasaki Disease of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia, and Stroke Council. Infective Endocarditis in Adults: Diagnosis, Antimicrobial Therapy, and Management of Complications: A Scientific Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2015; 132: 1435-1486 [PMID: 26373316 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000296]
- Hayes SN, Kim ESH, Saw J, Adlam D, Arslanian-Engoren C, Economy KE, Ganesh SK, Gulati R, Lindsay ME, Mieres JH, Naderi S, Shah S, 6 Thaler DE, Tweet MS, Wood MJ; American Heart Association Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease; Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council on Genomic and Precision Medicine; and Stroke Council. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: Current State of the Science: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2018; 137: e523e557 [PMID: 29472380 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000664]
- Mishra AK, Sahu KK, Lal A. Significance of prolonged PR interval in infections. QJM 2020; 113: 150-151 [PMID: 31359046 DOI: 7 10.1093/gjmed/hcz192]
- 8 Forero DA, Lopez-Leon S, González-Giraldo Y, Bagos PG. Ten simple rules for carrying out and writing meta-analyses. PLoS Comput Biol 2019; 15: e1006922 [PMID: 31095553 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006922]
- 9 Irwig L, Tosteson AN, Gatsonis C, Lau J, Colditz G, Chalmers TC, Mosteller F. Guidelines for meta-analyses evaluating diagnostic tests. Ann Intern Med 1994; 120: 667-676 [PMID: 8135452 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-120-8-199404150-00008]
- Codjo LH, Savi de Tove KM, Hounkponou FA, Dohou SH, Houenassi MD. Endocarditis tricuspid sub-aigue of post abortion: report of a case. 10 Cardiovasc J Afr 2015; 26: e6-e8 [PMID: 25938498 DOI: 10.5830/CVJA-2015-023]
- Kishan R, Wesley S, Barnett G, Kauffman RP. Septic abortion complicated by infective endocarditis, mitral valve vegetation, and septic and 11 reactive arthritis: A case report. Case Rep Womens Health 2022; 34: e00398 [PMID: 35242597 DOI: 10.1016/j.crwh.2022.e00398]
- 12 Billick M, Gold WL. Group B streptococcal endocarditis following elective surgical abortion. CMAJ 2019; 191: E916-E918 [PMID: 31427356 DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.181688]
- Crespo A, Retter AS, Lorber B. Group B streptococcal endocarditis in obstetric and gynecologic practice. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 2003; 11: 13 109-115 [PMID: 14627217 DOI: 10.1080/10647440300025507]
- Atri ML, Cohen DH. Group B streptococcus endocarditis following second-trimester abortion. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150: 2579-2580 [PMID: 14 2244776]
- 15 Vartian CV, Septimus EJ. Tricuspid valve group B streptococcal endocarditis following elective abortion. Rev Infect Dis 1991; 13: 997-998 [PMID: 1962116 DOI: 10.1093/clinids/13.5.997]



- Azzam ZS, Ron Y, Oren I, Sbeit W, Motlak D, Krivoy N. Group B streptococcal tricuspid valve endocarditis: a case report and review of 16 literature. Int J Cardiol 1998; 64: 259-263 [PMID: 9672406 DOI: 10.1016/s0167-5273(98)00052-7]
- Kangavari S, Collins J, Cercek B, Atar S, Siegel R. Tricuspid valve group B streptococcal endocarditis after an elective termination of 17 pregnancy. Clin Cardiol 2000; 23: 301-303 [PMID: 10763083 DOI: 10.1002/clc.4960230418]
- 18 Camarillo D, Banerjee R, Greenhow TL, Tureen JH. Group B streptococcal endocarditis after elective abortion in an adolescent. Pediatr Infect *Dis J* 2009; **28**: 67-69 [PMID: 19034067 DOI: 10.1097/INF.0b013e31818128f5]
- Listernick R. A 15-year-old girl with a fever following an abortion. Pediatr Ann 2005; 34: 264-266, 268 [PMID: 15871430 DOI: 19 10.3928/0090-4481-20050401-06]
- Piedimonte S, Almohammadi M, Lee TC. Group B Streptococcus tricuspid valve endocarditis with subsequent septic embolization to the 20 pulmonary artery: A case report following elective abortion. Obstet Med 2018; 11: 39-44 [PMID: 29636814 DOI: 10.1177/1753495X17714711
- Palys EE, Li J, Gaut PL, Hardy WD. Tricuspid valve endocarditis with Group B Streptococcus after an elective abortion: the need for new 21 data. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 2006; 2006: 43253 [PMID: 17485802 DOI: 10.1155/IDOG/2006/43253]
- Jeppson PC, Park A, Chen CC. Multivalvular bacterial endocarditis after suction curettage abortion. Obstet Gynecol 2008; 112: 452-455 22 [PMID: 18669761 DOI: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181663051]
- McKenna T, O'Brien K. Case report: group B streptococcal bacteremia and sacroiliitis after mid-trimester dilation and evacuation. J Perinatol 23 2009; **29**: 643-645 [PMID: 19710658 DOI: 10.1038/jp.2009.19]
- Maturu MV, Devasia T, Rao MS, Kareem H. Native Triple Valve Endocarditis as Complication of Post-Abortal Sepsis. J Clin Diagn Res 24 2016; 10: OD08-OD09 [PMID: 27630889 DOI: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/20551.8147]
- Anjum Z, Tariq Z. Escherichia coli-associated Infective Endocarditis in a Patient with Septic Abortion: A Rare Culprit in a Unique 25 Presentation. Cureus 2019; 11: e5632 [PMID: 31700735 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.5632]
- Gemenetzis G, Gourgiotis S, Aravosita P, Mystakelli C, Aloizos S. Takotsubo cardiomyopathy: a hidden enemy of the hypovolemic patient? 26 Am J Emerg Med 2013; 31: 262.e5-262.e7 [PMID: 22633718 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2012.03.029]
- Dessain T, Stewart R, Patil S. Postoperative cardiogenic shock secondary to Takotsubo's syndrome. BMJ Case Rep 2019; 12 [PMID: 27 31892629 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2019-233055]
- Novograd J, Goldstein B, Itzkowitz Y, Insel J. Takotsubo and troponin: a conflicting tale-an extreme case of stress induced cardiomyopathy. J 28 Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77: 814
- Hefner J, Csef H, Frantz S, Glatter N, Warrings B. Recurrent Tako-Tsubo cardiomyopathy (TTC) in a pre-menopausal woman: late sequelae 29 of a traumatic event? BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2015; 15: 3 [PMID: 25601763 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2261-15-3]
- 30 Jothin A, Raj JP, Thiruvenkatarajan V. A simple procedure in a complex patient: perioperative takotsubo cardiomyopathy. BMJ Case Rep 2020; **13** [PMID: 33334739 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2019-233121]
- Agrawal Y, Zoltowska DM, Halabi A. Mid-ventricular takotsubo cardiomyopathy triggered by major depressive disorder after abortion. BMJ 31 *Case Rep* 2018; **2018** [PMID: 30232079 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2018-226977]
- Jih W, Walker G, Deonarine P, Wong LFA. Takotsubo cardiomyopathy associated with Group C Streptococcus septic miscarriage: a case 32 report. J Obstet Gynaecol 2022; 42: 2522-2523 [PMID: 35152826 DOI: 10.1080/01443615.2022.2028274]
- Salari A, Gholipur M, Rezaeidanesh M, Barzigar A, Rahmani S, Pursadeghi M, Ebrahimi H. A 36-Year-Old Woman with Coronary Artery 33 Dissection Two Weeks after Abortion. J Tehran Heart Cent 2016; 11: 98-101 [PMID: 27928263]
- Numasawa Y, Yokokura S, Maeda T, Daigo K, Sakata S, Hashimoto R, Taruoka A, Sato K, Haginiwa S, Kojima H, Tanaka M. A woman 34 complicated by sudden cardiac arrest owing to spontaneous coronary artery dissection after stillbirth. J Cardiol Cases 2021; 23: 61-64 [PMID: 33520024 DOI: 10.1016/j.jccase.2020.09.009]
- 35 Iltumur K, Karahan Z, Ozmen S, Danis R, Toprak N. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection during hemodialysis in the post-abortion period. Int J Cardiol 2008; 127: e45-e47 [PMID: 17467825 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2007.01.105]
- Tweet MS, Hayes SN, Codsi E, Gulati R, Rose CH, Best PJM. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection Associated With Pregnancy. J Am 36 Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 426-435 [PMID: 28728686 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.05.055]
- Burt RL, Connor ED, Davidson IW. Hypokalemia and cardiac arrhythmia associated with prostaglandin-induced abortion. Obstet Gynecol 37 1977: 50
- Habek JA, Habek D, Gulin D. Refractory bradycardia--a rare complication of carboprost tromethamine for induction of abortion. Acta Clin 38 Croat 2016; 55: 323-325 [PMID: 28394550 DOI: 10.20471/acc.2016.55.02.21]
- Birch JD, Gulati D, Mandalia S. Cervical shock: a complication of incomplete abortion. BMJ Case Rep 2017; 2017 [PMID: 28710197 DOI: 39 10.1136/bcr-2017-220452]
- Kyejo W, Moshi B, Kapesi V, Ntiyakunze G, Gidion D, Kaguta M. Cervical vasovagal shock: A rare complication of incomplete abortion case 40 report. Int J Surg Case Rep 2022; 97: 107455 [PMID: 35907297 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2022.107455]
- Ylöstalo P, Kauppila E, Vapaatalo H. Complications following the intra-amniotic administration of prostaglandin f-2-alpha for therapeutic 41 abortion. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1974; 53: 279-282 [PMID: 4843722 DOI: 10.3109/00016347409162173]
- Bridwell RE, Long B, Montrief T, Gottlieb M. Post-abortion Complications: A Narrative Review for Emergency Clinicians. West J Emerg 42 Med 2022; 23: 919-925 [PMID: 36409940 DOI: 10.5811/westjem.2022.8.57929]
- Melese T, Habte D, Tsima BM, Mogobe KD, Chabaesele K, Rankgoane G, Keakabetse TR, Masweu M, Mokotedi M, Motana M, Moreri-43 Ntshabele B. High Levels of Post-Abortion Complication in a Setting Where Abortion Service Is Not Legalized. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0166287 [PMID: 28060817 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166287]
- Havakuk O, Goland S, Mehra A, Elkayam U. Pregnancy and the Risk of Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: An Analysis of 120 44 Contemporary Cases. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10 [PMID: 28302642 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.117.004941]
- Rotondo JC, Oton-Gonzalez L, Selvatici R, Rizzo P, Pavasini R, Campo GC, Lanzillotti C, Mazziotta C, De Mattei M, Tognon M, Martini F. 45 SERPINA1 Gene Promoter Is Differentially Methylated in Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells of Pregnant Women. Front Cell Dev Biol 2020; 8: 550543 [PMID: 33015055 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2020.550543]
- Sorriento D, Iaccarino G. Inflammation and Cardiovascular Diseases: The Most Recent Findings. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 31395800 46 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20163879]
- Henein MY, Vancheri S, Longo G, Vancheri F. The Role of Inflammation in Cardiovascular Disease. Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 47 36361701 DOI: 10.3390/ijms232112906]



- Thomas VV, Mishra AK, Jasmine S, Sathyendra S. Gram-negative infective endocarditis: a retrospective analysis of 10 years data on clinical 48 spectrum, risk factor and outcome. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2020; 90 [PMID: 33190470 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2020.1359]
- 49 Raabe VN, Shane AL. Group B Streptococcus (Streptococcus agalactiae). Microbiol Spectr 2019; 7 [PMID: 30900541 DOI: 10.1128/microbiolspec.GPP3-0007-2018]
- Chihara S, Siccion E. Group B streptococcus endocarditis with endophthalmitis. Mayo Clin Proc 2005; 80: 74 [PMID: 15667032 DOI: 50 10.4065/80.1.74]
- Van Eyk N, van Schalkwyk J; INFECTIOUS DISEASES COMMITTEE. Antibiotic prophylaxis in gynaecologic procedures. J Obstet 51 Gynaecol Can 2012; 34: 382-391 [PMID: 22472341 DOI: 10.1016/S1701-2163(16)35222-7]
- 52 Sawaya GF, Grady D, Kerlikowske K, Grimes DA. Antibiotics at the time of induced abortion: the case for universal prophylaxis based on a meta-analysis. Obstet Gynecol 1996; 87: 884-890 [PMID: 8677129]
- 53 Carlsson I, Breding K, Larsson PG. Complications related to induced abortion: a combined retrospective and longitudinal follow-up study. BMC Womens Health 2018; 18: 158 [PMID: 30253769 DOI: 10.1186/s12905-018-0645-6]
- 54 Sahu KK, Mishra AK, Sherif AA, Doshi A, Koirala B. An interesting case of pacemaker endocarditis. Neth Heart J 2019; 27: 585-586 [PMID: 31347088 DOI: 10.1007/s12471-019-01310-2]
- Mishra AK, Sahu KK, Lal A, Sujata M. Systemic embolization following fungal infective endocarditis. QJM 2020; 113: 233-235 [PMID: 55 31651978 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/hcz274]
- Sahu KK, Mishra AK, Lal A, Kranis M. An interesting case of expressive aphasia: Enterococcus faecalis-related infective endocarditis 56 complicating as septic emboli. QJM 2020; 113: 146-147 [PMID: 31268537 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/hcz169]
- Mishra A, Sahu KK, Abraham BM, Sargent J, Kranis MJ, George SV, Abraham G. Predictors, patterns and outcomes following Infective 57 endocarditis and stroke. Acta Biomed 2022; 93: e2022203 [PMID: 35546041 DOI: 10.23750/abm.v93i2.10185]
- George A, Alampoondi Venkataramanan SV, John KJ, Mishra AK. Infective endocarditis and COVID -19 coinfection: An updated review. 58 Acta Biomed 2022; 93: e2022030 [PMID: 35315423 DOI: 10.23750/abm.v93i1.10982]
- Mishra AK, Sahu KK, Baddam V, Sargent J. Stroke and infective endocarditis. QJM 2020; 113: 515-516 [PMID: 32191291 DOI: 59 10.1093/qjmed/hcaa098]
- Mishra AK, Sahu KK, Lal A, Menon V. Aortic valve abscess: Staphylococcus epidermidis and infective endocarditis. QJM 2020; 113: 211-60 212 [PMID: 31199491 DOI: 10.1093/qjmed/hcz151]
- Bakhit A, Mishra AK, Choudhary K, Khaled Soufi M. Aortic root fistula complicating Austrian syndrome. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2021; 91 61 [PMID: 34006041 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2021.1834]
- Y-Hassan S, Yamasaki K. History of takotsubo syndrome: is the syndrome really described as a disease entity first in 1990? Some 62 inaccuracies. Int J Cardiol 2013; 166: 736-737 [PMID: 23073280 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.09.183]
- John K, Lal A, Mishra A. A review of the presentation and outcome of takotsubo cardiomyopathy in COVID-19. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 63 2021; 91 [PMID: 33759445 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2021.1710]
- Templin C, Ghadri JR, Diekmann J, Napp LC, Bataiosu DR, Jaguszewski M, Cammann VL, Sarcon A, Geyer V, Neumann CA, Seifert B, 64 Hellermann J, Schwyzer M, Eisenhardt K, Jenewein J, Franke J, Katus HA, Burgdorf C, Schunkert H, Moeller C, Thiele H, Bauersachs J, Tschöpe C, Schultheiss HP, Laney CA, Rajan L, Michels G, Pfister R, Ukena C, Böhm M, Erbel R, Cuneo A, Kuck KH, Jacobshagen C, Hasenfuss G, Karakas M, Koenig W, Rottbauer W, Said SM, Braun-Dullaeus RC, Cuculi F, Banning A, Fischer TA, Vasankari T, Airaksinen KE, Fijalkowski M, Rynkiewicz A, Pawlak M, Opolski G, Dworakowski R, MacCarthy P, Kaiser C, Osswald S, Galiuto L, Crea F, Dichtl W, Franz WM, Empen K, Felix SB, Delmas C, Lairez O, Erne P, Bax JJ, Ford I, Ruschitzka F, Prasad A, Lüscher TF. Clinical Features and Outcomes of Takotsubo (Stress) Cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 929-938 [PMID: 26332547 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1406761]
- Li P, Li C, Mishra AK, Cai P, Lu X, Sherif AA, Jin L, Wang B. Impact of malnutrition on in-hospital outcomes in takotsubo cardiomyopathy. 65 Nutrition 2022; 93: 111495 [PMID: 34735920 DOI: 10.1016/j.nut.2021.111495]
- George AA, Mishra AK, Sargent J. Letter to the Editor Regarding "Pipeline Embolization in Patients with Posterior Circulation Subarachnoid 66 Hemorrhages: Is Takotsubo Cardiomyopathy a Limiting Factor?". World Neurosurg 2020; 144: 303-304 [PMID: 33227853 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2020.08.110]
- Mishra AK, George AA, John KJ, Arun Kumar P, Dasari M, Afraz Pasha M, Hadley M. Takotsubo cardiomyopathy following envenomation: 67 An updated review. World J Cardiol 2023; 15: 33-44 [PMID: 36714368 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i1.33]
- George AA, John KJ, Jha A, Mishra AK. Infections precipitating Takotsubo cardiomyopathy, an uncommon complication of a common 68 infection. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2022; 93 [PMID: 36226557 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2022.2408]
- 69 George AA, John KJ, Selvaraj V, Mishra AK. Endocrinological abnormalities and Takotsubo cardiomyopathy. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2021; 91 [PMID: 33840185 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2021.1859]
- 70 Sahu KK, Mishra AK, Doshi A, Martin KB. Heart broken twice: a case of recurrent Takatsubo cardiomyopathy. BMJ Case Rep 2020; 13 [PMID: 31915184 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2019-232253]
- 71 Sahu KK, Mishra AK, Lal A. Newer Insights Into Takotsubo Cardiomyopathy. Am J Med 2020; 133: e318 [PMID: 31982085 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.11.008]
- Nayar J, John K, Philip A, George L, George A, Lal A, Mishra A. A Review of Nuclear Imaging in Takotsubo Cardiomyopathy. Life (Basel) 72 2022; **12** [PMID: 36294911 DOI: 10.3390/life12101476]
- 73 Hering D, Piper C, Hohmann C, Schultheiss HP, Horstkotte D. Prospective study of the incidence, pathogenesis and therapy of spontaneous, by coronary angiography diagnosed coronary artery dissection. Z Kardiol 1998; 87: 961-970 [PMID: 10025069 DOI: 10.1007/s003920050253]
- Saw J, Aymong E, Sedlak T, Buller CE, Starovoytov A, Ricci D, Robinson S, Vuurmans T, Gao M, Humphries K, Mancini GB. Spontaneous 74 coronary artery dissection: association with predisposing arteriopathies and precipitating stressors and cardiovascular outcomes. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 645-655 [PMID: 25294399 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCINTERVENTIONS.114.001760]
- 75 Slight R, Behranwala AA, Nzewi O, Sivaprakasam R, Brackenbury E, Mankad P. Spontaneous coronary artery dissection: a report of two cases occurring during menstruation. NZ Med J 2003; 116: U585 [PMID: 14581968]
- Koul AK, Hollander G, Moskovits N, Frankel R, Herrera L, Shani J. Coronary artery dissection during pregnancy and the postpartum period: 76 two case reports and review of literature. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2001; 52: 88-94 [PMID: 11146532 DOI: 10.1002/1522-726x(200101)52:1<88::aid-ccd1022>3.0.co;2-p]
- Gowda RM, Sacchi TJ, Khan IA. Clinical perspectives of the primary spontaneous coronary artery dissection. Int J Cardiol 2005; 105: 334-77 336 [PMID: 16274780 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2004.11.029]
- Nishikawa H, Nakanishi S, Nishiyama S, Nishimura S, Kato K, Yanagishita Y, Hosoi T, Seki A, Yamaguchi H. Primary coronary artery 78



dissection: its incidence, mode of the onset and prognostic evaluation. J Cardiol 1988; 18: 307-317 [PMID: 3249260]

- Takayama K, Yuhki K, Ono K, Fujino T, Hara A, Yamada T, Kuriyama S, Karibe H, Okada Y, Takahata O, Taniguchi T, Iijima T, Iwasaki H, 79 Narumiya S, Ushikubi F. Thromboxane A2 and prostaglandin F2alpha mediate inflammatory tachycardia. Nat Med 2005; 11: 562-566 [PMID: 15834430 DOI: 10.1038/nm1231]
- Jha A, Ojha CP, Bhattad PB, Sharma A, Thota A, Mishra AK, Krishnan AM, Roumia M. ST elevation myocardial infarction national trend 80 analysis with mortality differences in outcomes based on day of hospitalization. Coron Artery Dis 2023; 34: 119-126 [PMID: 36720020 DOI: 10.1097/MCA.00000000001211]
- Mishra AK, Abraham BM, Sahu KK, George AA, Sargent J, Kranis MJ, George SV, Abraham GM. Harms and Contributors of Leaving 81 Against Medical Advice in Patients With Infective Endocarditis. J Patient Saf 2022; 18: 756-759 [PMID: 35797474 DOI: 10.1097/PTS.000000000001055]
- Lyon AR, Citro R, Schneider B, Morel O, Ghadri JR, Templin C, Omerovic E. Pathophysiology of Takotsubo Syndrome: JACC State-of-the-82 Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77: 902-921 [PMID: 33602474 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.10.060]
- Mehawej J, Mishra A, Saczynski JS, Waring ME, Lessard D, Abu HO, La V, Tisminetzky M, Tran KV, Hariri E, Filippaios A, Paul T, Soni 83 A, Wang W, Ding EY, Bamgbade BA, Mathew J, Kiefe C, Goldberg RJ, McManus DD. Online health information seeking, low atrial fibrillation-related quality of life, and high perceived efficacy in patient-physician interactions in older adults with atrial fibrillation. Cardiovasc *Digit Health J* 2022; **3**: 118-125 [PMID: 35720678 DOI: 10.1016/j.cvdhj.2022.03.001]
- George AA, Singh T, Bhattad PB, Sherif AA, Mishra AK. Serratia endocarditis, uncommon organism, with significant complications. Monaldi 84 Arch Chest Dis 2023 [PMID: 36786163 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2023.2453]



WJC World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 531-541

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.531

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

# Do cardiopulmonary resuscitation real-time audiovisual feedback devices improve patient outcomes? A systematic review and metaanalysis

Nitish Sood, Anish Sangari, Arnav Goyal, Christina Sun, Madison Horinek, Joseph Andy Hauger, Lane Perry

<b>Specialty type:</b> Cardiac and cardiovascular systems	Nitish Sood, Anish Sangari, Arnav Goyal, Madison Horinek, Lane Perry, Medical College of Georgia, Augusta University, Augusta, GA 30912, United States					
Provenance and peer review:	Christina Sun, Dental College of Georgia, Augusta University, Augusta, GA 30912, United					
Unsolicited article; Externally peer	States					
reviewed.	Joseph Andy Hauger, Department of Chemistry and Physics, Augusta University, Augusta, GA					
Peer-review model: Single blind	30912, United States					
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	<b>Corresponding author:</b> Nitish Sood, BSc, Medical College of Georgia, Augusta University, No. 1120 15th Street, Augusta, GA 30912, United States. nsood@augusta.edu					
Grade A (Excellent): 0						
Grade B (Very good): 0	Abstract					
Grade C (Good): C, C						
Grade D (Fair): 0	BACKGROUND					
Grade E (Poor): 0	Cardiac arrest is a leading cause of mortality in America and has increased in the incidence of cases over the last several years. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation					
P-Reviewer: Peng D, China; Xiang	(CPR) increases survival outcomes in cases of cardiac arrest; however, healthcare					
T, China	workers often do not perform CPR within recommended guidelines. Real-time					
Received: June 7, 2023	audiovisual feedback (RTAVF) devices improve the quality of CPR performed.					
Peer-review started: June 7, 2023	assisted CPR with conventional CPR and to evaluate whether the use of these					
First decision: July 4, 2023	devices improved outcomes in both in-hospital cardiac arrest (IHCA) and out-of-					
<b>Revised:</b> July 23, 2023	hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) patients.					

## AIM

To identify the effect of RTAVF-assisted CPR on patient outcomes and CPR quality with in- and OHCA.

## **METHODS**

We searched PubMed, SCOPUS, the Cochrane Library, and EMBASE from inception to July 27, 2020, for studies comparing patient outcomes and/or CPR quality metrics between RTAVF-assisted CPR and conventional CPR in cases of IHCA or OHCA. The primary outcomes of interest were return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) and survival to hospital discharge (SHD), with secondary outcomes of chest compression rate and chest compression depth. The methodological quality of the included studies was assessed using the Newcastle-Ottawa scale and Cochrane Collaboration's "risk of bias" tool. Data was analyzed using R

Accepted: August 3, 2023

Article in press: August 3, 2023

Published online: October 26, 2023

statistical software 4.2.0. results were statistically significant if P < 0.05.

## RESULTS

Thirteen studies (n = 17600) were included. Patients were on average 69 ± 17.5 years old, with 7022 (39.8%) female patients. Overall pooled ROSC in patients in this study was 37% (95% confidence interval = 23%-54%). RTAVF-assisted CPR significantly improved ROSC, both overall [risk ratio (RR) 1.17 (1.001-1.362); P = 0.048] and in cases of IHCA [RR 1.36 (1.06-1.80); P = 0.002]. There was no significant improvement in ROSC for OHCA (RR 1.04; 0.91-1.19; P = 0.47). No significant effect was seen in SHD [RR 1.04 (0.91-1.19); P = 0.47] or chest compression rate [standardized mean difference (SMD) -2.1; (-4.6-0.5)]; P = 0.09]. A significant improvement was seen in chest compression depth [SMD 1.6; (0.02-3.1); P = 0.047].

### CONCLUSION

RTAVF-assisted CPR increases ROSC in cases of IHCA and chest compression depth but has no significant effect on ROSC in cases of OHCA, SHD, or chest compression rate.

**Key Words:** Real-time audiovisual feedback; Cardiopulmonary resuscitation; Cardiac arrest; Return of spontaneous circulation; Survival to hospital discharge; Cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Real-time audiovisual feedback (RTAVF) devices have been shown to significantly improve cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) quality in manikin/simulation studies. Despite this improvement, previous reviews have not seen a translation into improvement in patient outcomes. This systematic review and meta-analysis is the largest one to-date conducted on this topic, including 13 studies and 17600 patients. We found that the use of RTAVF devices significantly improves CPR quality metrics of chest compression rate and depth. Contrary to prior literature, we found that usage significantly increases return of spontaneous circulation in cases of in-hospital cardiac arrest but does not improve survival to hospital discharge.

**Citation:** Sood N, Sangari A, Goyal A, Sun C, Horinek M, Hauger JA, Perry L. Do cardiopulmonary resuscitation real-time audiovisual feedback devices improve patient outcomes? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Cardiol* 2023; 15(10): 531-541

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/531.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.531

## INTRODUCTION

Nearly 356000 out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA) cases and 292200 in-hospital cardiac arrest (IHCA) cases occur annually in the United States, making cardiac arrest one of the leading causes of natural death in America[1-3]. In addition, the incidence of cardiac arrest cases has increased over the last twenty years, but little progress has been made in improving survival to hospital discharge (SHD) and functional status including neurological and cardiovascular outcomes[2,4]. Consequently, cardiac arrest places a significant burden on public health and society and remains important to research and manage effectively[5,6].

High quality cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) increases survival outcomes in cases of cardiac arrest[7-14]. The International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation guidelines specifically emphasize the quality of manual chest compression, including proper hand position, hands off time, compression rate, and compression depth[15]. However, the quality of CPR performed by healthcare workers (HCWs) often does not meet recommended guidelines, with the average rate of chest compressions and compression depth being lower than recommended[16-25].

Real-time audiovisual feedback (RTAVF) devices have enabled improvement in consistency and quality of CPR both inside and outside the hospital[26,27]. The American Heart Association (AHA) and the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation have recommended the use of RTAVF devices for CPR training[28-30]. Previous systematic reviews and meta-analyses examining the effect of RTAVF devices during cardiac arrest cases concluded that RTAVF-assisted CPR resulted in closer adherence to CPR guidelines but not improved patient outcomes[31,32]. However, these studies focused on simulation manikin studies, including only three human trials. This systematic review and meta-analysis aims to compare the effect of RTAVF-assisted CPR with conventional CPR and to evaluate whether the use of these devices improved outcomes in both in-hospital and OHCA patients.

Zaisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Search Strategy

Database searches were performed by two independent authors in PubMed, SCOPUS, the Cochrane Library, and EMBASE with individualized search strategies developed for each database (Supplementary Table 1). The search included all studies from the establishment of the database to July 27, 2020 without language, methodology, or document filters. References cited in relevant reviews and included studies were also examined. The current systematic review and meta-analysis was constructed in accordance with the PRISMA 2009 guidelines.

## Study Eligibility

Studies were included if HCWs were performing CPR using RTAVF devices, where HCWs were defined as anyone with medical training including physicians, nurses, paramedics, emergency medical services, physician assistants, and medical residents. Studies must compare RTAVF-assisted CPR with CPR performed without any device or disabled audiovisual feedback features on cardiac arrest patients, and complete data must be available with a minimum of two metrics reported with measures of central tendency and variability. Language was restricted to English. Simulation studies, animal studies, case reports, conference abstracts, reviews, trial protocols, and studies with incomplete or missing data were excluded.

## **Review Process and Data Collection**

Abstracts of studies were reviewed for relevance by two independent authors. Abstracts with common agreement between reviewers were identified for further review of the full manuscript. Disagreements regarding the inclusion or exclusion of any studies were independently resolved by a third author. Data was extracted from articles selected for inclusion in the present study. Primary outcomes of interest were patient outcomes: return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) and SHD. Secondary outcomes of interest were CPR quality metrics: chest compression rate and chest compression depth. Mean values and standard deviations were extracted from studies. Methodological quality was reviewed utilizing the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality Assessment scale for cohort studies and using the Cochrane Collaboration's "risk of bias" tool for randomized controlled trials (RCT)[33,34]. Methodological quality was assessed by two independent authors with disagreements resolved by a third author.

## Statistical Analysis

Data was analyzed using R statistical software 4.2.0. Random-effects models were used[35,36]. When values were presented as interquartile range or range or median, they were converted into mean and standard deviation for analysis using the methodology presented in Wan et al[37] 2014. Pooled risk ratio (RR) or standardized mean difference (SMD) was calculated for binary and continuous metrics respectively [38-40]. Heterogeneity was assessed using  $l^{2}$ [41,42]. Publication bias was assessed using funnel plots and Egger's tests. Results were statistically significant if P < 0.05.

## RESULTS

## Study Selection

A PRISMA flow diagram is shown in Figure 1. The systematic search of articles identified 9422 results. 102 full-text articles were identified as potentially relevant after title and abstract screening. Thirteen studies were included after fulltext review (Figure 1)[8,26,27,43-52]. Thirteen studies reported data on ROSC and ten reported data on SHD. Important characteristics for each study are summarized in Table 1.

## **Study Characteristics**

A total number of 17600 participants from 13 studies were included for analysis. Patients were on average  $69 \pm 17.5$  years old, with 7022 (39.8%) female patients. All studies were published between the years 2006 and 2020. Six studied the influence of RTAVF devices in OHCA, while six studied their influence in IHCA. One examined both OHCA and IHCA (Table 1)[44]. All studies examined adult populations, with Park et al [49] 2018 examining patients greater than 15 years old.

## **Risk of Bias**

Risk of bias was assessed in all 13 studies. Of the studies included, four were RCTs[45,46,51,52]. Using Cochrane's Risk of Bias tool, the risk of bias was assessed to be low risk in three RCTs and medium risk in one RCT (Supplementary Table 2). Using the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale, the risk of bias was assessed to be low in eight studies and medium in one study (Supplementary Table 3). Egger's test found no evidence of publication bias in any outcomes of interest (Supplementary Figure 1).

## Outcomes

Pooled ROSC was 37% (95% confidence interval (CI) = 23%-54%) (Supplementary Figure 2A). Park et al[49] 2018 was identified as a potential outlier using leave-one-out sensitivity analysis with the lowest survival rate of 9%. Visual inspection of the associated funnel plot found no clear asymmetry (Supplementary Figure 2B).



Table 1 Characteristics of included studies									
Ref.	Region	Enrollment year	n	Female	ROSC	Setting	Study type		
Abella <i>et al</i> [26], 2007	United States	2002-2005	156	71	43%	IHCA, adult patients	Prospective cohort		
Goharani <i>et al</i> [45], 2019	Iran	2015	900	546	55%	IHCA, adult patients	RCT		
Hostler <i>et al</i> [46], 2011	United States, Canada	2007-2009	1587	1000	45%	OHCA, adult (> 20 yr)	RCT		
Kramer-Johansen J <i>et al</i> [27], 2006	London, Norway, Sweden	2002-2003	284	106	19%	OHCA, adult	Non-randomized controlled trial		
Lakomek <i>et al</i> [47], 2020	Germany	2016	196	112	54%	OHCA, adult	Non-randomized controlled trial		
Vahedian-Azimi <i>et al</i> [52], 2020	Iran	2013-2014	22	10	27%	IHCA, adult	RCT		
Vahedian-Azimi <i>et al</i> [51], 2016	Iran	2014	80	49	54%	IHCA, adult (≥ 18 yr)	RCT		
Couper <i>et al</i> [43], 2015	England	2009-2013	400	182	40%	IHCA, adult (≥ 18 yr)	Prospective cohort		
BoBrow <i>et al</i> [8], 2013	Arizona	2008-2011	484	162	23%	OHCA, adult (≥ 18 years)	Prospective cohort		
Crowe <i>et al</i> [44], 2015	Arizona	2010-2013	101	27	42%	OHCA/IHCA, adult	Prospective before-after		
Sutton <i>et al</i> [50], 2014	Pennsylvania	2011-2013	8	2	50%	IHCA, children (1-8 yr)	Prospective cohort		
Lukas et al[48], 2012	Germany	2007-2011	638	184	50%	OHCA, adults (> 18 yr)	Retrospective Matched-pair analysis		
Park et al[49], 2018	South Korea	2013-2016	12670	4571	9%	OHCA, > 15 yr	Before-after		

ROSC: Return of spontaneous circulation; IHCA: In-hospital cardiac arrest; RCT: Randomized controlled trials; OHCA: Out-of-hospital cardiac arrest.

## ROSC

Thirteen trials reported ROSC as an outcome of interest (n = 17600). ROSC occurred in 1693 patients (21.0%) in the RTAVF-assisted CPR group and 1602 patients (16.8%) in the conventional CPR group. All studies included data on ROSC in both the RTAVF-assisted CPR group and the conventional CPR group. Using a random-effects model, patients in the RTAVF group were significantly more likely to achieve ROSC than the conventional CPR group (RR 1.17; 95%CI = 1.001-1.362; P = 0.048) (Figure 2).

Subgroup analysis revealed that the location of cardiac arrest was significantly correlated with patient outcomes (P value for interaction = 0.02) (Supplementary Figure 3). ROSC in the setting of IHCA was significantly improved in the RTAVF group (RR 1.36; 1.06-1.80; P = 0.002). However, ROSC in the setting of OHCA was not significantly different between the two groups (RR 1.04; 0.91-1.19; P = 0.47).

Potential causes of heterogeneity in ROSC were explored, with subgroup analysis on study type comparing RCTs with non-RCTs, and region comparing studies within Europe, Middle East/Asia, and North America (Supplementary Figure 4). Heterogeneity remained significant within at least one subgroup in both analyses.

## SHD

Ten trials reported SHD as an outcome of interest (n = 16684). SHD was reported in 994 patients (13.1%) in the RTAVFassisted CPR group and in 1028 patients (11.2%) in the conventional CPR group. No significant difference was found in SHD between the two groups (RR 1.23; 0.94-1.60; P = 0.12) (Figure 3). Subgroup analysis found no significant correlation between SHD and the location of cardiac arrest (P value for interaction = 0.26) (Supplementary Figure 5).

#### Secondary Outcomes

Eight studies reported compression rate as an outcome of interest (n = 2804). The average compression rate was 107.3 ± 9.4 in the RTAVF-assisted CPR group and 117.5 ± 13.8 in the conventional CPR group, with a nationally recommended rate of 100-120 compressions per minute[53]. A non-significant difference was seen between the two, with patients in the intervention group receiving a lower compression rate [SMD -2.1; (-4.6-0.5); P = 0.09] (Supplementary Figure 6). While both groups had an average compression rate within the nationally recommended guidelines, the proportion of compressions that fell between 100-120 compressions per minute was likely higher in the intervention group than in the control group (Supplementary Figure 6). Eight studies reported compression depth as an outcome of interest (n = 2625). The average compression depth was 4.59 cm ± 0.91 cm in the intervention group and 4.24 cm ± 1.29 cm in the control group, with a nationally recommended compression depth of 5-6 cm in the average adult[53]. Neither group had an average compression depth that met AHA guidelines. However, a significant difference was seen between the two



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.531 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses flow diagram of included and excluded articles.

Study	Interve Events	ention Total	Co Events	ntrol Total	Risk ratio-ROSC	g	95%CI	Weight
Bobrow_2013	55	252	58	232		0.87	[0.63; 1.21]	8.2%
Lakomek_2020	52	103	54	94		0.88	[0.68; 1.14]	9.3%
Hostler_2011	361	815	345	771		0.99	[0.89; 1.10]	11.5%
Couper_2015	71	170	89	230	÷	1.08	[0.85; 1.37]	9.6%
Lukas_2012	165	319	151	319	<u><u></u></u>	1.09	[0.93; 1.28]	10.9%
Abella_2007	45	101	22	55	- <del>()</del> -	1.11	[0.75; 1.65]	7.1%
Park_2018	559	5606	613	7064		1.15	[1.03; 1.28]	11.5%
Crowe_2015	22	49	20	52		1.17	[0.73; 1.85]	6.1%
JoKramer-Johansen_2006	27	117	42	241		1.32	[0.86; 2.04]	6.5%
Goharani_2019	300	450	191	450	-+-	1.57	[1.38; 1.78]	11.3%
Vahedian-Azimi_2020	4	11	2	11		2.00	[0.46; 8.76]	1.1%
Vahedian-Azimi_2016	29	40	14	40		2.07	[1.30; 3.29]	6.1%
Sutton_2014	3	4	1	4		3.00	[0.50; 17.95]	0.8%
Overall effect					•	1.17	[1.00; 1.36]	100.0%
Prediction interval							[0.68; 2.01]	
Heterogeneity: I <sup>2</sup> = 74% [55%; 85%], P < 0.01								
					0.1 0.5 1 2 10			
				AT. 10	4000/www.utc.:10.001. Comment			1 2022

 $\textbf{DOI: } 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.531 \textbf{ Copyright } {{}_{\tiny \mbox{\scriptsize C}}} The Author(s) 2023.$ 

Figure 2 Forest plot of return to spontaneous circulation. ROSC: Return of spontaneous circulation.

groups, with patients in the intervention group receiving a higher compression depth, closer to AHA guidelines [SMD 1.6 (0.02-3.1); P = 0.047] (Supplementary Figure 7).

Baishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

	Interve	ention	Co	ontrol				
Study	Events	Total	Events	Total	Risk ratio-SHD	g	95%CI	Weight
Couper 2015	22	170	39	230		0.76	[0.47; 1.24]	12.1%
Hostler 2011	92	815	96	771		0.91	[0.69; 1.19]	17.6%
Abella 2007	9	101	5	55		0.98	[0.35; 2.78]	4.6%
Park 2018	575	5606	726	7064		1.00	[0.90; 1.11]	21.2%
Sutton 2014	1	4	1	4		1.00	[0.09; 11.03]	1.0%
JoKramer-Johansen 2006	5	117	7	241		- 1.47	[0.48; 4.54]	4.0%
Bobrow_2013	35	252	20	231		1.60	[0.95; 2.70]	11.3%
Goharani_2019	243	450	128	450		1.90	[1.60; 2.25]	20.0%
Vahedian-Azimi_2020	8	11	4	11		- 2.00	[0.85; 4.73]	6.1%
Crowe_2015	4	49	2	52		2.12	[0.41; 11.07]	2.1%
Overall effect					-	1.23	[0.94; 1.60]	100.0%
Prediction interval							[0.62; 2.43]	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 82\%$ [68%	; 90%], <i>P</i>	< 0.01					• • •	
				0	.1 0.5 1 2	10		
			DO	<b>I:</b> 10.4	330/wjc.v15.i10.531 Co	pyright ©	The Author(s	) 2023.

Figure 3 Forest plot of survival to hospital discharge. SHD: Survival to hospital discharge.

## DISCUSSION

This manuscript analyzed the most recent evidence with regards to the efficacy of real-time audiovisual feedback devices in improving CPR quality and patient outcomes. A total of 13 studies (n = 17600) were included, making it the largest study of this topic to date.

Currently, patient outcomes after cardiac arrest remain poor. This meta-analysis found an average ROSC of 37%, which is consistent with previous literature findings ranging between 13% and 72%[54-59].

The AHA mandated that beginning January 2019, all AHA courses that teach adult CPR will be required to use a realtime audiovisual feedback device. These devices typically measure one or more of the following CPR metrics: Chest compression rate, depth, hand position, recoil, ventilation volume, ventilation rate, and hands-off time. Multiple types of feedback devices exist, including manikins with integrated sensors, devices that can be added to existing manikins, and hand-held devices that can be easily transferred from patient to patient[60]. As this meta-analysis examined the effect of using RTAVF devices during CPR on patient outcomes, the only type of RTAVF devices that were analyzed were handheld devices that can be used during CPR on patients, rather than manikin-based RTAVF devices.

Thirteen studies with a total of 17600 patients were analyzed. These studies were a mixture of 4 RCT, 2 non-RCT, 4 cohort studies, 2 before-after studies, and 1 matched pair registry study. Studies took place across the globe with only 5 in the United States. These studies were both clinically and statistically heterogenous, with varying protocols and outcomes. Despite this heterogeneity, all studies did examine the primary outcome of ROSC with ten of thirteen also examining SHD.

Contrary to prior literature reviews, this analysis found that the use of real-time audiovisual feedback devices did significantly improve ROSC in cases of IHCA. This may be because prior meta-analyses included only three human intervention studies, while this meta-analysis had a larger number of studies and patients[31,32]. In addition, Kirkbright et al[32] 2013, Gugelmin-Almeida et al[31] 2021, and Lv et al[61] 2022 included only 1, 2, and 5 studies focusing on IHCA, respectively. This meta-analysis found that the location of cardiac arrest played a significant role in whether RTAVF devices influenced ROSC, with a significant increase in ROSC seen in cases of IHCA and no such increase seen in cases of OHCA. This could be another reason why prior reviews found no significant impact of RTAVF devices on ROSC. In particular, Lv et al[61] 2022 found that RTAVF-assisted CPR did not improve ROSC across all studies, but did not differentiate between ROSC outcomes in IHCA and OHCA settings. These findings suggest that hospitals should prioritize the rollout and adoption of RTAVF devices in areas most likely to see IHCA, such as intensive care units, telemetry units, and EDs, rather than with paramedics or ambulances[62,63]. This difference in survival may be due to the inherent rushed nature of CPR for patients suffering OHCA. Unlike cases of IHCA where a dedicated HCW can focus exclusively on performing high quality CPR, in cases of OHCA, paramedics may be obligated to multi-task, performing CPR while also keeping track of the other required tasks to bring the patient into the hospital safely. As such, the quality of CPR may be reduced in cases of OHCA vs IHCA. Another explanation could be tied to the fact that the time-to-CPR from arrest is lower in cases of IHCA vs OHCA, and as such CPR quality may play a more important role in IHCA than in OHCA[64, 65].

Despite the increase in ROSC when using RTAVF devices, no similar increase was seen in SHD. This insignificance may relate to how CPR quality plays little role in the improvement of survival after ROSC. It could also be due to the presence of comorbidities including heart failure, sepsis, and myocardial infarction and that effective CPR is one factor among many steps required for improved survival. Without additional improvements in other steps required in the care of post-cardiac arrest patients, the increase in CPR quality may be insufficient to translate into improved SHD.

Repeated studies in the literature have shown that CPR quality when performed on manikins improves when using a RTAVF device[31,32]. Consistent with existing literature, this meta-analysis also found that CPR quality was increased in RTAVF-assisted CPR. The average compression rate in both groups fell within AHA guidelines, while the average compression depth in both groups fell outside of AHA guidelines[53]. However, for both compression rate and depth, the RTAVF group was more likely to have a higher proportion of compressions falling within guidelines compared to the conventional CPR group, showing that RTAVF-assisted CPR was superior to conventional CPR. Prior studies have shown

the importance of proper compression depth in patient outcomes [10,16,66]. In CPR training courses being taught with RTAVF devices, a larger focus should be put on achieving adequate compression depth.

Overall, the evidence suggests that RTAVF-assisted CPR is of superior quality than conventional CPR. In addition, RTAVF-assisted CPR has a small benefit in patient outcomes, specifically improving ROSC in cases of IHCA. However, this meta-analysis has multiple limitations. First, the studies examined were both statistically and clinically heterogeneous, with varying study parameters, outcomes, and designs, limiting the internal validity of the meta-analysis. This was partially accounted for using a random-effects model and by subgroup analysis, but not all heterogeneity could be accounted for. This may partially be due to the limitations of  $l^2$  as a metric for heterogeneity. This study contained relatively larger studies than most examining this topic, and prior literature has documented that as sampling error decreases,  $l^2$  tends to increase, which can erroneously lead to assumptions that clinical heterogeneity has also increased. In addition, as this meta-analysis examined the class of all RTAVF devices used in CPR, some degree of clinical heterogeneity is expected, as the expected effects of individual devices can vary. Second, nine of these thirteen studies were not RCT, which can introduce sources of both confounding and selection bias. However, ROSC outcomes of cardiac arrest patients are dependent upon many non-controllable factors that cannot undergo randomization including time from arrest to CPR initiation and presence of shockable rhythm which may limit the advantage an RCT would have over other nonrandomized studies designs. Third, this meta-analysis only examined RTAVF devices that could be used during CPR on patients rather than RTAVF devices that are built into manikins. As such, these results cannot be extrapolated to that class of RTAVF devices. Fourth, this meta-analysis only reviewed publications in the literature until 2020, precluding studies published thereafter from inclusion in this analysis. Fifth, this meta-analysis was limited by the evidence that could be extracted from prior reports in the literature, and evidence on long-term patient outcomes and neurological function from RTAVF-assisted CPR is lacking. Future research should examine such cohorts and associated long-term outcomes. In addition, further research into why the improvements seen in ROSC with RTAVF-assisted CPR were not translated into improvements in SHD is warranted, along with research examining which RTAVF device provides the highest improvement in patient outcomes and CPR quality.

## CONCLUSION

This meta-analysis examined 13 studies (n = 17600) and found that RTAVF-assisted CPR resulted in a significantly increased rate of ROSC, specifically in cases of IHCA but did not improve SHD. This is a novel finding, with prior metaanalyses finding that the use of RTAVF devices did not significantly improve patient outcomes. Consistent with what has been found previously, the use of RTAVF devices resulted in improved CPR quality, as measured by compression rate and depth.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

## Research background

Cardiac arrest is a leading cause of mortality in America and continues to grow in prevalence. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) increases survival outcomes in cases of cardiac arrest; however, healthcare workers often do not perform CPR within recommended guidelines. Real-time audiovisual feedback (RTAVF) devices provide live feedback on CPR performance and subsequently improves the quality of CPR performed.

## Research motivation

Effective CPR in cardiac arrest is critical to emergent management and stabilization. RTAVF-assisted CPR devices may improve performance, compliance with recommended guidelines, and survival, therefore, this systematic review and meta-analysis seeks to compare the effect of RTAVF-assisted CPR devices with conventional CPR on patient outcomes in the setting of in-hospital cardiac arrest (IHCA) and out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (OHCA).

#### Research objectives

To investigate the impact of RTAVF-assisted CPR on patient outcomes and CPR quality with respect to in- and OHCA.

#### Research methods

The literature search was conducted on PubMed, SCOPUS, the Cochrane Library, and EMBASE from inception to July 27, 2020, for studies reporting patient outcomes and/or CPR quality metrics between an RTAVF-assisted CPR and conventional CPR in the setting of IHCA or OHCA. The primary outcomes of interest extracted and analyzed were return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) and survival to hospital discharge (SHD). Data was analyzed using R statistical software 4.2.0. Results were statistically significant if P < 0.05.

## Research results

Thirteen studies (*n* = 17600) were included after deduplication, screening, and full-text analysis. Patients were on average 69 ± 17.5 years old, with 7022 (39.8%) female patients. Overall pooled ROSC was 37% among all studies. RTAVF-assisted CPR significantly improved ROSC in the case of IHCAs and improved chest compression depth. No significant


improvements were seen in ROSC in cases of OHCA, SHD, or compression rate.

#### Research conclusions

This meta-analysis found that RTAVF-assisted CPR increases ROSC in the setting of IHCA but has no significant effect on ROSC in the setting of OHCA or SHD. Consistent with previous manikin simulation studies, the meta-analysis found that RTAVF-assisted CPR results in improvements in both chest compression rate and depth.

#### Research perspectives

Cardiac arrest remains a leading cause of mortality with increasing prevalence. The findings of this study suggest that RTAVF-assisted CPR may improve ROSC in the setting of IHCAs but not in the setting of OHCA. Hospitals should prioritize implementing RTAVF devices in areas with the highest rates of IHCA rather than to paramedics or ambulances.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Sood N, Sangari A, and Goyal A contributed equally to this work; Sood N and Sangari A designed the research study; Sood N, Sangari A, and Goyal A performed the research; Sood N performed the statistical analysis; Sood N, Sangari A, Goyal A, Sun C, Horinek M, Hauger JA, and Perry L analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; Sood N, Sangari A, Goyal A, Sun C, Horinek M, Hauger JA, and Perry L reviewed the manuscript before submission; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors deny any conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Nitish Sood 0000-0003-1516-0691; Anish Sangari 0000-0002-4388-7620; Arnav Goyal 0000-0002-6346-7690; Christina Sun 0009-0001-4701-4683; Madison Horinek 0009-0008-1748-2831.

S-Editor: Qu XL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xu ZH

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Holmberg MJ, Ross CE, Fitzmaurice GM, Chan PS, Duval-Arnould J, Grossestreuer AV, Yankama T, Donnino MW, Andersen LW; American Heart Association's Get With The Guidelines-Resuscitation Investigators. Annual Incidence of Adult and Pediatric In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in the United States. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2019; 12: e005580 [PMID: 31545574]
- Virani SS, Alonso A, Benjamin EJ, Bittencourt MS, Callaway CW, Carson AP, Chamberlain AM, Chang AR, Cheng S, Delling FN, Djousse 2 L, Elkind MSV, Ferguson JF, Fornage M, Khan SS, Kissela BM, Knutson KL, Kwan TW, Lackland DT, Lewis TT, Lichtman JH, Longenecker CT, Loop MS, Lutsey PL, Martin SS, Matsushita K, Moran AE, Mussolino ME, Perak AM, Rosamond WD, Roth GA, Sampson UKA, Satou GM, Schroeder EB, Shah SH, Shay CM, Spartano NL, Stokes A, Tirschwell DL, VanWagner LB, Tsao CW; American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2020 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2020; 141: e139-e596 [PMID: 31992061 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000757]
- Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, Alonso A, Beaton AZ, Bittencourt MS, Boehme AK, Buxton AE, Carson AP, Commodore-Mensah Y, 3 Elkind MSV, Evenson KR, Eze-Nliam C, Ferguson JF, Generoso G, Ho JE, Kalani R, Khan SS, Kissela BM, Knutson KL, Levine DA, Lewis TT, Liu J, Loop MS, Ma J, Mussolino ME, Navaneethan SD, Perak AM, Poudel R, Rezk-Hanna M, Roth GA, Schroeder EB, Shah SH, Thacker EL, VanWagner LB, Virani SS, Voecks JH, Wang NY, Yaffe K, Martin SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2022 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2022; 145: e153-e639 [PMID: 35078371 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.00000000001052]
- Wu L, Narasimhan B, Bhatia K, Ho KS, Krittanawong C, Aronow WS, Lam P, Virani SS, Pamboukian SV. Temporal Trends in 4 Characteristics and Outcomes Associated With In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A 20-Year Analysis (1999-2018). J Am Heart Assoc 2021; 10: e021572 [PMID: 34854314 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.121.021572]
- Stecker EC, Reinier K, Marijon E, Narayanan K, Teodorescu C, Uy-Evanado A, Gunson K, Jui J, Chugh SS. Public health burden of sudden 5 cardiac death in the United States. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2014; 7: 212-217 [PMID: 24610738 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.113.001034]
- Murphy TW, Cohen SA, Avery KL, Balakrishnan MP, Balu R, Chowdhury MAB, Crabb DB, Huesgen KW, Hwang CW, Maciel CB, Gul SS, 6 Han F, Becker TK; Interdisciplinary Cardiac Arrest Research Review (ICARE) group. Cardiac arrest: An interdisciplinary scoping review of the literature from 2019. Resusc Plus 2020; 4: 100037 [PMID: 34223314 DOI: 10.1016/j.resplu.2020.100037]
- Azeli Y, Barbería E, Fernández A, García-Vilana S, Bardají A, Hardig BM. Chest wall mechanics during mechanical chest compression and its 7



WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

relationship to CPR-related injuries and survival. Resusc Plus 2022; 10: 100242 [PMID: 35592875 DOI: 10.1016/j.resplu.2022.100242]

- Bobrow BJ, Vadeboncoeur TF, Stolz U, Silver AE, Tobin JM, Crawford SA, Mason TK, Schirmer J, Smith GA, Spaite DW. The influence of 8 scenario-based training and real-time audiovisual feedback on out-of-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality and survival from out-ofhospital cardiac arrest. Ann Emerg Med 2013; 62: 47-56.e1 [PMID: 23465553 DOI: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2012.12.020]
- Cheskes S, Schmicker RH, Christenson J, Salcido DD, Rea T, Powell J, Edelson DP, Sell R, May S, Menegazzi JJ, Van Ottingham L, Olsufka 9 M, Pennington S, Simonini J, Berg RA, Stiell I, Idris A, Bigham B, Morrison L; Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (ROC) Investigators. Perishock pause: an independent predictor of survival from out-of-hospital shockable cardiac arrest. Circulation 2011; 124: 58-66 [PMID: 21690495 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.010736]
- Christenson J, Andrusiek D, Everson-Stewart S, Kudenchuk P, Hostler D, Powell J, Callaway CW, Bishop D, Vaillancourt C, Davis D, 10 Aufderheide TP, Idris A, Stouffer JA, Stiell I, Berg R; Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium Investigators. Chest compression fraction determines survival in patients with out-of-hospital ventricular fibrillation. Circulation 2009; 120: 1241-1247 [PMID: 19752324 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.852202
- Gallagher EJ, Lombardi G, Gennis P. Effectiveness of bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation and survival following out-of-hospital cardiac 11 arrest. JAMA 1995; 274: 1922-1925 [PMID: 8568985]
- 12 Vadeboncoeur T, Stolz U, Panchal A, Silver A, Venuti M, Tobin J, Smith G, Nunez M, Karamooz M, Spaite D, Bobrow B. Chest compression depth and survival in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2014; 85: 182-188 [PMID: 24125742 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.10.002
- Van Hoeyweghen RJ, Bossaert LL, Mullie A, Calle P, Martens P, Buylaert WA, Delooz H. Quality and efficiency of bystander CPR. Belgian 13 Cerebral Resuscitation Study Group. Resuscitation 1993; 26: 47-52 [PMID: 8210731 DOI: 10.1016/0300-9572(93)90162-j]
- 14 Wik L, Steen PA, Bircher NG. Quality of bystander cardiopulmonary resuscitation influences outcome after prehospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 1994; 28: 195-203 [PMID: 7740189 DOI: 10.1016/0300-9572(94)90064-7]
- Kwon OY. The changes in cardiopulmonary resuscitation guidelines: from 2000 to the present. J Exerc Rehabil 2019; 15: 738-746 [PMID: 15 31938692 DOI: 10.12965/jer.1938656.328]
- Abella BS, Alvarado JP, Myklebust H, Edelson DP, Barry A, O'Hearn N, Vanden Hoek TL, Becker LB. Quality of cardiopulmonary 16 resuscitation during in-hospital cardiac arrest. JAMA 2005; 293: 305-310 [PMID: 15657323 DOI: 10.1001/jama.293.3.305]
- 17 Abella BS, Sandbo N, Vassilatos P, Alvarado JP, O'Hearn N, Wigder HN, Hoffman P, Tynus K, Vanden Hoek TL, Becker LB. Chest compression rates during cardiopulmonary resuscitation are suboptimal: a prospective study during in-hospital cardiac arrest. Circulation 2005; 111: 428-434 [PMID: 15687130 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000153811.84257.59]
- Ashton A, McCluskey A, Gwinnutt CL, Keenan AM. Effect of rescuer fatigue on performance of continuous external chest compressions over 18 3 min. Resuscitation 2002; 55: 151-155 [PMID: 12413752 DOI: 10.1016/s0300-9572(02)00168-5]
- Aufderheide TP, Sigurdsson G, Pirrallo RG, Yannopoulos D, McKnite S, von Briesen C, Sparks CW, Conrad CJ, Provo TA, Lurie KG. 19 Hyperventilation-induced hypotension during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Circulation 2004; 109: 1960-1965 [PMID: 15066941 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000126594.79136.61]
- Stiell IG, Brown SP, Christenson J, Cheskes S, Nichol G, Powell J, Bigham B, Morrison LJ, Larsen J, Hess E, Vaillancourt C, Davis DP, 20 Callaway CW; Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium (ROC) Investigators. What is the role of chest compression depth during out-of-hospital cardiac arrest resuscitation? Crit Care Med 2012; 40: 1192-1198 [PMID: 22202708 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31823bc8bb]
- 21 Sunde K, Eftestøl T, Askenberg C, Steen PA. Quality assessment of defribrillation and advanced life support using data from the medical control module of the defibrillator. Resuscitation 1999; 41: 237-247 [PMID: 10507709 DOI: 10.1016/s0300-9572(99)00059-3]
- Travers AH, Rea TD, Bobrow BJ, Edelson DP, Berg RA, Sayre MR, Berg MD, Chameides L, O'Connor RE, Swor RA. Part 4: CPR overview: 22 2010 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation 2010; 122: S676-S684 [PMID: 20956220 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.970913]
- Valenzuela TD, Kern KB, Clark LL, Berg RA, Berg MD, Berg DD, Hilwig RW, Otto CW, Newburn D, Ewy GA. Interruptions of chest 23 compressions during emergency medical systems resuscitation. Circulation 2005; 112: 1259-1265 [PMID: 16116053 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.537282]
- 24 van Alem AP, Sanou BT, Koster RW. Interruption of cardiopulmonary resuscitation with the use of the automated external defibrillator in outof-hospital cardiac arrest. Ann Emerg Med 2003; 42: 449-457 [PMID: 14520315 DOI: 10.1067/s0196-0644(03)00383-4]
- 25 Wik L, Kramer-Johansen J, Myklebust H, Sørebø H, Svensson L, Fellows B, Steen PA. Quality of cardiopulmonary resuscitation during outof-hospital cardiac arrest. JAMA 2005; 293: 299-304 [PMID: 15657322 DOI: 10.1001/jama.293.3.299]
- Abella BS, Edelson DP, Kim S, Retzer E, Myklebust H, Barry AM, O'Hearn N, Hoek TL, Becker LB. CPR quality improvement during in-26 hospital cardiac arrest using a real-time audiovisual feedback system. Resuscitation 2007; 73: 54-61 [PMID: 17258853 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2006.10.027]
- Kramer-Johansen J, Myklebust H, Wik L, Fellows B, Svensson L, Sørebø H, Steen PA. Quality of out-of-hospital cardiopulmonary 27 resuscitation with real time automated feedback: a prospective interventional study. Resuscitation 2006; 71: 283-292 [PMID: 17070980 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2006.05.011]
- Bhanji F, Finn JC, Lockey A, Monsieurs K, Frengley R, Iwami T, Lang E, Ma MH, Mancini ME, McNeil MA, Greif R, Billi JE, Nadkarni 28 VM, Bigham B; Education, Implementation, and Teams Chapter Collaborators. Part 8: Education, Implementation, and Teams: 2015 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science With Treatment Recommendations. Circulation 2015; 132: S242-S268 [PMID: 26472856 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000277]
- 29 Morrison LJ, Neumar RW, Zimmerman JL, Link MS, Newby LK, McMullan PW Jr, Hoek TV, Halverson CC, Doering L, Peberdy MA, Edelson DP; American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee, Council on Cardiopulmonary, Critical Care, Perioperative and Resuscitation, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, Council on Clinical Cardiology, and Council on P. Strategies for improving survival after in-hospital cardiac arrest in the United States: 2013 consensus recommendations: a consensus statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2013; 127: 1538-1563 [PMID: 23479672 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31828b2770]
- Soar J, Mancini ME, Bhanji F, Billi JE, Dennett J, Finn J, Ma MH, Perkins GD, Rodgers DL, Hazinski MF, Jacobs I, Morley PT; Education, 30 Implementation, and Teams Chapter Collaborators. Part 12: Education, implementation, and teams: 2010 International Consensus on Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care Science with Treatment Recommendations. Resuscitation 2010; 81 Suppl 1: e288-e330 [PMID: 20956038 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2010.08.030]
- Gugelmin-Almeida D, Tobase L, Polastri TF, Peres HHC, Timerman S. Do automated real-time feedback devices improve CPR quality? A 31 systematic review of literature. Resusc Plus 2021; 6: 100108 [PMID: 34223369 DOI: 10.1016/j.resplu.2021.100108]



- Kirkbright S, Finn J, Tohira H, Bremner A, Jacobs I, Celenza A. Audiovisual feedback device use by health care professionals during CPR: a 32 systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised and non-randomised trials. Resuscitation 2014; 85: 460-471 [PMID: 24361457 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.12.012
- 33 Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, Savovic J, Schulz KF, Weeks L, Sterne JA; Cochrane Bias Methods Group; Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011; 343: d5928 [PMID: 22008217 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d5928]
- Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of 34 Non-Randomised Studies in Meta-Analyses. Beyond the Basics 2014
- Tufanaru C, Munn Z, Stephenson M, Aromataris E. Fixed or random effects meta-analysis? Common methodological issues in systematic 35 reviews of effectiveness. Int J Evid Based Healthc 2015; 13: 196-207 [PMID: 26355603 DOI: 10.1097/XEB.000000000000065]
- 36 Sood N, Sangari A, Goyal A, Conway JAS. Predictors of survival for pediatric extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2022; 101: e30860 [PMID: 36181012 DOI: 10.1097/MD.000000000030860]
- Wan X, Wang W, Liu J, Tong T. Estimating the sample mean and standard deviation from the sample size, median, range and/or interquartile 37 range. BMC Med Res Methodol 2014; 14: 135 [PMID: 25524443 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-135]
- Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG. 9.2.3.2 The standardized mean difference: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. Available from: https:// 38 handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/chapter 9/9 2 3 2 the standardized mean difference.htm
- Harrer M, Cuijpers P, Furukawa TA, Ebert DD. Doing Meta-Analysis with R: A Hands-On Guide. 2021 39
- Sangari A, Sood N, Sood A, Maini K, Hauger J. 42 Improving Patient Selection in International Pediatric ECPR Cohorts. Annals of 40 Emergency Medicine 2021; 78: S18
- 41 Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG. 9.5.2 Identifying and measuring heterogeneity: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. Available from: https:// /handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/chapter\_9/9\_5\_2\_identifying\_and\_measuring\_heterogeneity.htm
- Sood N, Goyal A, Grogan D, Reddy V. Abstract 9115: Determining Optimal Hemoglobin Transfusion Threshold for Patients With Severe 42 Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Circulation 2021; 144: A9115-A [DOI: 10.1161/circ.144.suppl\_2.9115]
- 43 Couper K, Kimani PK, Abella BS, Chilwan M, Cooke MW, Davies RP, Field RA, Gao F, Quinton S, Stallard N, Woolley S, Perkins GD; Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation Quality Improvement Initiative Collaborators. The System-Wide Effect of Real-Time Audiovisual Feedback and Postevent Debriefing for In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: The Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation Quality Improvement Initiative. Crit Care Med 2015; 43: 2321-2331 [PMID: 26186567 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001202]
- 44 Crowe C, Bobrow BJ, Vadeboncoeur TF, Dameff C, Stolz U, Silver A, Roosa J, Page R, LoVecchio F, Spaite DW. Measuring and improving cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality inside the emergency department. Resuscitation 2015; 93: 8-13 [PMID: 25963706 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2015.04.031]
- 45 Goharani R, Vahedian-Azimi A, Farzanegan B, Bashar FR, Hajiesmaeili M, Shojaei S, Madani SJ, Gohari-Moghaddam K, Hatamian S, Mosavinasab SMM, Khoshfetrat M, Khabiri Khatir MA, Miller AC; MORZAK Collaborative. Real-time compression feedback for patients with in-hospital cardiac arrest: a multi-center randomized controlled clinical trial. J Intensive Care 2019; 7: 5 [PMID: 30693086 DOI: 10.1186/s40560-019-0357-5
- 46 Hostler D, Everson-Stewart S, Rea TD, Stiell IG, Callaway CW, Kudenchuk PJ, Sears GK, Emerson SS, Nichol G; Resuscitation Outcomes Consortium Investigators. Effect of real-time feedback during cardiopulmonary resuscitation outside hospital: prospective, cluster-randomised trial. BMJ 2011; 342: d512 [PMID: 21296838 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d512]
- Lakomek F, Lukas RP, Brinkrolf P, Mennewisch A, Steinsiek N, Gutendorf P, Sudowe H, Heller M, Kwiecien R, Zarbock A, Bohn A. Real-47 time feedback improves chest compression quality in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: A prospective cohort study. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0229431 [PMID: 32092113 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229431]
- Lukas RP, Gräsner JT, Seewald S, Lefering R, Weber TP, Van Aken H, Fischer M, Bohn A. Chest compression quality management and 48 return of spontaneous circulation: a matched-pair registry study. Resuscitation 2012; 83: 1212-1218 [PMID: 22465945 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2012.03.027]
- Park JH, Shin SD, Ro YS, Song KJ, Hong KJ, Kim TH, Lee EJ, Kong SY. Implementation of a bundle of Utstein cardiopulmonary 49 resuscitation programs to improve survival outcomes after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in a metropolis: A before and after study. Resuscitation 2018; 130: 124-132 [PMID: 30036591 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2018.07.019]
- Sutton RM, Niles D, French B, Maltese MR, Leffelman J, Eilevstjønn J, Wolfe H, Nishisaki A, Meaney PA, Berg RA, Nadkarni VM. First 50 quantitative analysis of cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality during in-hospital cardiac arrests of young children. Resuscitation 2014; 85: 70-74 [PMID: 23994802 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2013.08.014]
- Vahedian-Azimi A, Hajiesmaeili M, Amirsavadkouhi A, Jamaati H, Izadi M, Madani SJ, Hashemian SM, Miller AC. Effect of the Cardio First 51 Angel™ device on CPR indices: a randomized controlled clinical trial. Crit Care 2016; 20: 147 [PMID: 27184664 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-016-1296-3]
- Vahedian-Azimi A, Rahimibashar F, Miller AC. A comparison of cardiopulmonary resuscitation with standard manual compressions versus 52 compressions with real-time audiovisual feedback: A randomized controlled pilot study. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci 2020; 10: 32-37 [PMID: 32322552 DOI: 10.4103/IJCIIS.IJCIIS\_84\_19]
- Merchant RM, Topjian AA, Panchal AR, Cheng A, Aziz K, Berg KM, Lavonas EJ, Magid DJ; Adult Basic and Advanced Life Support, 53 Pediatric Basic and Advanced Life Support, Neonatal Life Support, Resuscitation Education Science, and Systems of Care Writing Groups. Part 1: Executive Summary: 2020 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation 2020; 142: S337-S357 [PMID: 33081530 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000918]
- Banerjee P, Ganti L, Stead TG, Vera AE, Vittone R, Pepe PE. Every one-minute delay in EMS on-scene resuscitation after out-of-hospital 54 pediatric cardiac arrest lowers ROSC by 5. Resusc Plus 2021; 5: 100062 [PMID: 34223334 DOI: 10.1016/j.resplu.2020.100062]
- 55 Chan PS, McNally B, Tang F, Kellermann A; CARES Surveillance Group. Recent trends in survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest in the United States. Circulation 2014; 130: 1876-1882 [PMID: 25399396 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.009711]
- 56 Chan PS, Tang Y; American Heart Association's Get With the Guidelines®-Resuscitation Investigators. Risk-Standardizing Rates of Return of Spontaneous Circulation for In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest to Facilitate Hospital Comparisons. J Am Heart Assoc 2020; 9: e014837 [PMID: 32200716 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014837]
- Girotra S, Nallamothu BK, Spertus JA, Li Y, Krumholz HM, Chan PS; American Heart Association Get with the Guidelines-Resuscitation 57 Investigators. Trends in survival after in-hospital cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 1912-1920 [PMID: 23150959 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1109148]



- Schmidbauer S, Yates EJ, Andréll C, Bergström D, Olson H, Perkins GD, Friberg H. Outcomes and interventions in patients transported to 58 hospital with ongoing CPR after out-of-hospital cardiac arrest - An observational study. Resusc Plus 2021; 8: 100170 [PMID: 34901895 DOI: 10.1016/j.resplu.2021.100170]
- Yan S, Gan Y, Jiang N, Wang R, Chen Y, Luo Z, Zong Q, Chen S, Lv C. The global survival rate among adult out-of-hospital cardiac arrest 59 patients who received cardiopulmonary resuscitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Care 2020; 24: 61 [PMID: 32087741 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-020-2773-2]
- Sood N, Sangari A, Hauger JA. Abstract 344: Comparing the Efficacy of Real-Time Audiovisual Feedback Devices and Active Compression-60 Decompression Devices in Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest: A Network Meta-Analysis. Circulation 2020; 142: A344-A [DOI: 10.1161/circ.142.suppl\_4.344]
- Lv GW, Hu QC, Zhang M, Feng SY, Li Y, Zhang Y, Zhang YY, Wang WJ. Effect of real-time feedback on patient's outcomes and survival 61 after cardiac arrest: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2022; 101: e30438 [PMID: 36123918 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000030438]
- Leung KHB, Sun CLF, Yang M, Allan KS, Wong N, Chan TCY. Optimal in-hospital defibrillator placement. Resuscitation 2020; 151: 91-98 62 [PMID: 32268160 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2020.03.018]
- Perman SM, Stanton E, Soar J, Berg RA, Donnino MW, Mikkelsen ME, Edelson DP, Churpek MM, Yang L, Merchant RM; American Heart 63 Association's Get With the Guidelines®-Resuscitation (formerly the National Registry of Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation) Investigators. Location of In-Hospital Cardiac Arrest in the United States-Variability in Event Rate and Outcomes. J Am Heart Assoc 2016; 5 [PMID: 27688235 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.116.003638]
- 64 Bobrow BJ, Panczyk M. Time to Compress the Time to First Compression. J Am Heart Assoc 2018; 7 [PMID: 29703812 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.118.009247
- Hasselqvist-Ax I, Riva G, Herlitz J, Rosenqvist M, Hollenberg J, Nordberg P, Ringh M, Jonsson M, Axelsson C, Lindqvist J, Karlsson T, 65 Svensson L. Early cardiopulmonary resuscitation in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 2307-2315 [PMID: 26061835 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1405796]
- Bobrow BJ, Spaite DW, Berg RA, Stolz U, Sanders AB, Kern KB, Vadeboncoeur TF, Clark LL, Gallagher JV, Stapczynski JS, LoVecchio F, 66 Mullins TJ, Humble WO, Ewy GA. Chest compression-only CPR by lay rescuers and survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. JAMA 2010; **304**: 1447-1454 [PMID: 20924010 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2010.1392]



WJC

# World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2023 October 26; 15(10): 542-552

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

CASE REPORT

## Systemic right ventricle complications in levo-transposition of the great arteries: A case report and review of literature

Mohamed Ramzi Almajed, Abdulla Almajed, Naoshin Khan, Mark S Obri, Karthikeyan Ananthasubramaniam

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Ong H, Malaysia; Teragawa H, Japan

Received: June 17, 2023 Peer-review started: June 17, 2023 First decision: August 10, 2023 Revised: August 23, 2023 Accepted: September 27, 2023 Article in press: September 27, 2023 Published online: October 26, 2023



Mohamed Ramzi Almajed, Naoshin Khan, Mark S Obri, Department of Internal Medicine, Henry Ford Hospital, Detroit, MI 48202, United States

Abdulla Almajed, College of Medicine and Medical Sciences, Arabian Gulf University, Manama 00000, Bahrain

Karthikeyan Ananthasubramaniam, Heart and Vascular Institute, Henry Ford West Bloomfield Hospital, West Bloomfield, MI 48322, United States

Corresponding author: Karthikeyan Ananthasubramaniam, FACC, MD, Staff Physician, Heart and Vascular Institute, Henry Ford West Bloomfield Hospital, 6777 W Maple, West Bloomfield, MI 48322, United States. kananth1@hfhs.org

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Congenitally corrected levo-transposition of the great arteries (L-TGA) is a congenital heart disease in which the ventricles and great arteries are transposed from their typical anatomy. In L-TGA, the double discordance, atrioventricular and ventriculoarterial, create an acyanotic milieu which allows patients to survive their early decades, however, progressive systemic right ventricle (sRV) dysfunction creates complications later in life. sRV dysfunction and remodeling predisposes patients to intracardiac thrombus (ICT) formation.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 40-year-old male with L-TGA presented with symptoms of acute decompensated heart failure. In childhood, he had surgical repair of a ventricular septal defect. In adulthood, he developed sRV dysfunction, systemic tricuspid valve (sTV) regurgitation, and left-bundle branch block for which he underwent cardiac resynchronization therapy. Transthoracic echocardiogram showed a sRV ejection fraction of 40%, severe sTV regurgitation, and a newly identified sRV ICT. ICT was confirmed by ultrasound-enhancing agents and transesophageal echocardiography. Our patient was optimized with guideline-directed medical therapy and diuresis. Anticoagulation was achieved with a vitamin K antagonist (VKA) and he was later referred for evaluation by advanced heart failure and heart transplant services.

#### CONCLUSION

Anticoagulation with VKA is the mainstay of treatment in the absence of conclusive data supporting direct oral anticoagulant use in ICT in patients with



WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

congenital heart disease. This case illustrates the natural history of L-TGA and highlights the importance of surveillance and monitoring with dedicated cardiac imaging to identify complications.

Key Words: Levo-transposition of the great arteries; Systemic right ventricle; Congenital heart disease; Intracardiac thrombus; Anticoagulation; Direct oral anticoagulant; Case report

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Patients with congenital heart disease such as levo-transposition of the great arteries experience progressive cardiac dysfunction and remodeling which manifests as heart failure. This predisposes patients to the formation of intracardiac thrombus (ICT). We present a case of progressive systemic right ventricle (sRV) dysfunction resulting in an apical thrombus. Review of literature identified no cases of sRV thrombus making this one of the first reports. Guidelines do not exist for anticoagulation in patients with congenital heart disease and ICT. Therefore, clinical decisions are extrapolated from anticoagulation principles in patients without congenital heart disease. Considerations for direct oral anticoagulants in this population should be individualized and involve shared decision making.

Citation: Almajed MR, Almajed A, Khan N, Obri MS, Ananthasubramaniam K. Systemic right ventricle complications in levotransposition of the great arteries: A case report and review of literature. World J Cardiol 2023; 15(10): 542-552 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v15/i10/542.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542

#### INTRODUCTION

Congenitally corrected transposition, or levo-transposition of the great arteries (L-TGA) is a rare congenital heart disease with an estimated prevalence of 0.4%-1.0% among patients with congenital heart disease[1,2]. The double discordance, atrioventricular and ventriculoarterial, creates an acyanotic milieu in which both pulmonary and systemic circulations exist and freely communicate[3]. This phenomenon, which is alluded to as "congenitally corrected", allows patients to survive their early decades with minimal cardiac complications. A large prospective survival study found that 95.5% of patients survive the first month of life; 72.7% survive to the age of 3 and this percentage of patients continues to live to the age of 15[1]. Survival data among adults is variable due to the presence of different associated cardiac lesions and the heterogenous surgical interventions these patients undergo[4]. Among all patients with L-TGA, a minority survive beyond the fifth decade of life due to cardiac complications<sup>[5]</sup>. In those who undergo surgical correction as children, the 10-year survival rate ranges from 60%-70% [6,7].

The natural history of L-TGA involves a wide spectrum of cardiac complications that manifest during early adulthood. The atypical anatomy and pathophysiologic circulation with the systemic right ventricle (sRV) in L-TGA predisposes patients to progressive sRV dysfunction, systemic tricuspid valve (sTV) regurgitation, and conduction defects including heart block[8]. Patients commonly present with clinical manifestations of heart failure as the lifetime prevalence is 34% in L-TGA as opposed to 1%-2% across the general population [9,10].

A large multicenter study found that by the age of 45, heart failure develops in 67% of patients with L-TGA and associated cardiac lesions whereas it develops in 25% of patients with L-TGA and no associated cardiac lesions[9]. Anatomical surgical repair, which aims to correct the double discordance by making the morphologic left ventricle the systemic ventricle and the morphologic right ventricle the pulmonary ventricle, is associated with higher survival rates and lower morbidity[11-13]. Physiologic surgical repair, which targets associated cardiac lesions without correcting the double discordance, is associated with higher rates of sRV dysfunction and mortality in adulthood[14].

We report a case of sRV thrombus in a patient with L-TGA who presented with acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF) and discuss the state of current literature regarding anticoagulation management.

#### CASE PRESENTATION

#### Chief complaints

A 40-year-old male with L-TGA presented to the hospital with ADHF. Upon review of systems, he had no chest pain, palpitations, lightheadedness, or syncope; he also denied cough, sputum production, or fever. He was not recently ill and had no sick contacts.

#### History of present illness

Symptoms started three-weeks prior to presentation with progressive shortness of breath on exertion, orthopnea, paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnea, and bilateral lower limb swelling. His symptoms were severe enough to make conversation difficult and limited his activities of daily living.





25 mm/s 10 mm/mV 40 Hz 909 1251 243 CID: 3

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Electrocardiogram showing an atrial-sensed ventricularly-paced rhythm without acute abnormalities.

#### History of past illness

His medical history was remarkable for L-TGA with an associated ventricular septal defect, he underwent physiologic surgical closure of the septal defect at three years of age. He was monitored by a pediatric cardiologist in childhood and early adulthood during; he remained free of cardiac symptoms during this time and was eventually lost to follow-up. At the age of thirty-five, he was hospitalized for ADHF and was found to have sRV dysfunction with severely reduced global systolic function and severe sTV regurgitation. He was also noted to have a progressive conduction disease as his previously known first degree atrioventricular block was replaced by a newly identified left-bundle branch block. He was medically managed for heart failure and underwent cardiac resynchronization therapy with biventricular pacemaker implantation. He followed with the advanced heart failure and transplant service but was then lost to follow-up for several years until this latest presentation to the hospital.

#### Personal and family history

The patient did not have a family history of congenital heart disease, heart failure, or respiratory illness.

#### Physical examination

During this presentation, the patient was tachycardic (108 beats per minute) and tachypneic (25-40 breaths per minute); blood pressure was 104/68 mmHg and he was not hypoxic on room air. Height was 168 cm and weight was 92 kg. Physical exam was positive for decreased bilateral breath sounds with mild crepitation. Jugular venous distension was present and pitting edema was noted in the bilateral lower limbs.

#### Laboratory examinations

Laboratory tests were notable for a brain natriuretic peptide of 472 pg/mL, high-sensitivity troponin of 16 ng/L, venous lactate of 1.2 mmol/L, and creatinine of 0.80 mg/dL (Table 1). Electrocardiogram showed an atrial-sensed ventricularlypaced rhythm without acute abnormalities (Figure 1).

#### Imaging examinations

Chest X-ray was remarkable for cardiomegaly with small bilateral pleural effusions (Figure 2). Chest pulmonary angiography was negative for pulmonary embolism, pericardial effusion, or pneumothorax (Figure 3). His cardiac anatomy of L-TGA is visualized on chest computed tomography (Figure 4).

#### FURTHER DIAGNOSTIC WORK-UP

Our patient was managed for ADHF with guideline-directed medical therapy including diuresis with intravenous





DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Chest X-ray showing cardiomegaly with small bilateral pleural effusions with unremarkable pulmonary vasculature. Biventricular pacemaker is present at the right chest.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Chest pulmonary angiography demonstrating a levo-transposition of the great arteries cardiac anatomy. Examination was negative for pulmonary embolism, pericardial effusion, or pneumothorax.

furosemide 40 mg once daily, oral metoprolol succinate 50 mg once daily, oral losartan 50 mg once daily, and oral dapagliflozin 10 mg daily. He had rapid clinical improvement with resolution of his symptoms and was transitioned to oral diuretic as needed.

Transthoracic echocardiogram obtained prior to discharge showed a mildly reduced global sRV ejection fraction of 40%, severe sAV regurgitation, and a newly identified apical thrombus in the sRV (Figures 5-8). Transesophageal echocardiogram confirmed this finding with visualization of a 2.07 cm by 1.43 cm well-circumscribed mass.

#### **FINAL DIAGNOSIS**

The final diagnosis was ADHF complicated by a systemic right ventricular thrombus in the setting of L-TGA.

#### TREATMENT

The presence of a sRV thrombus posed a dilemma given the limited literature on this topic. Our patient was anticoagulated with a vitamin K antagonist (VKA) and later referred for evaluation by advanced heart failure and heart transplant services.

Zaishidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Computed tomography of the chest detailing the patient's cardiac anatomy of levo-transposition of the great arteries. Venous circulation consists of the right atrium, left ventricle, and pulmonary artery. Systemic circulation consists of the pulmonary vein, left atrium, right ventricle, and aorta. Patient has a left-sided aortic arch with typical configuration.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 5 Transthoracic echocardiography demonstrating the patient's classic levo-transposition of the great arteries anatomy. A: Right atrium; B: Venous left ventricle; C: Left atrium; D: Systemic right ventricle. Visualized is an apically displaced systemic tricuspid valve opening into systemic right ventricle.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

On subsequent follow-up visits, our patient's symptoms of heart failure continued to improve with medical optimization and cardiac rehabilitation. Transthoracic echocardiogram was performed 5 mo after the index echocardiogram that identified the sRV thrombus; it demonstrated interim resolution of the sRV thrombus with improvement in sAV regurgitation and estimated pulmonary artery systolic pressure (Table 2). Cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPX) provides objective measures of cardiovascular fitness and allows them to be tracked over time; our patient's peak oxygen uptake (peak VO<sub>2</sub>), a strong prognostic indicator in heart failure, showed improvement (Table 3). Tables 2 and 3 allow readers to understand the natural history and progression of L-TGA in adults by demonstrating findings from CPX and echocardiography from the patient's initial visit in 2016 to the last known follow-up in 2022.

#### DISCUSSION

Intracardiac thrombus (ICT) involves the formation of a blood clot within the heart chambers. It typically occurs in the setting of acute myocardial infarction, left ventricular aneurysm, and cardiomyopathy with dilated chambers[15]. Pathophysiology of thrombus formation involves an interplay of prothrombotic state, tissue endothelial injury, and blood



Raishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Pertinent laboratory investigations								
Investigation	Patient result	Reference range						
Sodium (mmol/L)	138	135-145						
Potassium (mmol/L)	4.1	3.5-5.0						
Chloride (mmol/L)	104	98-111						
Carbon dioxide (mmol/L)	22	21-35						
Blood urea nitrogen (mg/dL)	19	10-25						
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.80	< 1.28						
Venous lactate (mmol/L)	1.2	< 2.1						
High-sensitivity troponin (ng/L)	16	< 18						
Brain natriuretic peptide (pg/mL)	472	< 50						

#### Table 2 Cardiopulmonary exercise testing trend over time

Date of CPX	Peak HR (bpm)	Duration (min)	Peak VO₂ (ml/kig/min)	VO <sub>2</sub> at anerobic threshold (ml/kig/min)	Peak VO <sub>2</sub> (% of age predicted)	Peak RER	Actual METS achieved	VE- VO <sub>2</sub> slope	Peak double product	O <sub>2</sub> pulse rest	O₂ pulse peak
June 16, 2016	85 (46% predicted max)	12.0	18.2	13.5	47	1.28	5.2	28.0	11900	4	16
February 16, 2017	145 (78% predicted max)	13.5	22.4	16.4	59	1.23	6.4	25.6	22040	4	12
September 6, 2018	173 (94% predicted max)	10.5	20.1	-	58	1.20	5.7	28.8	25258	3	11
June 13, 2022	173 (96% predicted max)	9.5	19.5	-	56	1.17	5.6	22.8	21106	3	11

CPX: Cardiopulmonary exercise testing; HR: Heart rate; METS: Metabolic equivalent of task; RER: Respiratory exchange ratio; VE: Ventilatory efficiency.

stasis as described by Virchow's triad[16-18]. Systemic embolization of left-sided ICT results in clinical manifestations of stroke and transient ischemic attack, mesenteric ischemia and infarction, renal infarction, and acute limb ischemia. Pulmonary embolization of right-sided ICT results in pulmonary embolism. Diagnostic gold standard is identification of a thrombus on cardiac magnetic resonance imaging, although echocardiography with the use of echocardiographic contrast agents is a widely used initial modality[19].

ICT of the sRV is sparsely covered in the literature with limited data and guidelines available regarding the approach to management. Clinicians resort to extrapolating from practice standards for systemic left ventricular (sLV) thrombus. A review of literature identified no published case reports of sRV thrombus.

Current American and European guidelines for ICT in patients with structurally typical hearts are covered by class IIa, LOE C recommendations. Standard of care consists of anticoagulation with a VKA for 3-6 mo with an international normalized ratio (INR) target range of 2.0-3.0 followed by repeat imaging to assess for thrombus resolution[20,21]. Anticoagulation in this population has been shown to decrease major cardiovascular events including cerebral and systemic sequala of thrombus embolization<sup>[22]</sup>. Patients who have interval resolution of ICT on repeat imaging typically have anticoagulation discontinued, although some experts continue anticoagulation as a preventative measure in select patients with persistent and significant sLV wall hypokinesis due to the higher risk of recurrence[23]. In the absence of data on this population, patients with sRV dysfunction who develop right ventricular thrombus, such as our patient, can be similarly managed with anticoagulation using a VKA followed by repeat imaging.

Oral anticoagulant (OAC) agent of choice for the treatment of ICT has classically been a VKA as opposed to a direct OAC (DOAC), as early available literature demonstrated clinically significant difference in outcomes between the two agents. The largest study to date, a multicenter cohort study compared 514 patients with sLV thrombus and demonstrated a higher risk for stroke and systemic embolism with DOAC therapy compared to VKA which suggests against efficacy equivalence<sup>[24]</sup>. However, more recent data derived from small-scale randomized controlled trials, cohort studies, and case series report similar outcomes and support the use of DOAC for sLV thrombus which has led experts to adopt it as an off-label alternative [23,25-31]. A recent scientific statement by the American Heart Association carried out a comprehensive meta-analysis of all published studies that compared VKA and DOAC use in sLV thrombus, it

WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Table 3 Echocardiography trend over time

Date of study	Type of study	sRV parameters	sAV valve parameters	vLV parameters	vAV valve parameters	LA parameters	RA parameters	PA pressure (mmHg)	Other details
April 13, 2016	Transthoracic	Severely reduced global RV SF. Moderately enlarged RV	Severe Reg (sAV Reg Vmax 4.17 m/s)	Mildly reduced LV SF (41%). Restrictive pattern of diastolic filling (G3)	Moderate-Severe Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 346.72 cm/s)	Mildly dilated	Normal	51	Side by side great arteries, anterior aorta consistent with L Trasnpostion of the Great Arteries (congenitally corrected). S/P VSD repair with intact patch in basal septum
November 10, 2016	Transthoracic	Normal size and global systolic function (RV % FAC, A4C: 54.5%)	Moderate-Severe Reg (sAV Reg Vmax 5.28 m/s)	Mildly reduced LV SF (41%). Moderate hypokinesis of entire septal wall. Normal pattern of LV diastolic filling	Moderate Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 246.26 cm/s). Mildly thickened	Mildly dilated	Dilated	N/A	S/P BiV PPM
February 16, 2017	Transthoracic	Mildly reduced global RV SF (RV % FAC, A4C: 44.7%). RV wall thickness is moderately increased	Severe Reg (sAV Reg Vmax 5.00 m/s)	Mildly reduced LV SF (48%). Normal size	Mild-moderate Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 332.84 cm/s)	Moderately dilated	Normal	52	Interim mild improvement in systemic RV function but persistent systemic AV valve severe regurgitation with moderate pulmonary hypertension
February 27, 2017	Transthoracic	EF 54% (biplane)		EF 51% (A4C)					Limited study to quantify ventricular function
September 25, 2018	Transthoracic	Mild dysfunction. RV wall thickness is moderately increased	Moderate-Severe Reg (sAV Reg Vmax 4.74 m/s)	Mildly reduced LV SF (47%). Normal size	Mild Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 243.67 cm/s)	Mildly dilated	Normal	32	Overall no major changes noted compared to prior studies eccept for mild fluctuations in systemic RV function.
May 1, 2022	Transthoracic	Mildly reduced global RV SF (40%)	Moderate-Severe Reg (sAV Reg Vmax 4.71 m/s)	EF 45%	Moderate Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 328.85 cm/s)	Moderately dilated	Normal	46	There is a 1.3 cm × 1.3 cm, well circum- scribed mass with echolucent center, seen apically, and likely represents a thrombus. Saline contrast bubble study -ve
May 4, 2022	Transesophageal	N/A	Moderate-Severe Reg (sAV Reg Vmax 2.46 m/s)	Moderately reduced LV SF (35%). Normal thickness	Moderate-Severe Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 383.31 cm/s)	N/A	N/A	N/A	Well-circumscribed mass measuring 2.07 cm × 1.43 cm in the morphologic RV/Systemic ventricle with central echolucency. Saline contrast bubble study was negative
September 30, 2022	Transthoracic	Mildly reduced global RV SF (40-45%). Mildly enlarged sRV	Mild-Mod Reg	Low-normal LV SF function	Moderate-Severe Reg (vAV Reg Vmax 228.43 cm/s)	Upper normal	Normal	24	Interim resolution of small systemic RV apical thrombus. Extensive trabeculation related to systemic RV hypertrophy noted

A4C: Apical 4 chamber; EF: Ejection fraction; FAC: Fractional area change; LA: Left atrium; LV: Left ventricle; PA: Pulmonary artery; PPM: Permanent pacemaker; RA: Right atrium; RV: Right ventricle; SAV: Systemic atrioventricular valve; SF: Systolic function; S/P: Status post; SRV: Systemic right ventricle; vAV: Venous atrioventricular valve; vLV: Venous left ventricle; VSD: Ventricular septal defect; N/A: Not applicable.

demonstrated no differences in therapeutic efficacy and safety; the statement concluded that the use of DOAC for sLV thrombus is a reasonable alternative to VKA[32]. This practice-changing statement is a yet to be reflected in society guidelines and adopted by other organizations.



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.



Figure 6 Transthoracic echocardiography in apical four chamber view showing an systemic right ventricle apical thrombus. This view highlights the importance of visualizing the true apex of the systemic right ventricle as the thrombus is not seen in Figure 5 where the apex is foreshortened.

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 7 Transthoracic echocardiography highlighting the systemic right ventricle apical thrombus. A 1.3 cm × 1.3 cm well circumscribed mass with an echolucent center.

Clinical consensus for the management of sRV thrombus in patients with congenital heart disease has been derived from the management principles of sLV thrombus in patients without congenital heart disease; it consists of OAC, interval repeat imaging, and case-by-case evaluation of anticoagulation duration. The advent of DOAC therapy has seen it become the OAC agent of choice for most anticoagulation indications which has raised questions regarding its applicability in the treatment of sRV thrombus in the setting of the limited data. The international NOTE registry evaluated 530 adults with congenital heart disease treated with OAC for various indications and concluded non-inferior efficacy and safety of DOAC use compared to VKA; subgroup analysis of 76 patients with sRV found high efficacy and safety rates[33, 34]. Another similar study of 215 patients with different congenital heart diseases quoted high efficacy rates but non-negligible bleeding risks[35]. However, a retrospective cohort review of a German nationwide registry of 6504 adults with congenital heart disease on OAC determined that DOAC use was associated with higher rates of thromboembolism, bleeding, major adverse cardiac events, and all-cause mortality compared to VKA[36]. The discrepancy of results between the former and latter studies raises concerns can be explained by the significant heterogeneity including differences in age and complexity of lesions in the latter's study population. In the absence of conclusive data supporting DOAC use in sRV thrombus in patients with congenital heart disease, VKA remains the OAC of choice.

Patients with sRV thrombus are typically younger than those with sLV thrombus given the earlier development of heart failure in the setting of congenital heart disease. The structural cardiac anomalies and abnormal hemodynamics are likely contributors to abnormal flow and blood stasis, this predisposes patients to thrombus formation. Younger patients are more likely to have educational and workplace commitments that cause time constraints. VKA therapy is particularly challenging in this population as dietary restrictions and frequent laboratory testing results in difficulty achieving and

Raishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Almajed MR et al. Intracardiac thrombus of the systemic right ventricle



DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i10.542 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 8 Transthoracic echocardiography with intravenous contrast demarcating the apical thrombus in the systemic right ventricle.

maintaining therapeutic INR levels; lower time in therapeutic range is associated with higher risk of stroke in patients with sLV[37]. Further studies evaluating the safety and efficacy of DOAC agents in sRV thrombus are necessary.

#### CONCLUSION

Systemic right ventricular thrombus is a rare complication of congenital heart disease. We describe the first reported case of sRV thrombus in a patient with L-TGA who presented with ADHF. Management of this condition is driven by expert opinion and extrapolation of treatment principles from ICT in patients with structurally normal hearts.

In the absence of conclusive data supporting DOAC use in sRV thrombus in patients with congenital heart disease, VKA bridged with intravenous heparin or subcutaneous low-molecular weight heparin and remains the time-honored approach particularly in patients with recent large thrombi and in the setting of dysfunctional ventricles or slow flow states. Transitioning to a DOAC in these cases should be individualized to a patient characteristics and imaging features; it should involve shared decision making regarding limited and conflicting literature. This case illustrates the natural history of L-TGA and highlights the importance of surveillance and monitoring in this patient population to prevent and treat complications.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Almajed MR, Almajed A, Khan N, Obri M, Ananthasubramaniam K contributed equally to this work; All authors evaluated the case, reviewed the literature, and wrote the manuscript; All authors have read and approve of the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Dr. Ananthasubramaniam has nothing to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Mohamed Ramzi Almajed 0000-0001-6161-8494; Karthikeyan Ananthasubramaniam 0000-0001-5837-496X.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Samánek M, Vorísková M. Congenital heart disease among 815,569 children born between 1980 and 1990 and their 15-year survival: a prospective Bohemia survival study. Pediatr Cardiol 1999; 20: 411-417 [PMID: 10556387 DOI: 10.1007/s002469900502]
- 2 Baumgartner H, Bonhoeffer P, De Groot NM, de Haan F, Deanfield JE, Galie N, Gatzoulis MA, Gohlke-Baerwolf C, Kaemmerer H, Kilner P, Meijboom F, Mulder BJ, Oechslin E, Oliver JM, Serraf A, Szatmari A, Thaulow E, Vouhe PR, Walma E; Task Force on the Management of Grown-up Congenital Heart Disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC); Association for European Paediatric Cardiology (AEPC); ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG). ESC Guidelines for the management of grown-up congenital heart disease (new version 2010). Eur Heart J 2010; 31: 2915-2957 [PMID: 20801927 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq249]
- Wallis GA, Debich-Spicer D, Anderson RH. Congenitally corrected transposition. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2011; 6: 22 [PMID: 21569592 DOI: 3 10.1186/1750-1172-6-22]
- 4 Komarlu R, Morell VO, Munoz RA, Tsifansky MD. Congenitally Corrected Transposition of the Great Arteries (ccTGA) or Levo-Transposition of the Great Arteries (I-TGA). In: Munoz R, Morell V, da Cruz E, Vetterly C, da Silva J, editor. Critical Care of Children with Heart Disease. Cham: Springer 2020: 369-77 [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-21870-6\_33]
- Ikeda U, Furuse M, Suzuki O, Kimura K, Sekiguchi H, Shimada K. Long-term survival in aged patients with corrected transposition of the 5 great arteries. Chest 1992; 101: 1382-1385 [PMID: 1582301 DOI: 10.1378/chest.101.5.1382]
- Hraska V, Duncan BW, Mayer JE Jr, Freed M, del Nido PJ, Jonas RA. Long-term outcome of surgically treated patients with corrected 6 transposition of the great arteries. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005; 129: 182-191 [PMID: 15632841 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2004.02.046]
- 7 van Son JA, Danielson GK, Huhta JC, Warnes CA, Edwards WD, Schaff HV, Puga FJ, Ilstrup DM. Late results of systemic atrioventricular valve replacement in corrected transposition. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1995; 109: 642-52; discussion 652 [PMID: 7715211 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-5223(95)70345-4
- Filippov AA, Del Nido PJ, Vasilyev NV. Management of Systemic Right Ventricular Failure in Patients With Congenitally Corrected Transposition of the Great Arteries. Circulation 2016; 134: 1293-1302 [PMID: 27777298 DOI: 10.1161/circulationaha.116.022106]
- Graham TP Jr, Bernard YD, Mellen BG, Celermajer D, Baumgartner H, Cetta F, Connolly HM, Davidson WR, Dellborg M, Foster E, 9 Gersony WM, Gessner IH, Hurwitz RA, Kaemmerer H, Kugler JD, Murphy DJ, Noonan JA, Morris C, Perloff JK, Sanders SP, Sutherland JL. Long-term outcome in congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries: a multi-institutional study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 36: 255-261 [PMID: 10898443 DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(00)00682-3]
- 10 Groenewegen A, Rutten FH, Mosterd A, Hoes AW. Epidemiology of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2020; 22: 1342-1356 [PMID: 32483830 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.1858]
- Spigel Z, Binsalamah ZM, Caldarone C. Congenitally Corrected Transposition of the Great Arteries: Anatomic, Physiologic Repair, and 11 Palliation. Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Pediatr Card Surg Annu 2019; 22: 32-42 [PMID: 31027562 DOI: 10.1053/j.pcsu.2019.02.008]
- Bautista-Hernandez V, Marx GR, Gauvreau K, Mayer JE Jr, Cecchin F, del Nido PJ. Determinants of left ventricular dysfunction after 12 anatomic repair of congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries. Ann Thorac Surg 2006; 82: 2059-65; discussion 2065 [PMID: 17126110 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.06.045]
- Hiramatsu T, Matsumura G, Konuma T, Yamazaki K, Kurosawa H, Imai Y. Long-term prognosis of double-switch operation for congenitally 13 corrected transposition of the great arteries. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2012; 42: 1004-1008 [PMID: 22551964 DOI: 10.1093/ejcts/ezs118]
- Mongeon FP, Connolly HM, Dearani JA, Li Z, Warnes CA. Congenitally corrected transposition of the great arteries ventricular function at 14 the time of systemic atrioventricular valve replacement predicts long-term ventricular function. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 57: 2008-2017 [PMID: 21565637 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.11.021]
- Meltzer RS, Visser CA, Fuster V. Intracardiac thrombi and systemic embolization. Ann Intern Med 1986; 104: 689-698 [PMID: 3516044 DOI: 15 10.7326/0003-4819-104-5-689]
- Massussi M, Scotti A, Lip GYH, Proietti R. Left ventricular thrombosis: new perspectives on an old problem. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc 16 Pharmacother 2021; 7: 158-167 [PMID: 32569361 DOI: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvaa066]
- Garg P, van der Geest RJ, Swoboda PP, Crandon S, Fent GJ, Foley JRJ, Dobson LE, Al Musa T, Onciul S, Vijayan S, Chew PG, Brown LAE, 17 Bissell M, Hassell MECJ, Nijveldt R, Elbaz MSM, Westenberg JJM, Dall'Armellina E, Greenwood JP, Plein S. Left ventricular thrombus formation in myocardial infarction is associated with altered left ventricular blood flow energetics. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2019; 20: 108-117 [PMID: 30137274 DOI: 10.1093/ehjci/jey121]
- Yokota Y, Kawanishi H, Hayakawa M, Kumaki T, Takarada A, Nakanishi O, Fukuzaki H. Cardiac thrombus in dilated cardiomyopathy. 18 Relationship between left ventricular pathophysiology and left ventricular thrombus. Jpn Heart J 1989; 30: 1-11 [PMID: 2724526 DOI: 10.1536/ihi.30.11
- McCarthy CP, Vaduganathan M, McCarthy KJ, Januzzi JL Jr, Bhatt DL, McEvoy JW. Left Ventricular Thrombus After Acute Myocardial 19 Infarction: Screening, Prevention, and Treatment. JAMA Cardiol 2018; 3: 642-649 [PMID: 29800958 DOI: 10.1001/jamacardio.2018.1086]
- O'Gara PT, Kushner FG, Ascheim DD, Casey DE Jr, Chung MK, de Lemos JA, Ettinger SM, Fang JC, Fesmire FM, Franklin BA, Granger 20 CB, Krumholz HM, Linderbaum JA, Morrow DA, Newby LK, Ornato JP, Ou N, Radford MJ, Tamis-Holland JE, Tommaso CL, Tracy CM, Woo YJ, Zhao DX. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 61: e78-e140 [PMID: 23256914 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.11.019]
- Ibánez B, James S, Agewall S, Antunes MJ, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Bueno H, Caforio ALP, Crea F, Goudevenos JA, Halvorsen S, Hindricks G, 21 Kastrati A, Lenzen MJ, Prescott E, Roffi M, Valgimigli M, Varenhorst C, Vranckx P, Widimský P. 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2017; 70: 1082 [PMID: 29198432 DOI: 10.1016/j.rec.2017.11.010]
- Lattuca B, Bouziri N, Kerneis M, Portal JJ, Zhou J, Hauguel-Moreau M, Mameri A, Zeitouni M, Guedeney P, Hammoudi N, Isnard R, Pousset 22 F, Collet JP, Vicaut E, Montalescot G, Silvain J; ACTION Study Group. Antithrombotic Therapy for Patients With Left Ventricular Mural Thrombus. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 75: 1676-1685 [PMID: 32273033 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2020.01.057]
- 23 Cruz Rodriguez JB, Okajima K, Greenberg BH. Management of left ventricular thrombus: a narrative review. Ann Transl Med 2021; 9: 520 [PMID: 33850917 DOI: 10.21037/atm-20-7839]
- 24 Robinson AA, Trankle CR, Eubanks G, Schumann C, Thompson P, Wallace RL, Gottiparthi S, Ruth B, Kramer CM, Salerno M, Bilchick KC, Deen C, Kontos MC, Dent J. Off-label Use of Direct Oral Anticoagulants Compared With Warfarin for Left Ventricular Thrombi. JAMA Cardiol 2020; 5: 685-692 [PMID: 32320043 DOI: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.0652]



- Robinson AA, Ruth B, Dent J. Direct oral anticoagulants compared to warfarin for left ventricular thrombi: a single center experience. J Am 25 Coll Cardiol 2018; 71: A981 [DOI: 10.1016/s0735-1097(18)31522-5]
- Daher J, Da Costa A, Hilaire C, Ferreira T, Pierrard R, Guichard JB, Romeyer C, Isaaz K. Management of Left Ventricular Thrombi with 26 Direct Oral Anticoagulants: Retrospective Comparative Study with Vitamin K Antagonists. Clin Drug Investig 2020; 40: 343-353 [PMID: 32144651 DOI: 10.1007/s40261-020-00898-3]
- Fleddermann AM, Hayes CH, Magalski A, Main ML. Efficacy of Direct Acting Oral Anticoagulants in Treatment of Left Ventricular 27 Thrombus. Am J Cardiol 2019; 124: 367-372 [PMID: 31126539 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2019.05.009]
- Cochran JM, Jia X, Hamzeh I, Birnbaum Y. Direct oral anticoagulant use for left ventricular thrombus: a single center experience. Circulation 28 2018; 138: A16411 [DOI: 10.1161/circ.144.suppl\_1.11808]
- 29 Isa WY, Hwong N, Yusof AK, Yusof Z, Loong N, Wan-Arfah N, Naing N. Apixaban vs warfarin in patients with left ventricular thrombus: A pilot prospective randomized outcome blinded study investigating size reduction or resolution of left ventricular thrombus. Journal of Clinical and Preventive Cardiology 2020; 9: 150-154 [DOI: 10.4103/jcpc.jcpc\_41\_20]
- 30 Abdelnabi M, Saleh Y, Fareed A, Nossikof A, Wang L, Morsi M, Eshak N, Abdelkarim O, Badran H, Almaghraby A. Comparative Study of Oral Anticoagulation in Left Ventricular Thrombi (No-LVT Trial). J Am Coll Cardiol 2021; 77: 1590-1592 [PMID: 33766266 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.01.049]
- 31 Alcalai R, Butnaru A, Moravsky G, Yagel O, Rashad R, Ibrahimli M, Planer D, Amir O, Elbaz-Greener G, Leibowitz D. Apixaban vs. warfarin in patients with left ventricular thrombus: a prospective multicentre randomized clinical trial<sup>‡</sup>. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother 2022; 8: 660-667 [PMID: 34279598 DOI: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvab057]
- Levine GN, McEvoy JW, Fang JC, Ibeh C, McCarthy CP, Misra A, Shah ZI, Shenoy C, Spinler SA, Vallurupalli S, Lip GYH; American Heart 32 Association Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; and Stroke Council. Management of Patients at Risk for and With Left Ventricular Thrombus: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2022; 146: e205-e223 [PMID: 36106537 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000001092]
- Yang H, Bouma BJ, Dimopoulos K, Khairy P, Ladouceur M, Niwa K, Greutmann M, Schwerzmann M, Egbe A, Scognamiglio G, Budts W, 33 Veldtman G, Opotowsky AR, Broberg CS, Gumbiene L, Meijboom FJ, Rutz T, Post MC, Moe T, Lipczyńska M, Tsai SF, Chakrabarti S, Tobler D, Davidson W, Morissens M, van Dijk A, Buber J, Bouchardy J, Skoglund K, Christersson C, Kronvall T, Konings TC, Alonso-Gonzalez R, Mizuno A, Webb G, Laukyte M, Sieswerda GTJ, Shafer K, Aboulhosn J, Mulder BJM. Non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants (NOACs) for thromboembolic prevention, are they safe in congenital heart disease? Results of a worldwide study. Int J Cardiol 2020; 299: 123-130 [PMID: 31307847 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.06.014]
- Scognamiglio G, Fusco F, Hankel TC, Bouma BJ, Greutmann M, Khairy P, Ladouceur M, Dimopoulos K, Niwa K, Broberg CS, Miranda B, 34 Budts W, Bouchardy J, Schwerzmann M, Lipczyńska M, Tobler D, Tsai SF, Egbe AC, Aboulhosn J, Fernandes SM, Garr B, Rutz T, Mizuno A, Proietti A, Alonso-Gonzalez R, Mulder BJM, Sarubbi B; non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants for thromboembolic prevention in adult congenital heart disease (NOTE) registry Investigators. Safety and efficacy of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants for prevention of thromboembolism in adults with systemic right ventricle: Results from the NOTE international registry. Int J Cardiol 2021; 322: 129-134 [PMID: 32805330 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2020.08.034]
- Pujol C, Müssigmann M, Schiele S, Nagdyman N, Niesert AC, Kaemmerer H, Ewert P, Tutarel O. Direct oral anticoagulants in adults with 35 congenital heart disease - a single centre study. Int J Cardiol 2020; 300: 127-131 [PMID: 31668654 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.09.077]
- Freisinger E, Gerß J, Makowski L, Marschall U, Reinecke H, Baumgartner H, Koeppe J, Diller GP. Current use and safety of novel oral 36 anticoagulants in adults with congenital heart disease: results of a nationwide analysis including more than 44 000 patients. Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 4168-4177 [PMID: 33184662 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa844]
- Camaj A, Fuster V, Giustino G, Bienstock SW, Sternheim D, Mehran R, Dangas GD, Kini A, Sharma SK, Halperin J, Dweck MR, Goldman 37 ME. Left Ventricular Thrombus Following Acute Myocardial Infarction: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022; 79: 1010-1022 [PMID: 35272796 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2022.01.011]



WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



### Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

